# Intelligence Center and Web Reports Guide

Axiom Version 2023.1



Microsoft, Excel, Windows, SQL Server, Azure, and Power BI are trademarks or registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries.

This document is Syntellis Performance Solutions, LLC Confidential Information. This document may not be distributed, copied, photocopied, reproduced, translated, or reduced to any electronic medium or machine-readable format without the express written consent of Syntellis Performance Solutions, LLC.

Copyright © 2023 Syntellis Performance Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved. Updated: 4/24/2023

Syntellis 10 S. Wacker Dr., Suite 3375 Chicago, Illinois 60606 847.441.0022 www.syntellis.com

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Intelligence Center	2
Intelligence Center overview	6
Managing report files in the Intelligence Center	
Managing folders in the Intelligence Center	
Chapter 3: Web Reports	
Opening web reports	
Viewing and exploring data in web reports	
Chapter 4: Managing Web Reports	27
Creating new web reports	
Creating new web reports from template	
Chapter 5: Using the Report Builder	47
Defining the data context for a web report	
Specifying the row dimension for a web report	
Specifying the fixed row structure for a web report	
Adding data columns and calculated columns to a web report	65
Defining column groups for a web report	73
Defining report titles and other web report properties	
Filtering data in web reports	82
Using report parameters in web reports	
Configuring grid properties in a web report	
Configuring column properties for a web report	
Configuring drilling for web reports	
Displaying date and date-time values in web reports	
Displaying hyperlinks in web reports	
Reporting on process information in web reports	
Using the Filter Wizard in the Report Builder	
Using global filters in the Report Builder	
Chapter 6: Managing Fixed Row Structures	
Using the Row Editor	
Using the Dimension Mapping editor	
Using the Filter Wizard in the Fixed Row Structure editor	

Chapter 7: Web report sharing, export, and distribution	
Exporting a PDF copy of a web report	
Exporting grid data in a web report to Excel	
Exporting grid data in a web report to a delimited file	
Sharing a web report via email	
Production reporting for web reports	
Appendix A: Reference	
Filter criteria syntax	
Index	

# Introduction

The Intelligence Center and web reports provide fully web-enabled reporting functionality for Axiom. This guide discusses how to use the Intelligence Center, and how to create and use web reports.

### Intended audience

This guide is intended for all users of Axiom, from users who only consume existing reports to web report creators.

#### What is covered in this guide?

This guide covers the following:

- Using the Intelligence Center to find, open, and create reports
- Using existing web reports to view and explore data
- Creating new web reports using the Report Builder
- Configuring report components in the Report Builder
- Configuring report drilling in the Report Builder
- Creating fixed row structures for use in web reports

What is not covered in this guide?

The following related topics are not covered in this guide:

• **Table setup and administration.** Creating web reports requires general knowledge of your system's data structures, including the available tables and columns and their relationships. For more information, see the *System Administration Guide*.

All documentation for Axiom can also be accessed using the Axiom Help Files.

# **Intelligence Center**

The Intelligence Center is a centralized hub where you can view any report to which you have access in the Axiom Reports Library, including web reports, Axiom forms, visualization reports, and spreadsheet reports.

Using the Intelligence Center, you can:

- View any report to which you have access, regardless of the report type
- Create new web reports (all clients) and visualization reports (clients with certain product licenses).
- Open reports for editing, in the appropriate editor for the report type.
- Export and share web reports.
- Perform other report management activities, such as creating and deleting folders, copying and deleting reports, and editing report names and descriptions.

AXIOM Intelligence Center					Д	¢ CA	
						☆	(?)
Reports         Row Structures           * # Reports Library         Access all of your reports in one           * torporate         reports in one	Intelligence Center		Search f report by r		Create n reports		te
Analysis Centralized hub Finance				aren reports	~		
ReportBuilder     Archive	Analysis						
🗅 Dashboards	Name	Modified on	т <b>т</b>	Modified by	<b>Т</b> уре	<b>T</b>	
File Processing     Forms	Acct Analysis		2/4/2022 9:16 AM	Clark Adams	Web Report		
<ul> <li>Misc Reports</li> </ul>	Budget Analysis	<ul><li>Info</li></ul>	3/2/2021 12:27 PM	Clark Adams	Axiom Forms		
Monthly Reports     Recovered Files	Budget to Actuals Comparison		7/2/2021 7:36 AM	Clark Adams	Spreadsheet F	eport	
<ul> <li>Supporting Documents</li> </ul>	Corporate Dashboard	< Share <ul> <li>Export</li> </ul>	2/4/2022 9:17 AM	Clark Adams	Web Report		
C Temp     D Test	Quarterly Performance		3/2/2021 12:53 PM	Jane Doe	Web Report		
Co Utilities     Co Web     do My Documents	such as edit, copy, and delete	🏦 Delete		50	✓ items per page 1 -	5 of 5 items	

Example Intelligence Center

#### Accessing the Intelligence Center

All users can access the Intelligence Center in the Web Client browser:

• Click the Syntellis icon 🔛 in the Navigation bar. From the Area menu, select Intelligence Center.

		Ċ	CA	H
PRODUCT AREAS				
Home				
Intelligence Center				
System Administration	ı			

In the Desktop Client, you can open the Intelligence Center from the **Reports** menu. By default, this menu is present on the **Axiom** tab. If your system has installed products, it may be available to you on the **Main** tab.



Intelligence Center on the default Reports menu

#### Opening reports

You can open any report that is displayed in the Intelligence Center. The Intelligence Center is filtered automatically to show only the reports to which you have access.

To open a report from the Intelligence Center:

- 1. In the left-hand panel, select the **Reports** tab if it is not already selected.
- 2. Do one of the following to locate the report that you want to open:

• Use the folder tree in the left-hand panel to navigate to the folder where the report is located.

OR

• Use the Search box to search for the report by name.

For more information on how to search, filter, and sort the Intelligence Center, see Intelligence Center overview.

- 3. After the report is displayed in the Intelligence Center grid, click the report name to open it.
  - Web reports open in the same browser tab.
  - Other web-enabled reports open in a new browser tab. This action applies to Axiom forms, visualization reports, and deprecated web reports.
  - If the report is a spreadsheet report, Axiom attempts to launch the Axiom Desktop Client and open the report as follows:
    - ° The launch routine uses the Axiom Windows Client by default.
    - If an Axiom client is already open, the launch routine is skipped and the report is opened in that client—regardless of whether the open client is the Excel Client or the Windows Client. Therefore, if you want to open reports in the Excel Client, you must launch the Excel Client first using the Quick Launch menu, then you can open spreadsheet reports from the Intelligence Center.

**NOTE:** You must have the appropriate security permissions to use the Axiom Desktop Client in order to open a spreadsheet report. If you do not have either the **Windows Client Access** permission or the **Excel Client Access** permission, then spreadsheet reports are hidden in the Intelligence Center because you cannot launch the client to view them.

If other types of files are present in the Reports Library, such as PDF, Word, or PowerPoint files, you can also open them from the Intelligence Center if you have a program capable of reading the file type. Axiom attempts to open the file using the same routine that opens the Axiom Desktop Client.

#### Creating new reports

Click **Create** at the top right of the Intelligence Center to create new reports and new fixed row structures for use in web reports. This button is context-sensitive, depending on what area you have selected from the left-hand panel.

To create a new report, select the **Reports** area from the left-hand panel, and then click **Create**. Select one of the following:

• Create web report: This option opens the web Report Builder so that you can create a new web report. For more information, see Creating new web reports.

- Create web report from template: This option creates a new web report using a template provided by an installed product. See Creating new web reports from template.
- **Create new visualization**: This option creates a new visualization report. This option is only available in systems where visualization reporting is licensed and enabled.

AXIOM Intelligence Center							Д	¢	CA	H
									☆	(?)
Reports Row Structures										
<ul> <li>Reports Library</li> </ul>	Intelligence Center									
▼ 🗅 !Corporate	Reports Library   !Corporate > Analysis			s	earch reports		Q	+	Create	
Analysis							-		3	
🗅 Finance							Create web report f	from ter	mplate	
IReportBuilder							Create web report			
<ul> <li>Archive</li> </ul>	Analysis						Create new folder			
🗅 Dashboards	Name	T	Modified on	T	Modified by	T	Туре		T	
<ul> <li>File Processing</li> </ul>	Acct Analysis		2/4/2022 9:16 A		Clark Adams		Web Report			
► 🗅 Forms	ACCEANDINGS		2/4/2022 9.10 A	IVI	Clark AdaIIIS		тер кероп		_	

Example Create button to create a new report

To create a new fixed row structure, select the **Row Structures** area from the left-hand panel, and then click **Create**. For more information, see Creating fixed row structures.

#### Other Intelligence Center actions

In the Intelligence Center, you can use the Actions menu to perform other report and folder management activities. To view the available actions, navigate to the item, and then hover your cursor over the ellipsis icon to the right of the **Name** column. Actions are available for report files, report folders, and fixed row structures.

Analysis	
Name	T
Acct Analysis	, Tmj
Budget Analysis	i) Info
Budget to Actuals Comparison	Share
Corporate Dashboard	t Export ►
Quarterly Performance	[Ŋ Copy

Example Actions menu

The following actions are available:

Action	Description	More Information
Info	Opens the Settings panel for the current item and displays the item name and description.	<ul> <li>Changing folder names and descriptions</li> <li>Changing report names and descriptions</li> <li>Changing fixed row structure names and descriptions</li> </ul>
Edit	Opens the current item in the appropriate editor.	<ul><li>Editing reports</li><li>Editing fixed row structures</li></ul>
Share	Shares the current report with other users via email. This feature is only available for web reports.	Sharing a web report via email
Export	Exports the current report as a PDF, Excel, or delimited file. This features is only available for web reports.	<ul> <li>Exporting grid data in a web report to a delimited file</li> <li>Exporting grid data in a web report to Excel</li> <li>Exporting a PDF copy of a web report</li> </ul>
Сору	Generates a copy of the current item. This features is only available for fixed row structures and web reports.	<ul><li>Copying web reports</li><li>Copying fixed row structures</li></ul>
Delete	Deletes the current item.	<ul><li>Deleting reports</li><li>Deleting folders</li><li>Deleting fixed row structures</li></ul>

You can also create new folders by clicking Create > Create new folder while you are in the Reports area.

# Intelligence Center overview

The Intelligence Center is organized into two main areas. To view an area, select the area name from the left-hand panel:

• The **Reports** area contains the **Reports Library** folder tree and your **My Documents** folder (if you have access to it). You can click folders in this section to navigate through the folder tree. After a folder is selected, the contents of that folder are displayed in the report grid. You can click a subfolder name to open that subfolder or click a report name to open that report.

• The **Row Structures** section contains fixed row structures for use in web reports. This section does not have subfolders. You can click the parent **Fixed Row Structures** folder to view the available fixed row structures and click on a name to open that structure.

As you navigate, a breadcrumb is displayed at the top of the report grid. Click a folder name in the breadcrumb to move to that folder location.

Reports Row Structures	<b>XIOM</b> Intelligence Center				
Reports Row Structures     Intelligence Center     Intelligence Center     Intelligence Center     Reports Library     Intelligence Center     Click a column   Intelligence Center   Reports Library     Click a column   Intelligence Center   Reports Library     Click a column   Intelligence Center   Reports Library   Intelligence Center   Reports Library   Intelligence Center			ak a faldar in tha		☆
I ReportBuilder   Archive   Dashboards   Name   Modified on   Modified by   Type   Acct Analysis   2/4/2022 9:16 AM   Clark Adams   Web Report   Budget Analysis   3/2/2021 12:27 PM   Clark Adams   Adams   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Supp   Forwse your available folders in the Reports   Corporate Dashboard   Corporate Dashboard   2/4/2022 9:17 AM   Clark Adams   Web Report		Intelligence Center	adcrumb to return to that folder	report by name	Q + Create
I ReportBuilder   Archive   Deshboards   File Processing   Forms   Acct Analysis   Acct Analysis   2/4/2022 9:16 AM   Clark Adams   Web Report   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 12:27 PM   Clark Adams   Support   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Support   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Support   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Spreadsheet Report   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Web Report   Clark Adams   Web Report   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Web Report   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Web Report   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Web Report   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Web Report   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Web Report   Budget to Actuals Comparison   7/2/2021 7:36 AM   Clark Adams   Web Report	🗅 Finance		Click a column		
Dashboards       Name       Modified on       Modified by       Type       Type         Dashboards       File Processing       Acct Analysis       2/4/2022 9:16 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Misc Reports       Budget Analysis       3/2/2021 12:27 PM       Clark Adams       Axiom Forms         Monthly Reports       Budget to Actuals Comparison       7/2/2021 7:36 AM       Clark Adams       Spreadsheet Report         Supp       Browse your available folders in the Reports       Corporate Dashboard       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Corporate Dashboard       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Corporate Dashboard       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Corporate Dashboard       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Corporate Dashboard       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Corporate Dashboard       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Corporate Dashboard       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Corporate Dashboard       2/4/2021 12:53 PM       Jane Doe       Web Report		Analysis	header to sort by		
Name       Modified on       Modified by       Type         Image: File Processing       Image: Acct Analysis       2/4/2022 9:16 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: File Processing       Image: Acct Analysis       2/4/2022 9:16 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: File Processing       Image: Acct Analysis       3/2/2021 12:27 PM       Clark Adams       Axiom Forms         Image: File Processing       Image: Budget Analysis       3/2/2021 12:27 PM       Clark Adams       Spreadsheet Report         Image: Budget to Actuals Comparison       7/2/2021 7:36 AM       Clark Adams       Spreadsheet Report         Image: Budget to Actuals Comparison       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Budget to Actuals Comparison       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Budget to Actuals Comparison       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Budget to Actuals Comparison       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Budget to Actuals Comparison       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Budget to Actuals Comparison       3/2/2021 12:53 PM       Jane Doe       Web Report         Image: Budget to Actuals Comparison       Image: Budget Comparison			that country		5
Acct Analysis     Acct An		Name	Y Modified on Y	Modified by	<b>т</b> Туре <b>т</b>
<ul> <li>Monthly Reports         <ul> <li>Monthly Reports</li> <li>Recovere</li> <li>Supper Browse your available folders in the Reports</li> <li>Tem Library</li> <li>Test</li> </ul> </li> <li>Quarterly Performance</li> <li>X2/2021 12:53 PM</li> <li>Jane Doe</li> <li>Web Report</li> </ul>	, in the second s	Acct Analysis	2/4/2022 9:16 AM	I Clark Adams	Web Report
Browse your available folders in the Reports       Budget to Actuals Comparison       7/2/2021 7:36 AM       Clark Adams       Spreadsheet Report         Corporate Dashboard       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Corporate Dashboard       2/4/2022 9:17 AM       Clark Adams       Web Report         Image: Corporate Dashboard       3/2/2021 12:53 PM       Jane Doe       Web Report         Image: Corporate Dashboard       3/2/2021 12:53 PM       Jane Doe       Web Report	<ul> <li>Misc Reports</li> </ul>	🖺 Budget Analysis	3/2/2021 12:27 PM	Clark Adams	Axiom Forms
Image: Solution of the soluti		Budget to Actuals Comparison	7/2/2021 7:36 AM	Clark Adams	Spreadsheet Report
Control of the second sec	folders in the Reports	Corporate Dashboard	2/4/2022 9:17 AM	Clark Adams	Web Report
N TO MAR	Library	Quarterly Performance	3/2/2021 12:53 PM	Jane Doe	Web Report
> D Web	Utilities				
An My Documents		1		50 🗸	items per page 1 - 5 of 5 items

Navigating the Intelligence Center

### Searching the Intelligence Center

Use the Search box at the top right of the Intelligence Center to find a report or a fixed row structure. The search matches on name only. The search box is context-sensitive as follows:

- If you select **Reports**, the search finds reports in the Reports Library and your My Documents folder.
- if you select Row Structures, the search finds fixed row structures.

To search for an item by name, type search text into the Search box and click the magnifying glass or press **Enter**. The grid displays a list of all reports or fixed row structures that match your search text. You can open an item or perform other actions using this list. You can also filter and sort this list as described in the following sections.

To clear a search, click X in the Search box. Your search text is cleared, and you are returned to the folder location that you were viewing when you started the search.

### Filtering the grid

When you view a folder or search results in the Intelligence Center, you can filter the contents by any column in the grid. For example, you can filter to show all reports of a certain type or show all reports that were created after a certain date.

To filter the grid based on a column:

- 1. Click the filter icon in the column header to show the filter options.
- 2. Set the applicable filter options. You can set up to two filter options and combine them with either AND or OR.
- 3. Click Filter.

The grid updates to only show items that meet the filter criteria. Additionally, a green dot is displayed by the filter icon in the column header to indicate that the grid is filtered by this column.

Analysis		
Name	7	N
Corporate Dashboard	Contains	~ :0
	dashboard	
	And 🗸	
	Contains	~
	Clear	ilter

Example Intelligence Center column with a defined filter

If multiple columns are filtered, the filters are combined using AND, and the grid only shows items that match all of the filters.

The column filter is retained until you clear it or navigate to a new folder location. If you have filtered the search results, clearing the search results also clears the filter.

To clear a filter:

- 1. Click the filter icon in the column header to show the filter options.
- 2. Click Clear.

The grid is updated to clear the filter.

### Sorting the grid

When you view a folder in the Intelligence Center or view search results, you can sort the list by any column in the grid.

To sort the grid by a column, click the column header. Each click toggles between ascending sort, descending sort, and no sort. If the grid is currently sorted by a column, the sort direction is indicated by an arrow on the column header (up for ascending, down for descending).

The sort is reset when you move to a new folder location. If you have sorted the search results, clearing the search results also clears the sort.

**NOTE:** You can only sort the grid one column at a time. If you sorted by a column, and then you click the column header of a different column, the sort on the original column is cleared and replaced by the new column sort.

# Managing report files in the Intelligence Center

Using the Intelligence Center, you can create, edit, copy, and delete reports in the Reports Library. You can also edit report names and descriptions.

Creating new reports

Click **Create** at the top right of the Intelligence Center to create new reports and new fixed row structures for use in web reports. This button is context-sensitive, depending on what area you have selected from the left-hand panel.

To create a new report, select the **Reports** area from the left-hand panel, and then click **Create**. Select one of the following:

- **Create web report**: This option opens the web Report Builder so that you can create a new web report. For more information, see Creating new web reports.
- Create web report from template: This option creates a new web report using a template provided by an installed product. See Creating new web reports from template.
- **Create new visualization**: This option creates a new visualization report. This option is available only in systems where visualization reporting is licensed and enabled.

AXIOM Intelligence Center							Д	¢	CA	H
									☆	(?)
	Intelligence Center									
<ul> <li>Corporate</li> <li>Analysis</li> <li>Finance</li> </ul>	Reports Library   !Corporate > Analysis			S	earch reports		Q Create web report		Create	
IReportBuilder     Archive	Analysis						Create web report			
Dashboards     Dashboards     Die Processing     Die Forms	Name Acct Analysis	T	Modified on 2/4/2022 9:16 /	<b>▼</b>	Modified by Clark Adams	T	Type Web Report		<b>T</b>	

Example Create button

To create a new fixed row structure, select the **Row Structures** area from the left-hand panel, and then click **Create**. For more information, see Creating fixed row structures.

Different security permissions are required to create new web reports versus visualization reports. These security requirements are noted in the relevant topics.

#### Copying reports

In the Intelligence Center, you can copy existing reports to create new reports. Currently, this functionality is available only for web reports, and only web reports that were created in the Report Builder. Web reports that were created from template cannot be copied.

To copy a web report, you must be an administrator or have the **Create Web Reports** security permission. You must also have read/write access to the current folder because the copy is created in the current folder.

To copy a report from the Intelligence Center:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the web report to copy. You can use folder navigation to find the report or use the Search box at the top of the page.
- 2. After the web report appears in the Intelligence Center grid, hover your cursor over the Name column to make the ellipsis icon visible. Click the icon, and then select **Copy** from the menu.

Name	T
Acct Analysis	
Budget Analysis	<ol> <li>Info</li> <li>Edit</li> </ol>
Budget to Actuals Comparison	Share
Corporate Dashboard	➡ Export ►
Quarterly Performance	Copy

If the Copy action is present but disabled, you cannot copy this report because you do not have the appropriate security permissions.

- 3. In the **Copy Report** dialog, enter a name for the copy. By default, the name is **Copy of** *OriginalReportName*.
- 4. Click OK.
- Editing reports

You can open a report for editing from the Intelligence Center if the report is eligible to be edited and you have read/write permissions to the report.

To edit a report from the Intelligence Center:

1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the report to edit. You can use folder navigation to find the report, or use the Search box at the top of the page.

2. After the report appears in the Intelligence Center grid, hover your cursor over the **Name** column to make the ellipsis icon visible. Click the icon, and then select **Edit** from the menu.



- 3. The report is opened for editing, depending on its file type:
  - Web reports are opened in the Report Builder in the current browser tab.
  - Visualization reports are opened in the Visualization Report Editor in a new browser tab.
  - **Spreadsheet reports** and **Axiom forms** are opened in the Axiom Desktop Client as spreadsheet report files.
    - $^\circ$   $\,$  The launch routine uses the Axiom Windows Client by default.
    - If an Axiom client is already open, the launch routine is skipped and the report is opened in that client—regardless of whether the open client is the Excel Client or the Windows Client. Therefore, if you want to open reports in the Excel Client, you must launch the Excel Client first using the Quick Launch menu, then you can open spreadsheet reports from the Intelligence Center.

**NOTE:** You must have the appropriate security permissions to use the Axiom Desktop Client in order to open a spreadsheet report. If you do not have either the **Windows Client Access** permission or the **Excel Client Access** permission, then spreadsheet reports are hidden in the Intelligence Center because you cannot launch the client to view them.

#### Why is the Edit action missing for some reports?

You can open the following report types *cannot* for editing from the Intelligence Center. The Edit action is not displayed for these files:

• Web reports built from template: If a web report is built from a template, the report is tied to that template and cannot be edited separately. For more information, see Creating new web reports from template.

- **Deprecated web reports**: The prior implementation of web reporting is deprecated. To edit a deprecated web report, click the file name to open the report, and then click the wrench icon in the toolbar to open the legacy web report editor.
- **Other non-report file types**: Use the Reports Library to store other non-report, non-Axiom file types, such as PDF, DOC, PPT, JPG, and others. You cannot edit these file types in Axiom.

Why is the Edit action disabled for some reports?

If the Edit action is present but disabled, you cannot edit this particular report even thoughh the report type is eligible to be edited. One of the following reasons may apply:

- You do not have edit permissions (Read/Write access) to the file.
- The file is product-controlled and therefore cannot be edited.
- The file is configured to prevent editing (applies to certain visualization reports).

Changing report names and descriptions

If you have read/write access to a report, you can rename the report or change its description.

#### NOTES:

- In systems with installed products, you cannot edit the names and descriptions of productcontrolled reports.
- If you have read/write access to a report file, but read-only access to its folder, you cannot edit the report name.

To change a report name and/or description:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the report to edit. You can use folder navigation to find the report or use the Search box at the top of the page.
- 2. After the report is displayed in the Intelligence Center grid, hover your cursor over the Name column to make the ellipsiss icon visible. Click the icon, and then select Info from the menu.

Name	T
Acct Analysis	•••
Budget Analysis	<ol> <li>Info</li> </ol>
Budget to Actuals Comparison	<ul><li>Ædit</li><li>Share</li></ul>
Corporate Dashboard	± Export ►
Quarterly Performance	🛅 Copy

The Settings panel opens along the right-hand side of the page.

3. In the Settings panel, edit the report Name or Description, and then click Save.

The name can be up to 250 characters, and the description can be up to 2000 characters.

AXIOM Intelligence Center									Д	¢	CA	H
											☆	(?)
Reports Row Structures		-										
▼ 🖨 Reports Library	Intelligence Center											
💌 🗅 !Corporate	Reporte Library   IComparata N Analysis		Search ror	oorte		0	+ Create	Namo				
🗅 Analysis	Reports Elonary   :Corporate / Analysis	s Lbrary   Corporate > Analysis S alysis alyziz alysis alyziz alysis alyziz alysis alyziz alysis alyziz alysis alyziz alysis alyziz alysis alyziz alysis alyziz aly	Searchine	50115		ď	+ Ciculo					
C Finance												
IReportBuilder	Analysia											
Archive	Acct Analysis     2/4/2       Budget Analysis     3/2/20       Budget to Actuals Comparison     7/2/2       Corporate Dashboard     2/4/2											
Dashboards	Name <b>T</b>	Modified on	Ŧ	Modified by	T	Туре	T					
File Processing	Acct Analysis	2/4/20	22 9:16 AM	Clark Adams		Web Report	t					
<ul> <li>Forms</li> </ul>												
🗅 jpalmero	Budget Analysis	3/2/202	1 12:27 PM	Clark Adams		Axiom Forn	ns					
<ul> <li>Misc Reports</li> </ul>	Budget to Actuals Comparison	7/2/20	21 7:36 AM	Clark Adams		Spreadshee	et Report					
<ul> <li>Monthly Reports</li> </ul>												
<ul> <li>Parent Folder</li> </ul>	Corporate Dashboard	2/4/20	22 9:17 AM	Clark Adams		Web Report	t					
Recovered Files	<ul> <li>Quarterly Performance</li> </ul>	3/2/202	1 12:53 PM	Jane Doe		Web Report	t					
<ul> <li>E Supporting Documents</li> </ul>												
Temp												
<ul> <li>Test</li> </ul>												
<ul> <li>Utilities</li> </ul>												
Web												
<ul> <li>An My Documents</li> </ul>												
				50 🗸	items pe	r page 1 - 5	5 of 5 items					
										Can	cel	Save

**Example Settings panel** 

If the report name and description cannot be edited, then the **Apply** button is not available. This may occur because you do not have the necessary permissions, or because the report belongs to an installed product.

#### Deleting reports

If a report is no longer needed, you can delete it using the Intelligence Center. In order to delete a report (or any other file that resides in the Reports Library), you must have read-write access to the file and to the folder it resides in.

**NOTE:** In systems with installed products, product-controlled reports cannot be deleted.

To delete a report:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the report that you want to delete. You can use folder navigation to find the report, or use the Search box at the top of the page.
- 2. Hover your cursor over the row with the report, hover your cursor over the **Name** column to make the three-dots icon visible. Click the icon then select **Delete** from the menu.

Name	T
Acct Analysis	
Budget Analysis	<ol> <li>Info</li> <li>Fdit</li> </ol>
Budget to Actuals Comparison	<ul><li>✓ Edit</li><li>&lt; Share</li></ul>
Corporate Dashboard	
Quarterly Performance	Copy

If the report cannot be deleted, the Delete action is disabled. This may occur because you do not have the necessary permissions to delete the report, or because the report belongs to an installed product.

3. When you are prompted to confirm that you want to delete the report, click **OK**.

The report is deleted from the system and no longer displays in the Intelligence Center. If the report was deleted in error, an administrator may be able to restore the report using the **Restore Deleted Files** feature in the Desktop Client.

# Managing folders in the Intelligence Center

Using the Intelligence Center, you can create, rename, and delete folders in the Reports Library.

#### Creating new folders

You can create new folders as needed in the Intelligence Center. To create a folder, you must have readwrite access to the parent folder.

To create a folder:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, navigate to the location where you want to create a new folder.
- 2. Click Create > Create new folder.
- 3. In the Create new folder dialog, enter a name for the new folder, and then click OK.

Changing folder names and descriptions

If you have read/write access to a folder, you can rename the folder or change its description.

**NOTE:** In systems with installed products, you cannot edit the names and descriptions of product-controlled folders.

To change a folder name and/or description:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, navigate to the parent folder of the folder that you want to rename.
- 2. Hover your cursor over the row with the folder, so that the ellipsis icon is visible in the **Name** column. Click the icon, and then select **Info** from the menu.

Name	T
🗅 My Folder	
Acct Analysis	(i) Info
Budget Analysis	💼 Delete

3. In the Settings panel, edit the folder Name or Description as needed, and then click Apply.

The name can be up to 250 characters, and the description can be up to 2000 characters.

If you cannot edit the folder name and description, the **Apply** button is not available. This issue may occur because you do not have the necessary permissions or the folder belongs to an installed product.

#### Deleting folders

If a folder is no longer needed, you can delete it using the Intelligence Center. To delete a folder, the folder must be empty and you must have read-write access to the folder.

**NOTE:** In systems with installed products, you cannot delete product-controlled folders.

To delete a folder:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, navigate to the parent folder of the folder that you want to delete.
- 2. Hover your cursor over the row with the folder, so that the ellipsis icon is visible in the **Name** column. Click the icon, and then select **Delete** from the menu.

Name	T
🗅 My Folder	
Budget Analysis	Delete

If you cannot delete the folder, the Delete action is disabled. This issue may occur because you do not have the necessary permissions to delete the folder or the folder belongs to an installed product.

The folder is deleted from the system and is no longer displayed in the Intelligence Center. There is no confirmation dialog before deleting an empty folder. If the empty folder was deleted in error, you can create a new folder with the same name.

# Web Reports

Axiom web reports provide a fully browser-based reporting option for Axiom data. You can create, edit, and view web reports all within the Axiom Web Client.

Web reports are designed to be intuitive for report designers to build, and easy for report viewers to use. The Intelligence Center provides a centralized hub to create new web reports and view any report to which you have access.

Web reports support two different ways to display reporting data in a grid:

- Dynamic rows: Dynamically display data rows based on a specified dimension or grouping.
- **Fixed rows**: Use predefined fixed row structures to organize data rows into sections with headers, totals, and subtotals.

Web reports can be created from scratch using the Report Builder, or you can create them from templates provided by installed Axiom products.

## Opening web reports

In order to open an existing web report, you must have at least read-only access to the report, as defined in Axiom security. Web reports can be opened from either the Web Client or the Desktop Client.

This topic discusses the default ways to access and view web reports. Your system may be designed so that you can open web reports in other ways, such as:

- Using the Navigation menu in the Web Client
- Using links within your home page or product pages
- Using links within a task pane or ribbon tab in the Desktop Client
- Opening web reports from the Intelligence Center

The Intelligence Center in the Web Client is a hub where you can access all of your available reports, regardless of the report type. The Intelligence Center is automatically filtered to show only the reports that you have access to.

To open a web report from the Intelligence Center:

1. Click the Syntellis icon in the Navigation bar. From the Area menu, select Intelligence Center.

		¢	CA	H
PRODUCT AREAS				
Home				
Intelligence Center				
System Administration	n			

- 2. In the left-hand panel, select the **Reports** tab if it is not already selected.
- 3. Do one of the following to locate the report that you want to open:
  - Use the folder tree in the left-hand panel to navigate to the folder where the report is located.

OR

• Use the Search box to search for the report by name.

For more information on how to search, filter, and sort the Intelligence Center, see Intelligence Center overview.

4. Once the report displays in the Intelligence Center grid, click on the report name to open it.

The report opens in the current browser tab. You can now view and explore the data using various features. For more information, see Viewing and exploring data in web reports.

#### Opening web reports from the Desktop Client

You can open a web report from the Reports Library in the Desktop Client (Excel Client or Windows Client). You can differentiate web reports from other types of Axiom reports using the following icons:

- Web report
- Wisualization report
- Axiom form
- Spreadsheet Axiom file

To open a web report from the Desktop Client:

1. On the Axiom tab, in the Reports group, click Reports to bring up the Reports menu.

**NOTE:** In systems with installed products, this feature may be present on a different ribbon tab, such as the **Main** tab.

**TIP:** You can also open reports from the Explorer task pane or Axiom Explorer.

2. Use the Reports Library folders at the bottom of the menu to navigate to the specific web report that you want to open, and then click on it.

The web report opens in the Web Client using your default browser. You can now view and explore the data using various features. For more information, see Viewing and exploring data in web reports.

## Viewing and exploring data in web reports

Once a web report is opened, you may have access to a variety of features to view and explore the data in the report, including filtering, sorting, and drilling. Additionally, web reports may be configured with report parameters, which can be used to dynamically change the data shown in the report.

**NOTE:** The features described in this topic apply to web reports created in the Report Builder. Web reports created from template may have similar features, but do not work in exactly the same way. For more information on viewing and exploring data in a web report created from template, consult the product documentation for the product that provided the template.

#### Drilling data

If the web report has been configured to enable drilling, you can drill any data row in the report. Total rows, subtotal rows, and section header rows are not drillable.

To drill a data row:

1. Hover your cursor over the far left column in the report so that a magnifying glass icon appears on the row.

The tooltip for the magnifying glass will be either "Drill" (if multiple drill paths are available) or "Drill to <path>" (if a single drill path is available). For example, the tooltip will say "Drill to Acct" if the Acct drill path is the only available drill path.

- 2. Click the icon to drill the row.
  - If multiple drill paths are available, these paths display in a menu when you click the icon. Click the drilling path that you want to view.
  - If a single drill path is available, that path is automatically used when you click the icon to drill.

WorldRegion 1		Q1 2020
wondkegion	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget
Q Asia Jm	\$6,989,316	\$5,416,397
Drill to Country Europe	\$473,158	\$340,531
North America	\$32,766,656	\$35,609,235

Hover and click to drill

The drill results are presented within the current tab, replacing the original report. The current row being drilled and the current drill level display at the top of the drill results.

Intelligence (	Center						
Budget to Actua	<b>ls</b>   Corporat	te					
Drill Dath	rldRegion = Europe Country	Country = UP By Region	<				
Region	٠		Q1			Q2	
Region	Ť	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference
United Kingdom Sales	Region (UK)	\$161,771	\$247,830	-34.73%	\$237,089	\$244,075	-2.86%

Example drill results with drilling path displayed at the top

You can continue drilling the drill results if additional drill paths are available. You can return to a previous path by clicking on that path name in the header. When you are finished viewing the drill results, you can click the X icon in the drill path to clear the drill and return to the original report.

#### Using report parameters

If the web report is configured with report parameters, you can use the **Report Parameters** panel along the left-hand side of the report to dynamically change the data shown in the report.

AXIOM Intelligence Center								Д	¢	CA	H
										☆	?
Report Parameters Grouping for analysis								Edit	Expo	rt s	hare
Vice President    Account category to analyze	Budget to Actuals Through June 2022										
Revenue 🗸	Vice President		Q1 2022			Q2 2022		Edit Export Share			
	vice President	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference				
	Bree Sigman	\$6,015,031	\$6,954,348	-13.51%	\$6,437,818	\$6,848,978	-6.00%				
	Evan Simpson	\$12,810,352	\$13,195,690	-2.92%	\$5,298,342	\$12,995,756	-59.23%				
	Frank Martinez	\$161,693	\$331,567	-51.23%	\$262,089	\$326,543	-19.74%				
	Javier Grant	\$5,018,848	\$4,165,304	20.49%	\$4,119,925	\$4,102,194	0.43%				

Example report with report parameters

The Report Parameters panel contains one or more parameters that you can set as needed. If the report requires you to select a parameter value in order to refresh data in the report, then when you open the report the message "Waiting for input" displays in the report grid. Otherwise, the report opens and refreshes data using default values defined for report parameters as needed.

You can interact with report parameters as follows:

• You can select one or multiple values for each parameter, depending on the parameter type and configuration. If a parameter allows multiple values to be selected, the parameter box shows text such as "3 items selected". You can hover your cursor over this text to view the selected values in a tooltip.



If the parameter allows selection of multiple values, and some values are already selected, then using the drop-down list to select more items will add to the current list of items. If instead you want to clear the list of items and start over, click the X icon in the selection text.

- A parameter may start out blank (unset), or it may start with a default value, depending on the parameter type and configuration.
- Some parameters may be dependent on other parameters. In this case, the dependent parameter will not become available for use until its parent parameter has a selected value.

- Parameters may be required or optional:
  - If a parameter is optional, then you can leave it unset, or you can clear its value using the X icon to the right of it.
  - If a parameter is required, then it cannot be cleared. You can select a different value, but you cannot fully clear the parameter. Exception: If the parameter allows selection of multiple values, then you can click the X icon in the selection text to clear the current selections.

Once you have made selections for the parameters, you can apply and clear them as follows:

- Click **Apply** to refresh the report using your parameter selections. The Apply button is not active until all required parameters have selected values.
- Click **Clear** to clear all optional parameters. You can then click Apply to refresh the report with the optional parameters unset.

#### NOTES:

- When you share or export a report, it does not honor the report parameter selections, with one exception. If the report parameter determines the row dimensions of the report, and the parameter has a default value, the exported report will use that default value.
- The specific parameters available and how they impact the report depends on the report configuration. Contact your system administrator or the report designer if you have any questions about how the parameters affect the report data.

#### Adjusting column width and order

You can make minor adjustments to the column display as follows:

- To change the column width, hover your cursor along the right edge of the column header, then drag to make the column thinner or wider.
- To reorder columns, click on a column header and then drag it to a new location. Note that columns cannot be moved in or out of a column group (meaning a set of columns grouped under header text). If a column belongs to a column group, you can change its order within the group but you cannot drag it out of the group.

#### Sorting data

If the web report uses a data grid with dynamic rows, then you can sort the data by any column in the grid. To sort the grid by a column, click on the column header. Each click toggles between ascending sort, descending sort, and no sort. If the grid is currently sorted by a column, the sort direction is indicated by an arrow on the column header (up for ascending, down for descending).

The web report may only allow sorting by a single column, or it may allow sorting by multiple columns. This is configured by the report designer. If the grid uses single-column sorting, then it is not possible to clear the sort on a column. Instead you must click on a different column to change the sort to use that column.

If the web report uses a fixed row structure, then the row values are fixed in position and cannot be sorted.

### Filtering by column data

If the web report uses a data grid with dynamic rows, you may be able to filter the report by the column data. For example, you might want to filter a column to hide zero-value records, or to show all records above or below a certain value. You might want to filter a dimension column to hide or show certain dimensions (such as departments, accounts, and so on). The report designer determines whether a column is enabled for filtering.

If a column allows filtering, the filter icon displays in the column header when you hover your cursor over the column header.



Filter icon for a column with filtering enabled

To filter the report based on a column:

- 1. Click the filter icon in the column header to show the filter options.
- 2. Set the filter options as desired. The options vary depending on the column type.

Jan	• Feb	
\$5,0!	Is greater than	~
\$43,5	5,000.00	\$
\$103,74	And 🗸	-
\$59,0!	Is equal to	~ ;;
\$136,1 <sup>-</sup>		¢ ,
\$9,749,10	Clear	Filter

Example filtering options

3. Click Filter.

The report updates to only show records that meet the filter. Additionally, the filter icon in the column header remains visible to indicate that the grid is filtered by this column.

The filter is retained until you clear it, or until the report is refreshed with new data.

To clear a filter:

- 1. Click the filter icon in the column header to show the filter options.
- 2. Click Clear.

The grid updates to clear the filter. The filter icon is now only visible when hovering over the column header.

#### Viewing paged data

If the web report uses dynamic rows, the data is paged to show a specified number of records per page. If the data in the grid exceeds the page limit, you can move between pages using the page controls at the bottom left of the grid.

	\$24,470,195.79	\$17,723,313.38	\$24,470,195.79	
<b>∀ ∢ 1 2 3 ► ₩</b>		25	items per page 1 - 2	5 of 51 items

Page controls for data grids

- Click a page number to move directly to that page.
- Click the single arrow buttons to move one page back or forward.

• Click the double arrow buttons to move to the first page or the last page.

By default, the data grid shows 25 records per page. You can use the drop-down list next to the page controls to change this to 50, 100, or 500 as needed.

# Managing Web Reports

Using the Intelligence Center in the Axiom Web Client, you can create, edit, copy, and delete web reports as needed. Web reports are designed to be intuitive for report builders to create, and easy for report viewers to use.

### Creating new web reports

To create a new web report, select the **Reports** area from the left-hand panel of the Intelligence Center, then click **Create**. From the Create menu, select one of the following:

- New web report: This option opens the Report Builder so that you can create a new web report from scratch.
- New web report from template: This option creates a new web report based on a template provided by an installed product.

If you want to create a web report that uses a fixed row structure, the fixed row structure must be defined separately and then assigned to the report. Using the Intelligence Center, you can create, edit, and delete fixed row structures. For more information, see Managing Fixed Row Structures.

In order to create a web report, you must be an administrator or have the **Create Web Reports** security permission. You must also have read/write access to at least one folder in the Reports Library or My Documents.

### Copying web reports

In the Intelligence Center, you can copy existing web reports to create new reports. In order to copy a web report, you must be an administrator or have the **Create Web Reports** security permission. You must also have read/write access to the current folder, because the copy is created in the current folder.

**NOTE:** Only web reports created in the Report Builder can be copied. Web reports created from template cannot be copied.

To copy a web report from the Intelligence Center:

1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the web report that you want to copy. You can use folder navigation to find the report, or use the Search box at the top of the page.

2. Once the web report displays in the Intelligence Center grid, hover your cursor over the **Name** column to make the three-dots icon visible. Click the icon then select **Copy** from the menu.



If the Copy action is present but disabled, then you cannot copy this report because you do not have the appropriate security permissions.

- 3. In the Copy Report dialog, enter a name for the copy. By default, the name is Copy of OriginalReportName.
- 4. Click OK.

The copy is created in the current folder, with the specified name. If you want to save a copy in a different folder, then you can **Edit** the report instead and use **Save As** within the Report Builder.

#### Editing web reports

You can open a web report for editing from the Intelligence Center if the report is eligible to be edited, and you have read/write permission to the report.

**NOTE:** Only web reports created in the Report Builder can be edited. Web reports created from template cannot be edited.

Only one user at a time can open a web report for editing in the Report Builder. However, other users can continue to view the report as normal.

To edit a web report from the Intelligence Center:

1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the web report that you want to edit. You can use folder navigation to find the report, or use the Search box at the top of the page.

2. Once the web report displays in the Intelligence Center grid, hover your cursor over the Name column to make the three dots icon visible. Click the icon then select **Edit** from the menu.

Name	T
Acct Analysis	•••
Budget Analysis	(i) Info
-	Edit Share
Corporate Dashboard	± Export ►
Quarterly Performance	[ြ Copy 한 Delete

If the Edit action is present but disabled, then you cannot edit this report. This may be because the report belongs to an installed product and cannot be edited, or because you do not have read/write access to the report, or because the report was created from template.

The report opens in the Report Builder, in the current browser tab. You can now edit it as needed. For more information, see Using the Report Builder.

Alternatively, when viewing a web report, an **Edit** button is present in the top right-hand corner if the report is eligible to be edited, and you have read/write permission to the report. You can click the Edit button to open the report in the Report Builder, make and save your changes, then click the Back button on your browser to return to the report.

<b>XIOM</b> Intellig	jence Cent	ter					Д ¢ с	
							1	?
					•		Edit Export	Share
Budget to A Through June 202		Corporate						
WorldDogion	÷		Q1 2022			Q2 2022		
WorldRegion	4	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference	

Example Edit button to open the current report in the Report Builder

Changing web report names and descriptions

If you have read/write access to a web report, then you can rename the report or change its description.

#### NOTES:

- In systems with installed products, the names and descriptions of product-controlled reports cannot be edited.
- If you have read/write access to a report file, but read-only access to its folder, then you cannot edit the name or description.

To change a web report name and/or description:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the web report that you want to edit. You can use folder navigation to find the report, or use the Search box at the top of the page.
- 2. Once the web report displays in the Intelligence Center grid, hover your cursor over the Name column to make the three-dots icon visible. Click the icon then select **Info** from the menu.



The Settings panel opens along the right-hand side of the page.

3. In the Settings panel, edit the web report Name or Description as needed, then click Save.

The name can be up to 250 characters, and the description can be up to 2000 characters.

oorts Row Structures											
# Reports Library	Intelligence Center								Settings		
<ul> <li>Corporate</li> </ul>	-										
Analysis	Reports Library   !Corporate > Analysis	Reports Library   !Corporate > Analysis			Search reports Q + Create				Name		
Finance									Acct Analysis		
IReportBuilder									Description		
Archive	Analysis								My Description		
🗅 Dashboards	Name		Modified on	-	Modified by		Туре	T			
File Processing		1				1		,			
🗅 Forms	Acct Analysis		2/4/202	2 9:16 AM	Clark Adams		Web Report				
🗀 jpalmero	Budget Analysis		3/2/2021	12:27 PM	Clark Adams		Axiom Form	s			
🗅 Misc Reports	Budget to Actuals Comparison		7/0/202	021 7:36 AM	Clark Adams	Spreadsheet		Benort			
Monthly Reports	Budget to Actuals Comparison		//2/202	1 7:30 AM	Clark Adams		Spreadsnee	Report			
Parent Folder	Corporate Dashboard		2/4/202	2 9:17 AM	Clark Adams		Web Report				
Recovered Files	Quarterly Performance		9/0/0001	12:53 PM	Jane Doe		Web Report				
Supporting Documents	Quarterly Performance		3/2/2021	12.33 FW	Jane Due		Web Report				
🗅 Temp											
🗅 Test											
🗅 Utilities											
🗅 Web											
My Documents											

Example Settings panel

If the web report name and description cannot be edited, then the **Save** button is not available. This may occur because you do not have the necessary permissions, or because the report belongs to an installed product.

#### Deleting web reports

You can delete a client-created web report if it is no longer needed. You must have read/write access to the report and its folder in order to delete a report. Product-controlled web reports cannot be deleted.

**TIP:** If a report is deleted in error, an administrator may be able to restore the report using the **Restore Deleted Files** feature in the Axiom Desktop Client.

To delete a web report from the Intelligence Center:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the web report that you want to delete. You can use folder navigation to find the report, or use the Search box at the top of the page.
- 2. Once the web report displays in the Intelligence Center grid, hover your cursor over the Name column to make the three-dots icon visible. Click the icon then select **Delete** from the menu.

Name T						
Acct Analysis						
Budget Analysis	<ol> <li>info</li> <li></li></ol>					
Budget to Actuals Comparison	<ul><li>Edit</li><li>Share</li></ul>					
Corporate Dashboard	± Export ►					
Quarterly Performance	Delete					

If the report cannot be deleted, the Delete action is disabled. This may occur because you do not have the necessary permissions to delete the report, or because the report belongs to an installed product.

3. When you are prompted to confirm that you want to delete the report, click **OK**.

The report is deleted from the system and no longer displays in the Intelligence Center.

**TIP:** You can also delete a web report in the Desktop Client, using Axiom Explorer or the Explorer task pane.

# Creating new web reports

Using the Intelligence Center, you can create new web reports from scratch so that you can build the report as needed.

In order to create a web report, you must be an administrator or have the **Create Web Reports** security permission. In order to save the new report you must have read/write access to at least one folder in the Reports Library or access to the My Documents folder. If you do not have permission to create web reports, then the option to create a new web report will not be available from the **Create** button in the Intelligence Center.

To create a new web report:

1. In the Intelligence Center, click Create > Create web report.
| AXIOM Intelligence Center           |  |   |             |                   |               |   |       | Д             | ¢         | CA     | H |
|-------------------------------------|--|---|-------------|-------------------|---------------|---|-------|---------------|-----------|--------|---|
|                                     |  |   |             |                   |               |   |       |               |           | ☆      | ? |
| Reports Row Structures              |  |   |             |                   |               |   |       |               |           |        |   |
| 🔻 🏶 Reports Library                 | Intelligence Center                      |   |             |                   |               |   |       |               |           |        |   |
| ▼ 🗀 !Corporate                      | Reports Library   !Corporate > Analysis  |   |             |                   | Search report |   |       | Q             |           | Create |   |
| 🗅 Analysis                          | Reports Library   Coliporate > Alialysis |   |             |                   | Search report | 5 |       | ų             |           | Create |   |
| 🗀 Finance                           |  |   |             |                   |               |   | Crea  | ate web repor | t from te | mplate |   |
| 🗅 !ReportBuilder                    |  |   |             |                   |               |   | Crea  | ate web repor | t         |        |   |
| <ul> <li>Archive</li> </ul>         | Analysis                                 |   |             |                   |               |   | Crea  | ate new folde | r         |        |   |
| Dashboards                          | Name                                     | T | Modified on | Ŧ                 | Modified by   | Ŧ | Туре  |               |           | T      |   |
| <ul> <li>File Processing</li> </ul> | Acct Analysis                            |   |             | 2/4/2022 9:16 AM  | Clark Adams   |   | Web R | enort         |           |        |   |
| <ul> <li>E Forms</li> </ul>         | Accentions                               |   |             | 2/4/2022 9.10 MW  | Cidik Additis |   | Web R | eport         |           |        |   |
| 🗀 jpalmero                          | Budget Analysis                          |   |             | 3/2/2021 12:27 PM | Clark Adams   |   | Axiom | Forms         |           |        |   |
| <ul> <li>Misc Reports</li> </ul>    |  |   |             |                   |               |   |       |               |           |        |   |

**NOTE:** The **Reports** area must be selected in the left-hand panel of the Intelligence Center in order to create a new web report.

The Report Builder opens in the current browser tab, displaying a new blank report.

2. In the **Select Table** dialog, select a primary table to determine the data context for the report, then click **OK**.

The *data context* determines the overall pool of data that is eligible to be included in the report. The selected primary table determines which other tables are eligible for inclusion in the report, based on lookup relationships and shared dimensions. All table columns and filters used in the report must be compatible in the context of the primary table.

You can select a table from the drop-down list directly, or type into the box to search for a table name. The search uses "contains" matching to return any tables that contain the search text within the table name. Tables that start with the search text are listed first, followed by tables that contain the search text anywhere in the table name. In the following screenshot, the text 2022 has been used to search for tables with the year 2022 in the name.

AXIOM Intelligence Center			Q 4 🙆 🔛
			☆ ⑦
< Intelligence Center			Refresh Data     Preview     Save
Data Context	New Report + Add So	econdary Title	Report Configuration
No context selected			
Please select a data context	+ Add Subtitle		
	Row Dimensions       Select Table         Select A Data Context for the report       2022         B970022       0.2002         0 : 0 of Ortems       0.00000000000000000000000000000000000	••	

Selecting a primary table for the data context

Once a table is selected for the data context, you can work with the report in the Report Builder. The **Build** tab of the Report Builder is where most of the report creation occurs. The Build tab is organized into three main areas as follows:

- The Data Panel on the left side is where you select the data to include in your report.
- The **Report Canvas** in the middle is where you build the report. Columns can be dragged and dropped from the Data Panel to the Report Canvas. You can also create calculations to display in the report columns, and define column groups.
- The **Configuration Panel** on the right side is where you define properties for the report, the data grid, and the individual columns. You can configure properties such as report titles, drilling options, and column formatting.

For more information on using the Report Builder, see Using the Report Builder.

 At the top of the Report Canvas, click inside the title boxes and define the title text as desired. You can also optionally edit the title text within the Report Configuration panel. For more information, see Defining report titles and other web report properties.

AXIOM Intelligence Center			D 🗛 🚱 👪			
			☆ ⑦			
< Intelligence Center		Build Parameters Filters	Refresh Data     Preview     Save			
Data Context	Budget to Actuals	Corporate	Report Configuration			
GL2022	(		General Advanced			
Search tables Search columns	Through June 2022		Title			
▶ ⊞ GL2022	+ •	r +	Budget to Actuals			
▶	Row Dimensions	Column Definitions	Secondary title Corporate Subtitle			
			Through June 2022			
		Report description				
	0 - 0 of 0 items					
	0 - 0 of 0 rems		File group context     Edit       No file group selected       Report data <ul> <li>Live data with manual refresh</li> <li>Live data with auto refresh</li> <li>Mock data</li> </ul>			

Defining titles for the report

- 4. Define the rows of the report by doing one of the following, depending on whether you want to generate the rows dynamically or use a fixed row structure:
  - **Dynamic rows**: In the Data Panel, locate the table column that you want to use as the row dimension. Drag and drop the column to the **Row Dimensions** box in the Report Canvas. For more information, see Specifying the row dimension for a web report.

Intelligence Center				Ω 4	<ul> <li>▲</li> <li>∴</li> <li>②</li> </ul>
Intelligence Center		Build Param	eters Filters	Refresh Data     Preview	Save
ata Context	Budget to Actuals		Comorato	Column Configuration	
GL2022	/ Dudget to Actuals		Corporate	General Advanced	
	Through June 2022			Column	
search tables Search columns				DEPT.WorldRegion	
⊞ GL2022	+	*		+	
ACCT	WorldRegion			WorldRegion	
T DEPT		Column Definitions		Wondkegion	
🖾 Dept				Column width 200px	
Description					
Template				Alignment	
WorldRegion		Please add at least one colur	nn to the Column Definitions box	Default (Left)	
Country	0 - 0 of 0 items			Enable filter	
Region				Hide column	
Currency					
► VP				Show description	
Employees				Description display format	
Manager				Value (Description)	
Consolidated					
Owner					
Email2					
E FcstDept					
BgtCombineDuringQuery					
ShowOnList	*				

Dragging and dropping a column to use as the row dimension

 Fixed rows: Select the grid placeholder text in the Report Canvas so that the Grid Configuration properties load into the Configuration Panel. On the General tab, enable Use fixed rows then select an existing Fixed row structure. For more information, see Specifying the fixed row structure for a web report.

AX	IOM Intelligence Center						Д <u>А</u> СА	
							☆	0
< Ir	ntelligence Center			Build Parame	ters Filters		Refresh Data     Preview	save 🔻
Data	Context		Budget to Actuals		Corporate		Grid Configuration	
GL2	022	1	budget to Actuals		Corporate		General Advanced	
Sear	rch tables Search colum	ns	Through June 2022					<u>`</u>
• 8	■ GL2022	<b>^</b>	+ *			+ •	Enable reordering columns	
-	ACCT		Fixed Row Header Column				Enable reordening columns	
•	DEPT			Column Definitions			Orid Deservation	
	Dept						ond roperato	^
	Description						Use fixed rows	
	Template						Fixed row structure	
•	WorldRegion			Please add at least one colum	n to the Column Definitions box		RevExp	~
	Country						Enable drilling	
•								
	Currency							
•	II VP							
	Employees							
	Manager							
	Consolidated							
	Owner							
	Email2							
	E FcstDept							
	BgtCombineDuringQuery							
	ShowOnList							

Specifying a fixed row structure to define the rows

5. Use the Data Panel to locate the data columns that you want to display in the report, then drag and drop those columns out to the **Column Definitions** box in the Report Canvas. Once the columns are added to the grid, you can configure data and display properties for each column.

For more information, see Adding data columns and calculated columns to a web report and Configuring column properties for a web report.

Intelligence Center		Build Paran	neters Filters			Refresh Data Preview	Save		
a Context	Budget to Actuals		Corporate			Column Configuration 🔶	_		
L2022						General Advanced			
earch tables Search columns	Through June 2022		Click on a name to co			Column			
• I BGT2021	+ ▼			1	+ •	BGT2022.Q2			
BGT2022	WorldRegion	Q1 Actuals      Q2 Actual	s 🚥 🔲 Q1 Budget 🚥	🖽 Q2 Budget 🚥		Header			
ACCT						Q2 Budget			
DEPT						Column width 120px			
DETAIL									
🖽 M1	WorldRegion	Q1 Actuals	Q2 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Q2 Budget	Alignment			
□ M2	Asia (Asia region)	\$59,065,030	\$58,174,791	\$33,016,385	\$34,789,159	Default (Right)			
🖽 M3			47 070 000	Ar 400 070	A	Number format			
Ⅲ M4	Corporate (Corporate departments	) \$11,786,889	\$7,370,832	\$6,102,973	\$6,290,837				
Ⅲ M5	Europe (Europe region)	\$30,716,594	\$30,422,551	\$1,202,834	\$1,223,440	Default (Currency)			
□ M6	Marth America Alexandra and		4750 407454	4450.004.500	A400 554 004	Aggregation			
□ M7	North America (North America reg	ion) \$760,989,716	\$750,407,151	\$153,881,599	\$139,551,224	Default (Sum)			
□ M8	1 - 4 of 4 items								
II M9						Data filter	E		
Drag col	umns from the					No filter defined			
Data F	Panel to the								
Column [	Definitions box					Enable filter			

Adding and configuring data columns

**NOTE:** To populate the grid with data after adding columns to the Column Definitions box, click the **Refresh Data** button. By default, the Report Builder uses live data, but you must manually refresh in order to see the result of any data changes. For more information, see Changing data display options for the Report Builder.

6. Select the grid in the report canvas so that the configuration panel changes to show the Grid Configuration settings. Define the grid settings as needed, such as to enable the total row or enable drilling options. For more information, see Configuring grid properties in a web report.

In the following example, the total row was enabled for the grid.

						公 (		
Intelligence Center		Build Param	eters Filters			Refresh Data Preview Save		
ta Context	Budget to Actuals		Corporate			Grid Configuration		
L2022						General Advanced		
earch tables Search columns	Through June 2022					Column Properties		
⊞ GL2022	+ •				+ •	Enable column filters		
🛱 Dimension Tables	WorldRegion	🛙 Q1 Actuals 🚥 🕅 Q2 Actuals	🖽 Q1 Budget	🖽 Q2 Budget 🚥		Multi-column sorting		
% Related Tables						Enable reordering columns		
	WorldRegion	Q1 Actuals	Q2 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Q2 Budget	Grid Properties		
	Asia (Asia region)	\$59,065,030	\$58,174,791	\$33,016,385	\$34,789,159	Use fixed rows		
	Corporate (Corporate departments)	\$11,786,889	\$7,370,832	\$6,102,973	\$6,290,837	Include total row		
	Europe (Europe region)	\$30,716,594	\$30,422,551	\$1,202,834	\$1,223,440	Total row header label		
	North America (North America regio	1) \$760,989,716	\$750,407,151	\$153,881,599	\$139,551,224			
		\$862,558,229	\$846,375,326	\$194,203,791	\$181,854,660	Suppress zero rows		
	1 - 4 of 4 items	1 - 4 of 4 items Click the grid area						
				to load the grid — configuration properties		Grid sort order      Orie Default		
			_	properties		Custom		

Configuring grid properties

7. Click the **Filters** tab along the top of the page to define report-level filters as needed, to limit the data shown in the report. For more information, see Filtering data in web reports.

In the following example, a general filter was added to exclude the Corporate world region value from the report and to only show data for revenue accounts.

Intelligence Center Build Parameters Filters   All Filters + Add •   Revenue for Sales Regions General filter   Centeral filter Centeral filter   Centeral filter Centeral filter   Description Centeral filter   Filter Criteria Centeral filter	AXIOM Intelligence Center		D A
All Filters + Add * Revenue for Sales Regions General filter Centeral filter Revenue for Sales Regions Centeral filter Centera			
Revenue for Sales Regions       General filter         General filter       Enabled         Name       Revenue for Sales Regions         Description       Description	< Intelligence Center	Build Parameters Filters	Preview
Revenue for Sales Regions  Enabled  Revenue for Sales Regions  Description	All Filters + Add •	Revenue for Sales Regions General filter	
Revenue for Sales Regions Description			
Description		Name	
		Revenue for Sales Regions	
Filter Criteria Edit		Description	
Filter Criteria Edit			
ACCT.Category = 'Revenue' AND DEPT.WorldRegion ⇔ 'Corporate'		ACCT.Category = 'Revenue' AND DEPT.WorldRegion <> 'Corporate'	

Defining a report-level filter to limit data in the report

8. Return to the **Build** tab, then use the plus icon at the top right of the **Column Definitions** box to add calculated columns to the grid as needed. For more information, see Adding data columns and calculated columns to a web report.

				☆ ⑦					
Build Parame	eters Filters			Refresh Data Preview Save					
	Corporate			Report Configuration General Advanced					
		Title							
			+ •	Budget to Actuals					
• 🔲 Q2 Actuals	Q1 Budget	🖾 Q2 Budget 🚥	Add	Calculated Column					
			Add	Column Group					
				Subtitle					
Q1 Actuals	Q2 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Q2 Budget	Through June 2022					
\$6,989,316	\$5,939,730	\$5,416,397	\$5,334,331	Report description					

Click the plus icon to add a calculated column

In the following example, two calculated columns have been added to calculate the difference between actuals and budget for each quarter.

AXIOM Intelligence Center								口 수 🕰 ☆	0	
< Intelligence Center			Build Param	eters Filters				Refresh Data     Preview     Save		
GL2022	Budget to Actuals			Corporate				Column Configuration General Advanced		
Search tables Search columns	Through June 2022							Calculation		
H GL2022     Ig Dimension Tables     • 9₀ Related Tables	WorldRegion …	+ ▼	• Q1 Budget •	Difference	• 🔲 Q2 Actuals 🚥	🔲 Q2 Budget 🚥	+ ▼	((Q1 Actuals) - (Q1 Budget)) / (Q1 Bud. Header Difference		
	WorldRegion	4 Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference	Column width 120px		
	Asia (Asia region)	\$6,989,316	\$5,416,397	29.04%	\$5,939,730	\$5,334,331	11.35%	Alignment Default (Right)		
	Europe (Europe region) North America (North	\$473,158	\$340,531	38.95%	\$389,618	\$335,371	16.18%	Number format		
	America region)	\$32,766,656 \$40,229,130	\$35,609,235 \$41,366,163	-7.98% -2.75%	\$26,180,604 \$32,509,952	\$35,068,189 \$40,737,891	-25.34%	Percent	`	
	1 - 3 of 3 items							Data filter No filter defined	E	
								Enable filter		
								Hide column		
								Default (true)	~	

Adding and configuring calculated columns

9. Use the plus icon at the top right of the **Column Definitions** box to add column groups to the grid as needed. Using column groups, you can display multiple columns grouped underneath a header. For more information, see Defining column groups for a web report.

	A 🗛 🖼
	☆ ⑦
Build Parameters Filters	Refresh Data Preview Save V
Corporate	Report Configuration General Advanced
	Title
	+ ▼ Budget to Actuals
Is •••	Add Calculated Column Add Column Group
	Subtitle
Q2 Actuals Difference Q1 Budget Q2 Budget	Difference Through June 2022
\$5,939,730 29.04% \$5,416,397 \$5,334,331	11.35% Report description

Click the plus icon to add a column group

In the following example, two column groups have been added for Q1 and Q2.

AXIOM Intelligence Center								Д	ф СА			
									☆	0		
Intelligence Center			Build Parame	eters Filters				Refresh Data Preview Save				
Data Context	Budget to Actuals			Corporat	e			Column Group Configu	ration			
GL2022	,							General				
Search tables Search columns	Through June 2022							Header text				
▶ ⊞ GL2022	+ • + •							Q1	Q1			
Dimension Tables	□ WorldRegion ••• □ Q2						Hide column					
<ul> <li>Related Tables</li> </ul>		🖾 Q1 Actua	ls 🚥 🖾 Q1 Budge	et 🚥 🖽 Differe	nce 🔲	Q2 Actuals 🚥 🖽 🛙	2 Budget 🚥 🔲	Autowrap header te	ext			
		4					Þ	Header Alignment				
	WorldRegion	Q1				Q2		Default		~		
		Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference	Data Filter		Edit		
	Asia (Asia region)	\$6,989,316	\$5,416,397	29.04%	\$5,939,730	\$5,334,331	11.35%	No filters defined				
	Europe (Europe region)	\$473,158	\$340,531	38.95%	\$389,618	\$335,371	16.18%					
	North America (North America region)	\$32,766,656	\$35,609,235	-7.98%	\$26,180,604	\$35,068,189	-25.34%					
		\$40,229,130	\$41,366,163	-2.75%	\$32,509,952	\$40,737,891	-20.20%					
	1 - 3 of 3 items											

Adding and configuring column groups

- 10. Optional. If you want the report to dynamically change data based on user selections, then click the **Parameters** tab to add report parameters to the report. For more information, see Using report parameters in web reports.
- 11. Click **Save** to save the report.
- 12. In the Save Report As dialog, complete the following fields and then click Save:

Item	Description
File name	The name of the report file. This is the name that users will see in the Intelligence Center.
Description	Optional. A description of the report. Currently, descriptions do not display in the Intelligence Center, but they can be viewed in the Axiom Desktop Client using Axiom Explorer.
Save to folder	The folder in the Axiom repository where you want to save the report.
	<ul> <li>Click the folder icon by to the right of the field.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>In the Choose output folder dialog, select a folder in the Reports Library. You can only select folders where you have read/write access to the folder. If a folder name displays with a lock icon, this means you have read-only access to that folder and therefore cannot save a new report there.</li> </ul>
	<b>NOTE:</b> If you have access to the My Documents folder, then you can also save reports to that location for your personal use.
	• Click <b>OK</b> to choose the folder and return to the save dialog.
	The path to your selected folder now displays in the field.

If you use a file name that already exists in the target folder, you will be prompted to choose whether or not to overwrite the existing file. If you choose not to overwrite, the save operation is canceled and you are returned to the Report Builder.

Keep in mind that many of these steps can be done in any order. You can configure the grid settings before defining report titles, and so on. The main dependency is that you must select a primary table for the data context before you can begin adding columns to the report.

## Creating new web reports from template

Using the Intelligence Center, you can create new web reports from a template. Currently, templates are only provided by installed Axiom products. For more information about any templates provided by your installed products, see the separate product documentation.

Some report templates require a fixed row structure to define the row dimensions and sections of the report. If you want to create a new web report from a template that requires a fixed row structure, this row structure must already exist so that you can assign it to the report when you create it. For more information, see Managing Fixed Row Structures.

Web reports created from template remain linked to that template. If a template changes, that change is automatically available in all reports created from that template.

In order to create a web report, you must be an administrator or have the **Create Web Reports** security permission. In order to save the new report you must have read/write access to at least one folder in the Reports Library or access to the My Documents folder. If you do not have permission to create web reports, then the option to create a new web report from template will not be available from the **Create** button in the Intelligence Center.

To create a new web report from template:

1. In the Intelligence Center, click Create > Create web report from template.

AXIOM Intelligence Center							Д	¢	CA	Ш
									☆	0
Reports Row Structures										
🔻 希 Reports Library	Intelligence Center									
▼ 🗅 !Corporate	Reports Library Corporate				Search reports		Q		- Create	
🗅 Analysis	Reports Library Corporate				Search reports		ų			
🗅 Finance							Create web repo	ort from	emplate	
C !ReportBuilder							Create web repo	vrt		
Archive	!Corporate						Create new folde	er		
🗅 Dashboards	Name	T	Modified on	Ŧ	Modified by	T	Туре		T	
<ul> <li>File Processing</li> </ul>	🗅 Analysis			3/2/2021 12:27 PM	Clark Adams		File Folder			
Forms				-,-,-						
🗅 jpalmero	C Finance			3/2/2021 12:27 PM	Clark Adams		File Folder			

**NOTE:** If your system does not have any product-delivered templates available, then this option will not be present on the **Create** menu.

The **Create New Web Report from Template** dialog opens to walk you through the report creation process.

2. On the template screen, select the template that you want to use to create the report, and then click **Next**.

Create New Web Report from Template	×
Select a template	
Search templates Q	
Template name	Created on
Balance Sheet Validation Report	<u> </u>
Budget Balance Sheet Trend	
Budget Comparative Income Statement	
Budget Consolidating Balance Sheet	
Budget Income Statement Trend	
Budget Yield Trend	
Cash Flow Forecaster Log Report	
Cash Flow Forecaster Log Report Instrument Detail	
Comparative Balance Sheet	
Comparative Income Statement	
Consolidating Balance Sheet	
Consolidating Income Statement	•
	NEXT

Example template screen showing product-delivered templates

3. On the fixed row structure screen, select the fixed row structure to use in the report, and then click **Next**. If the template you selected does not use a fixed row structure, then this screen does not display and you can skip to step 4.

Create New Web Report from Template	:	×
Select a fixed row structure		
Search fix row structures Q		
Fixed row structure name	Created on	
PM Test Yield with NIM V2		-
Contribution Statement		
Statement of Earnings		
Balance Sheet V1		
Summary Balance Sheet		
Operating Expenses		
Student		
Balance Sheet Trend Validation		
		-
ВАСК	NEXT CANCEL	

Example screen showing fixed row structures

**NOTE:** If no fixed row structures are listed, then your system does not have any available fixed row structures. You must create one before you can create a web report using the selected template. You can click **Back** to select a different template, or you can click **Cancel** to exit the dialog and return to the Intelligence Center. For more information, see Managing Fixed Row Structures.

4. On the final screen, complete the following fields to save the new report, and then click **Create**.

Item	Description
Name	The name of the report file.
Description	Optional. A description for the report.

Item	Description
Save report in	The folder in the Axiom repository where you want to save the report.
	<ul> <li>Click the folder icon 🗁 to the right of the field.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>In the Choose output folder dialog, select a folder in the Reports Library. You can only select folders where you have read/write access to the folder. If a folder name displays with a lock icon, this means you have read-only access to that folder and therefore cannot save a new report there.</li> </ul>
	<b>NOTE:</b> If you have access to the My Documents folder, then you can also save reports to that location for your personal use.
	• Click <b>OK</b> to choose the folder and return to the save dialog.
	The path to your selected folder now displays in the field.

The report is opened in the current browser tab. You can now review the data using a variety of tools available to web reports, such as sorting, filtering, and drilling. For more information, see Viewing and exploring data in web reports.

Once a report is created from template, it cannot be edited—for example, to choose a different fixed row structure. If you want to use a different fixed row structure, create a new report from template again. Remember that any changes to the template or to the fixed row structure will automatically flow through to all reports that use the template or the fixed row structure.

## Using the Report Builder

Using the Report Builder, you can create and edit web reports using a drag-and-drop interface. Web reports are intended to be intuitive for report builders to create and easy for report viewers to use.

Web reports support two different ways to display reporting data in a grid:

- Dynamic rows: Dynamically display data rows based on a specified dimension or grouping.
- **Fixed rows**: Use predefined fixed row structures to organize data rows into sections with headers, totals, and subtotals.

The Report Builder opens when you do either of the following:

- Create a new web report from the Intelligence Center.
- Edit an existing web report from the Intelligence Center or from the report viewer.
- Overview of the Report Builder

The Report Builder is organized into three tabs:

- **Build**: Use this tab to design the report data and configure report properties. This is the default tab.
- **Parameters**: Use this tab to enable and configure interactivity for the report. Report users can dynamically change the data that displays in the report using report parameters.
- Filters: Use this tab to define report-level filters, to limit the data shown in the report.

In the Build tab, the Report Builder has three main areas:

- The Data Panel on the left side is where you select the data to include in your report.
- The **Report Canvas** in the middle is where you build the report. Columns can be dragged and dropped from the Data Panel to the Report Canvas. You can also create calculations to display in the report columns, and define column groups.
- The **Configuration Panel** on the right side is where you define properties for the report, the data grid, and the individual columns. You can configure properties such as report titles, drilling options, and column formatting.

Intelligence Center		rs, and defining ort filters	Build Parame	eters Filters				<ul> <li>Refresh Data</li> <li>Preview</li> <li>Save</li> </ul>
ata Context GL2022 Search tables Search columns	Budget to Actuals Through June 2022	Drag column	rt Canvas: and drop as to design e report	Corporate			++	Report Configuration General Advanced Title Budget to Act
		□ Q1 □ Q1 Actuals ···	• 🔲 Q1 Budget …	Difference	Q2 Q2 Actuals	• Q2 Budget •••		Secondary Corpora
Data Panel: Select tables and	WorldRegion	4 Q1 Actuals	Q1 Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Q2 Budget	Difference	Subtitle Through June 2022 Report description
columns to include in report	Asia (Asia region) Europe (Europe region)	\$6,989,316 \$473,158	\$5,416,397 \$340,531	29.04% 38.95%	\$5,939,730 \$389,618	\$5,334,331 \$335,371	11.35%	File group context
	North America (North America region)	\$32,766,656 \$40,229,130	\$35,609,235 \$41,366,163	-7.98%	\$26,180,604 \$32,509,952	\$35,068,189 <b>\$40,737,891</b>	-25.34%	No file group selected
	1 - 3 of 3 items							Report data   Constraints  Report data  Constraints  Report data  Report data  Report data  Report data  Report data

Overview of the Report Builder

As you build and configure the report, a preview of the grid displays in the Report Canvas area. Several options are available to control how data is shown in this grid. For more information, see Changing data display options for the Report Builder.

#### Building a report in the Report Builder

The following is an overview of how to build a report in the Report Builder:

- Define a data context: Each report must have a specified primary table to determine the data context for the report. Once the data context is defined, you can build the report using columns from the primary table and from related tables.
- Define report titles: You can define report title text and an optional report description.
- Define the grid rows: Web reports can use dynamically generated rows based on a dimension, or they can use a fixed row structure. Do one of the following depending on the type of report that you want to make:
  - For dynamic rows, add a row dimension to the grid by dragging and dropping a table column.
  - ° For fixed rows, specify a fixed row structure by modifying the grid properties.

- Add data columns and calculated columns: Drag and drop table columns out to the grid to define the data columns for the report, and define calculated columns as needed. You can also define column groups to create grouped headers in the report.
- Configure grid properties: Configure grid properties such as the total row and user interaction options, including enabling and configuring drilling options as needed. You can also adjust the default formats for various column types.
- Configure column properties: Configure properties for each column such as alignment, width, number format, and column filters.
- Define report filters: You can define general and table-specific filters to limit the data shown in the report grid.
- Define report parameters: You can optionally create and configure report parameters to allow end users to dynamically change the data shown in the report.

#### Changing data display options for the Report Builder

As you build and configure the report, a sample of the grid data displays in the Report Canvas area. You can choose how data displays in the sample grid as you build the report.

**NOTE:** The sample grid is intended to give you an idea of how the report data will display to report viewers, but it is not intended to be an exact representation of the final report. To see the report as it will appear to report viewers, use the Preview feature.

To change how data displays in the Report Builder:

1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, click the gear button at the top of the page to load the **Report Configuration** properties.



2. Select one of the following options for Report data:

- Live data with manual refresh (default): Live data is shown in the grid, however, you must manually refresh the data after making configuration changes that affect the data shown. This is for performance reasons, so that you do not have to wait for data queries to complete in order to continue working on your report. When using this option, data updates are handled as follows:
  - If you add a new column, or make a configuration change that would affect the data shown in the column, the column will be blank. To populate the grid for data in this column, click the **Refresh Data** button.
  - If you make a configuration change that would affect the data shown in the entire grid, the grid will be blank. To populate the grid with the current data, click the Refresh Data button.

The Refresh Data button is only available when using this option.

- Live data with automatic refresh: Live data is shown in the grid, and the data automatically updates after you make any configuration changes. Generally speaking, this option should only be used when the report queries a small set of data so that updates will be quick, or when you do not expect to be making many configuration changes that affect data.
- Mock data: Mock data is shown in the grid. When using this option, you can get a basic idea of how the report columns and format will display to the user, without viewing actual data. This is a good option if you do not need to made configuration changes that affect the data, or if you do not need to view the data while you are making these changes.

< Intelligence Center				Build Param	eters Filters				Refresh Data Prev	view Save
ata Context GL2022	1	Budget to Actuals			Corporate				Report Configuration General Advanced	
Search tables S	Search columns	Through June 2022							Title	
⊞ GL2022     Dimension Tables     & Related Tables		+	Q1	••• 🔲 Q1 Budget •••	 Difference	Q2 Q2 Actuals	••• 🔲 Q2 Budget •••	+ •	Budget to Actuals Secondary title Corporate	
		WorldRegion	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Q2 Budget	Difference	Subtitle Through June 2022 Report description	
		Asia (Asia region) Europe (Europe region)	\$6,989,316 \$473,158	\$5,416,397 \$340,531	29.04% 38.95%	\$5,939,730 \$389,618	\$5,334,331 \$335,371	11.35%		
		North America (North America region)	\$32,766,656 \$40,229,130	\$35,609,235 \$41,366,163	-7.98%	\$26,180,604 \$32,509,952	\$35,068,189 <b>\$40,737,891</b>	-25.34%	File group context	
		1 - 3 of 3 items							Report data	

Data display options for the Report Builder

Even if you are viewing live data, keep in mind that the grid shown in the Report Canvas is simply meant as a guide to help you build the report—it is not intended to be a fully functional representation of the report. If you want to see how the report will display to report viewers, click the **Preview** button.

**NOTE:** The **Report data** option is not saved in the report, and your selection is not saved for future Report Builder sessions. Every Report Builder session defaults to using live data with manual refresh.

#### Previewing a report

The sample grid in the Report Canvas accurately reflects some report configuration details such as column headers and number format. However, other configuration details are not reflected in the sample grid. For example:

- Column width may not be accurately reflected in the sample grid. Initially, the grid will expand to fit the available space. Once there are enough columns to fill the space, the column width will be honored.
- The sample grid only shows up to ten rows of data (when using dynamic rows) and does not display paging options.
- Drilling options are not available in the sample grid.
- Report viewer options to sort and filter column data are not available in the sample grid
- Report parameters cannot be used on the sample grid.

If you want to see how the report will display to end users in the report viewer, including all user interaction options for the report, click the **Preview** button at the top of the Report Builder.



The report preview opens in a separate dialog that overlays the Report Builder. Using this preview, you can view the report data and try out end-user features like sorting, filtering, and drilling the report. When you are done viewing the preview, click **Close** at the bottom of the dialog to return to the Report Builder (or click the X in the top right corner).

The report preview does have a few limitations. Export and share options are not available in the report preview. Additionally, if hyperlinks are used in the report, the hyperlinks will always open in a new tab, even if they are configured to open in the same tab—this is done so that clicking a hyperlink will not close the Report Builder.

#### Saving a report

Use the **Save** button at the top of the Report Builder to save the report. If the report is a brand new report, you will be prompted to define a name and folder location for the report. Otherwise, the existing report is saved.

If you have opened an existing report for editing and you want to save a copy of it with a new name, click the down arrow to the right of the Save button and select **Save As**.



Save button with Save As option

NOTE: The Create Web Reports security permission is required in order to use Save As.

If you have made changes to the report but have not yet saved, you will be prompted to save when you attempt to close the browser tab or navigate to a new location.

## Defining the data context for a web report

The *data context* for a web report determines the overall pool of data that is eligible to be included in the report. To define the data context, you select a *primary table* as the "base" table for the report. This primary table then determines which other tables are eligible for inclusion in the report, based on lookup relationships. All table columns used in the report must be compatible in the context of the primary table.

In the Report Builder, the primary table for the data context is specified on the **Build** tab, in the lefthand Data Panel. You must select the primary table before you can drag and drop any table columns out to the grid.

To select a primary table for the data context:

There are two ways to select a primary table for the data context.

• When you create a brand new report, you are automatically prompted to select a primary table for the data context.

You can select a table from the drop-down list directly, or type into the box to search for a table name. The search uses "contains" matching to return any tables that contain the search text within the table name. Tables that start with the search text are listed first, followed by tables that contain the search text anywhere in the table name. In the following screenshot, the text 2022 has been used to search for tables with the year 2022 in the name.

AXIOM Intelligence Center					Д Ą	<b>CA</b> !!!
						☆ ⑦
< Intelligence Center					Refresh Data Previe	w Save 🔻
Data Context	New Report		+ Add Secondary Title		Report Configuration	
No context selected						
Please select a data context	+ Add Subtitle					
	Row Dimensions	elect Table elect a Data Context for the report 2022 GL2022 GL2022 GL2022	OK	+ *		

Example Select Table prompt when creating a new report

 If you are already in the Report Builder, then you can define or change the primary table using the Data Context box at the top of the Data Panel. Click the Edit icon *I* to open the Select Table dialog (as shown in the previous screenshot).

Intelligence Cent	ter
Data Context	
GL2022	1
Search tables	Search columns
▶ ⊞ GL2022	
▶ 📴 Dimension Tables	s
<ul> <li>Related Tables</li> </ul>	

Once you have selected a table, that table name is shown in the **Data Context** box, and the Data Panel populates to show a table tree in three expandable/collapsible sections:

- *TableName*: The selected table and its columns. This table is the primary table.
- **Dimension Tables**: Reference tables that the primary table looks up to. If the reference tables have lookups to other reference tables, these multi-level reference tables are accessible through the first-level reference tables.
- **Related Tables**: The contents of this section depend on the type of table selected as the primary table.
  - If the primary table is a data table, then this section contains other tables that look up to one or more of the same reference tables as the primary table.
  - If the primary table is a reference table, then this section contains tables that look up to the reference table.

You can expand these tables to view the columns, and then drag and drop columns out to the Report Canvas area so that they can be used as row dimensions or data columns.

< 1	ntelligence Cen	ter	
Data	Context		
GL2	2022		1
Sea	rch tables	Search column	IS
•	⊞ GL2022		•
•	П АССТ		
•	DEPT		
	Ш M1		
	□ M2		
	Ш МЗ		
	□ M4		
	Ш M5		
	□ M6		
	Ш M7		
	Ⅲ M8		
	Ш М9		

Expanded table tree

In this example, we have selected GL2022 as the primary table. GL2022 is a data table that looks up to reference tables Dept and Acct. The table tree is populated as follows:

- **GL2022**: This node contains all columns in GL2022, as well as columns in the lookup tables Dept and Acct.
- **Dimension Tables**: This node contains the lookup reference tables Dept and Acct. If the reference tables look up to other downstream reference tables (multi-level lookups), those downstream reference tables can be used through these tables.
- **Related Tables**: This node contains other tables that also look up to Dept or Acct (or to a multilevel lookup through Dept or Acct). This may include tables such as GL2021, BGT2021, and BGT2022.

When you save the report, the data context is saved for that report and will be reloaded into the Data Panel whenever the report is opened in the Report Builder.

#### NOTES:

- When choosing the data context, the list of tables is automatically filtered to only show tables that you have access to. If you have the **Administer Tables** security permission, all tables will be shown. This means it can be possible to select a primary table where you do not have access to any of the data in the table. You can build the report but it will not populate with data.
- Certain tables can be restricted from showing the in the Report Builder using the system configuration setting **TablesRestrictedFromReportWriter**. If a table that you have access to is not available, it has likely been restricted using this setting.

#### Changing the data context

You can change the data context freely until you have done either of the following:

- Dragged and dropped columns out to the grid setup boxes in the Report Canvas
- Selected a fixed row structure for use with the report (when using the Use fixed rows option in the Grid Configuration properties)

You can still change the data context if needed, but any newly selected primary table must be compatible with the table columns you have already added to the grid, and with the fixed row structure you have selected (if applicable). If the newly selected primary table is not compatible, an error will occur when the Report Builder tries to refresh the grid in the Report Canvas. At this point you have the choice of selecting a different primary table that is compatible (which may mean returning to the original primary table), or removing the incompatible columns from the grid, or choosing a different fixed row structure.

Other settings that must be compatible with the primary table include columns selected as drilling columns for a Directed drilling configuration. If you change the primary table and any of these settings are incompatible with the new primary table, an error will occur.

If you change the data context and save the report, the new primary table is now saved for the report and will be reloaded into the Data Panel whenever the report is opened in the Report Builder.

## Specifying the row dimension for a web report

The row dimension for a web report defines the summation level for the row data. For example, you may want the rows in your grid to show data by department, region, entity, account, or some combination of dimensions. You specify a table column to use as the row dimension, and then the rows in the grid are dynamically generated based on the unique values in that column.

**NOTE:** If you want your report to use a static row structure with multiple sections instead of dynamically generating the rows, then use a fixed row structure instead of a row dimension.

The row dimension for the report is placed in the left-hand box at the top of the Report Canvas, known as the **Row Dimensions** box. The report grid cannot render until you specify either a row dimension or a fixed row structure.

New Report		+ Add Secondary Title	
+ Add Subt Drag colum row	g and drop data ons to define the rs of the report		+
Row Dimensions	Column Definitions		

Row Dimensions box at the top of the Report Canvas

Web reports can have multiple row dimensions. If two or more row dimensions are specified, then each row in the report represents a unique combination of the dimensions. For example, if the row dimension is just Dept, then each row shows data for a department. If the row dimension is Dept and Acct, then each row shows data by the unique combinations of department and account.

To specify a row dimension for a web report:

1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Data Panel, expand the table tree until you locate the column that you want to use as a row dimension.

If the Data Panel is empty, this means you must select a primary table first.

- 2. Drag and drop the column to the **Row Dimensions** box at the top of the Report Canvas.
- 3. Select the column name in the Row Dimensions box, and then use the **Column Configuration** panel to configure display properties such as column width, alignment, header text, and formatting. For more information, see Configuring column properties for a web report.
- 4. If multiple columns are present in the Row Dimensions box, you can drag and drop them within the box so that they display in the desired order within the grid.

Once a row dimension is specified, the Data Panel updates to remove any tables that are incompatible with the specified row dimension. You can now build out the data columns of the report by dragging and dropping columns from the Data Panel, and by creating calculated columns. For more information, see Adding data columns and calculated columns to a web report.

AXI	OM Intelligence Center		A 🕹 🔛		
			公 ⑦		
< In	telligence Center	Build Parameters Filters	Refresh Data     Preview     Save		
Data C	ontext	Column Configuration General Advanced			
GL20	122				
Searc	ch tables Search columns	Through June 2022	Column DEPT.WorldRegion Header		
• 🖽	GL2022	+ •			
•	ACCT	WorldRegion			
•	III DEPT	Column Definitions	wonakegion		
	🗇 Dept		Column width 200px		
	Description				
	Template		Alignment		
•	WorldRegion	Please add at least one column to the Column Definitions box	Default (Left) 🗸 🗸		
	Country	0 - 0 of 0 items	Enable filter		
•	Region		Hide column		
	Currency				
•	III VP		Show description		
	Employees		Description display format		
	Manager		Value (Description) 🗸		
	Consolidated				
	Owner				
	Email2				
	FcstDept				
	BgtCombineDuringQuery				
	ShowOnList				

Defining a row dimension for a web report

#### NOTES:

- If you drag and drop a validated column from a data table to use as the row dimension, such as GL2023.Dept, this column reference is automatically "elevated" to point to the lookup table instead, meaning Dept.Dept. This is done so that the column reference is compatible with other data tables that reference the same lookup table. This elevation only occurs if the validated column looks up to a shared dimension table.
- Calculated fields from the database cannot be added as row dimensions.

#### Using a dynamic column for the row dimension

You may want to design a report where the row dimension is dynamic based on user input. Users can choose the grouping level that they want to see the rows summarized by.

To configure a report to use a dynamic row dimension, you must:

- Create a Column List report parameter, and configure the parameter to use the columns that you want users to be able to choose as the row dimension.
- Add a Dynamic column to the Row Dimensions box, and configure that column to use the Column List report parameter.

When a report user opens the report, they can use the Report Parameters panel to choose the column that they want to use as the row dimension. The report then refreshes to show the data grouped by that column. For more information, see Using report parameters in web reports and Using Column List report parameters.

#### Displaying descriptions for the row dimension

In many cases your row dimension will be a code, such as a department code or an account code, and you want to display the description for the code next to it. By default, any column with an associated description is automatically enabled to show the descriptions appended to the column value. If desired, you can specify a different display format for the descriptions, or you can disable showing descriptions.

This behavior applies to any column with descriptions used in the report, but the most common use case is for the row dimension columns.

To configure the description display formats for row dimensions:

- 1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, select the row dimension column in the **Row Dimensions** box.
- 2. In the Column Configuration settings, on the General tab, enable or disable Show description as needed.
- 3. If descriptions are enabled, then select the desired display format from the **Description display format** list.

In the following example, the Dept column has been configured to show descriptions using the Value - **Description** format. If you select a format that shows descriptions first, such as **Description (Value)**, then the rows will be sorted by the descriptions instead of the underlying values.

Intelligence Center						□ 4 @ # © ☆
Intelligence Center			Build Parameters F	llters		Refresh Data Preview Save
ta Context	New Descent			1.1.0		Column Configuration
L2022	New Report		+ A	dd Secondary Title		-
earch tables Search columns	General Advanced Column DEPT.Dept					
⊞ GL2022	<b>*</b>	+ •			+ •	Header
ACCT	DEPT ···	□ M1 … □M	M2 🖽 M3			DEPT
DEPT						
□ M1						
□ M2	]]]					Column width 200px
□ M3	DEPT		M1	M2	M3	Alignment
Ⅲ M4	11000 - Balance Sheet		\$1,200,867	\$2,969,668	\$567,027	Default (Left)
Ⅲ M5						Number format
□ M6	20000 - Corporate		\$338,371	\$348,818	\$512,223	
Ⅲ M7	21000 - Corporate Administration		\$109,424	\$142,424	\$113,341	Default (Dimension)
Ⅲ M8						Enable filter
Ⅲ M9	22000 - Information Technologies		\$446,802	\$463,814	\$466,517	Hide column
II M10	23000 - Purchasing & Materials M	amt	\$129,671	\$169,499	\$144,209	Show description
II M11		5				_
Ⅲ M12	24000 - Business Development		\$29,110	\$28,736	\$32,289	Description display format
<ul> <li>Integer</li> </ul>	25000 - Finance		\$169,733	\$187,145	\$187,505	Value - Description
🔲 ТОТ			\$105,733	\$107,143	\$107,000	
T YTD1	1 - 10 of 124 items					
TTD2	•					

Example row dimension column configured to show descriptions

#### Filtering the row dimension

In some cases you want the report to display a subset of values from the row dimension column, instead of all values. To filter the row dimension values, use the Filters tab to define a general filter for the report.

For example, if the row dimension is Dept but you want the report to only display departments that belong to a specific entity, define a general filter such as Dept.Entity='Entity 1'. This will filter the grid so that it only shows data that belongs to Entity 1, including the row dimension values. Department codes that do not belong to Entity 1 will not be included in the data query.

#### Changing the row dimension

You can change the row dimension at any time by dragging and dropping additional columns to the **Row Dimensions** box, or by removing existing row dimensions.

To remove a row dimension, click the three-dots icon to the right side of the column name and then select **Delete Column**. If you remove the only row dimension, the grid in the Report Canvas cannot be rendered until you specify a new one.

If you change the row dimension after adding data columns and calculated columns, or if you change the primary table after specifying a row dimension, it is possible that some of the selections may be incompatible with each other. In this case, an error will display when the Report Builder attempts to refresh the data in the Report Canvas. You may have to remove incompatible columns, change the row dimension, or change the primary table in order to restore a valid grid configuration.

If you decide that you want to change the report to use a fixed row structure instead of a row dimension, use the **Grid Configuration** properties to enable fixed rows and then choose a fixed row structure. For more information, see Specifying the fixed row structure for a web report. Any columns currently placed in the Row Dimensions box will be ignored while fixed rows are enabled for the report.

#### Using upstream grouping columns as row dimensions in web reports

Under normal circumstances, row dimension columns can be columns on the primary table for the data context, or columns on lookup dimension tables. However, when the primary table for the web report is a reference table, you can also optionally use columns from related tables as row dimensions. This type of configuration is referred to as *upstream grouping columns*.

Upstream grouping columns can be useful for reporting in certain Axiom products that hold important data in reference tables. For example, the Enterprise Decision Support (EDS) product needs to report on data in the Encounter table, which is a reference table. For some reports, they want to group this data using a related table such as the EncounterPayor table, yet still bring in columns from other related tables that look up to the Encounter table (such as CostDetail). Columns from the EncounterPayor table are considered upstream grouping columns because EncounterPayor looks up to Encounter instead of the other way around.

#### Identifying upstream grouping columns

A row dimension column is considered an upstream grouping column if both of the following are true:

- The primary table for the data context is a reference table. Reference tables are a particular type of table classification in Axiom that can only have one key column, and can serve as the lookup source for a validated column. Reference tables are also often referred to as dimension tables, as many reference tables are used to define dimensional data such as department, account, or entity.
- The row dimension column is from a related table instead of from a dimension table or the primary table.

Design considerations and limitations when using upstream grouping columns

When upstream grouping columns are used in a report, the data query uses different syntax than when using standard row dimensions. This special syntax causes the following design considerations and limitations:

- Aggregations: Average and Distinct Count aggregation types cannot be used in the report.
- **Data impact**: When rendering the report, any data from the primary table that is not referenced by the upstream grouping column is omitted from the report. For example, imagine that the primary table is Encounter, and you are grouping by a column in the upstream EncounterPayor table. If there are records in the Encounter table that the EncounterPayor table does not reference, those records are omitted from the report.
- **Total row**: When the current row dimension is an upstream grouping column, the totals shown in the total row may not match the sum of all the displayed rows. This is because multiple values in the upstream grouping column may reference the same record in the primary table, causing that record to be included multiple times. The total row displays the total as if each record from the primary table is only included once. When this situation occurs, a warning icon displays on the total row, with an explanation of this effect in the tooltip.

For example, imagine that the primary table is Encounter, and you are grouping by a column in the upstream EncounterPayor table. Payor A and Payor B both reference Encounter 100, so values associated with Encounter 100 are included in both payor rows in the report. Rather than double-count the values from Encounter 100, the total row only counts the values once.

## Specifying the fixed row structure for a web report

Web reports can optionally use fixed row structures to define the data sections in the report. Instead of dynamically generating the rows based on a table column, fixed row structures individually define each row of data, including section headers, subtotals, and totals.

Fixed row structures are defined separately so that you can reuse them in different web reports, and so that you can update the row structure in one place and have the changes propagate to all reports that reference the fixed row structure. The fixed row structure that you want to use in the web report must already exist—they cannot be created or edited in the Web Report Builder. For more information, see Managing Fixed Row Structures.

The fixed row structure is specified in the Configuration Panel, using the **Grid Configuration** properties. The grid in the Report Canvas cannot render until you specify either a fixed row structure or a row dimension.

To specify a fixed row structure for a web report:

1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, click the grid area below the column setup boxes. This area displays with placeholder text until either a row dimension or a fixed row structure is specified.

AXIOM Intellige	nce Center					Д	¢ (	• •
							ť	ን ወ
< Intelligence Cente	< Intelligence Center Build Parameters Filters						Preview	Save 🔻
Data Context		New Report	+ Add Secondary Title			Grid Configuration General Advanced Column Properties		
Search tables Search columns					+ •			•
• 師 GL2022 • 전 Dimension Tables • � Related Tables		+ • Row Dimensions	Column Definitions			Enable column filters Multi-column sorting Enable reordering colum	nns	
		0 - 0 of 0 items	Please select at least on	grid con	e to load the nfiguration perties	Grid Properties Use fixed rows Include total row		^
						Suppress zero rows		

- 2. In the Grid Configuration properties, enable Use fixed rows.
- 3. From the **Fixed row structure** drop-down list, select an existing fixed row structure. You can type into the box to filter the list by name.

Grid Configuration						
General	Advanced					
Column P	Properties	~				
	Enable reordering c	olumns				
Grid Prop	erties	~				
	Use fixed rows					
Fixed rov	w structure					
rev		~				
RevEx	¢p					
RevEx	¢p1					

After selecting a fixed row structure, the Report Canvas area updates as follows:

- The Row Dimensions box updates to show a placeholder column named **Fixed Row Header Column**. This column is the column that holds the section titles and data row labels as defined in the fixed row structure. You can select this placeholder column in order to configure certain display details about this column within the web report.
- Once you have dragged and dropped at least one data column to the Column Definitions box, you can use **Refresh Data** to update the grid and show the sections and rows as defined in the fixed row structure.

AXIOM Intelligence Center						Д <del>ф</del>	<ul> <li>▲</li> <li>▲</li> <li>②</li> </ul>
< Intelligence Center		Build Paramet	ers Filters			Refresh Data Preview	_
GL2022	Revenue Q1		By World Region			Grid Configuration General Advanced	
Search tables Search columns + Add Subtitle + Add Subtitle					+ •	General Advanced Column Properties Column Properties Enable reordering columns	^
Gel Dimension Tables     Port Related Tables	Fixed Row Header Column	🖽 Asia 🚥 🖽 Europe 🚥 🖽 North /	vmerica ····			Grid Properties	^
			Asia 🍸	Europe 🝸	North America 🝸	Fixed row structure	
	Revenue					RevExp1	~
	Revenue		\$6,989,316	\$473,158	\$32,766,656	Enable drilling	
	Cost of Goods Sold		\$2,089,667	\$174,715	\$10,060,984		
	Net Revenue		\$4,899,650	\$298,443	\$22,705,672		
	Expenses						
	Marketing		\$9,351	\$5,568	\$123,206		
	Supplies		\$31,933	\$10,702	\$719,143		
	Payroll		\$1,489,372	\$179,306	\$8,299,401		
	Travel		\$391,740	\$77,541	\$2,044,674		
	Expenses Total		\$1,922,396	\$273,117	\$11,186,423		
	Net Income		\$6,822,046	\$571,560	\$33,892,096		

Example web report using a fixed row structure

#### NOTES:

- If you want to make changes to the fixed row structure, you must edit the structure in the separate fixed row structure editor. Any changes made to the row structure will automatically apply to any web report that uses the fixed row structure.
- The option to Add Dynamic Column above the Row Dimensions box is not available when using a fixed row structure. Dynamic columns are only available for use when using row dimensions to generate the rows of the report.
- If you decide that you want to use dynamically generated rows instead of a fixed row structure, you can simply disable Use fixed rows and then drag a column to the Row Dimension setup box. For more information see Specifying the row dimension for a web report.

#### Impact on Grid Configuration options

When **Use fixed rows** is enabled for the grid, multiple grid configuration options become unavailable because they do not apply to web reports that use fixed row structures. If these options were configured before fixed rows were enabled for the grid, the configuration will be ignored.

- Enable column filters: Report viewers cannot filter columns when using fixed rows.
- Multi-column sorting: Report viewers cannot sort columns when using fixed rows.

- **Include total row** (and related settings): This option does not apply because fixed row structures have their own defined subtotal and total rows.
- **Suppress zero rows**: This option does not apply to fixed row structures; all configured rows will display regardless of whether they return all zero data.
- Grid sort order: This option does not apply to fixed row structures.

#### Configuring the Fixed Row Header Column

Most of the display details for the Fixed Row Header Column are configured within the fixed row structure and therefore cannot be changed within the web report. However, if you select the **Fixed Row Header Column** item in the Row Dimension setup box, you can configure the following:

Item	Description
Column width	The column width of the column in the grid, in pixels. Enter the desired column width as a whole integer between 30 and 600.
	The default width of the Fixed Row Header Column is 400.

# Adding data columns and calculated columns to a web report

When creating a web report, you can add as many columns as needed to define the data that you want to display in the report. You can also define calculated columns, such as to show the difference between two columns.

The data columns and calculated columns for the grid are placed in the right-hand box at the top of the Report Canvas, known as the **Column Definitions** box. This box defines the columns to display in the report. Although it is possible to add columns and calculated columns to the Column Definitions box before specifying a row dimension or a fixed row structure, the grid in the Report Canvas will not populate until the rows are defined.

New Report	+ Add Se	econdary Title
+ Add Subtitle	Drag and drop the data columns to display in the report	Click here to add a calculated column +
Row Dimensions	Column Definitions	

Column Definitions box at the top of the Report Canvas

#### Adding data columns

To display data in the report, you can drag and drop table columns from the Data Panel to the Column Definitions box in the Report Canvas. The Data Panel displays the tables and columns that are eligible to be included in the report, based on the selected data context (primary table) and the specified row dimension.

To add a data column to a web report:

- 1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Data Panel, expand the table tree until you locate the column that you want to add to your report. You can also use the search boxes at the top of the panel to find a particular table or column by name.
- 2. Drag and drop the column to the Column Definitions box at the top of the Report Canvas.

**NOTE:** When using the default behavior, the new column will render as blank in the report until you click **Refresh Data**.

- 3. If the column is not in the desired location within the grid, drag and drop it within the Column Definitions box to reorder the columns.
- 4. Use the **Column Settings** in the Configuration Panel to configure display properties for the column, such as column width, alignment, header text, and formatting. For more information, see Configuring column properties for a web report.

By default, when you drag and drop a column to the grid, that column is selected and its column properties display in the Configuration Panel. You can return to the column properties at any time by clicking the column name in the Column Definitions box.

						3	۵ û	
Intelligence Center		Build Param	eters Filters			Refresh Data Preview	Save	
a Context	Budget to Actuals		Corporate			Column Configuration	-	
2022  arch tables Search columns	Click on a column name to configure it WorldRegion  Q1 Actuals  Q2 Actuals  Q1 Budget  Q2 Budget		name to configure it			General Advanced		
■ BGT2021						Header Q2 Budget		
⊞ BGT2022								
ACCT								
DEPT				Column width 120px				
DETAIL						Column width 120px		
🖽 M1	WorldRegion	Q1 Actuals	Q2 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Q2 Budget	Alignment		
□ M2	Asia (Asia region)	\$59,065,030	\$58,174,791	\$33,016,385	\$34,789,159	Default (Right)		
□ M3	Cornerate (Cornerate departmente)	¢11 706 000	67 070 000	Å6 100 070	Å6 000 007	Number format		
Ⅲ M4	Corporate (Corporate departments)	\$11,786,889	\$7,370,832	\$6,102,973	\$6,290,837			
□ M5	Europe (Europe region)	\$30,716,594	\$30,422,551	\$1,202,834	\$1,223,440	Default (Currency)	`	
□ M6	North Amorica (North Amorica ragio	a (North America region) \$760,989,716	\$750,407,151	\$153,881,599	\$139,551,224	Aggregation		
□ M7				\$133,001,399		Default (Sum)	~	
□ M8	1 - 4 of 4 items					D. J. Church		
□ M10						Data filter No filter defined	E	
Drag colum	nns from the					No litter defined		
Data Pa	nel to the finitions box					Enable filter		
	Initions box					Hide column		

Example web report after adding data columns

**NOTE:** If **Use fixed rows** is enabled for the grid, currently the Report Builder does not dynamically update the tables listed in the Data Panel based on the specified fixed row structure. If you drag and drop a column from a table that is not valid in the context of the fixed row structure, a generic error will occur when the Report Builder attempts to populate the grid.

#### Adding calculated columns

Calculated columns can be used to display totals, differences, percentages, and other calculations within a column of the report. Calculations can be based on columns from related tables that are eligible to be included in the report.

To add a calculated column to a web report:

1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, click the plus sign in the top right corner of the **Column Definitions** box, and then click **Add Calculated Column**.

	☆ ⑦
Build Parameters Filters	Refresh Data Preview Save
Corporate	Report Configuration General Advanced
	Title
+ •	Budget to Actuals
	Calculated Column
	Subtitle
Q1 Actuals Q2 Actuals Q1 Budget Q2 Budget	Through June 2022
\$6,989,316 \$5,939,730 \$5,416,397 \$5,334,331	Report description

- 2. At the top of the Add Calculated Column dialog, define the following properties:
  - Header: Enter the column header text for the calculated column. This is effectively the name of the calculated column. By default, the header text is "Calculation".
  - Numeric type: Select the desired numeric type for the calculated column. If this is left at **Default**, the default numeric type for calculated columns is Currency.

Add Calculate							×
Search tables	Search colum	Header	Difference	Numeric type	Percent	~	
<ul> <li>GL2020</li> <li>Related Table</li> </ul>	es						+-
<ul> <li>III Grid Column</li> </ul>	าร						

You can change these properties later using the Column Configuration properties in the Configuration Panel.

- 3. To create the calculation, drag and drop columns from the table tree on the left to the calculation canvas. See Defining calculations for more information.
- 4. When you are finished creating the calculated column, click **OK**.

The calculated column is added to the Column Definition box. By default, the new column is blank until you click **Refresh Data**.
- 5. If the calculated column is not in the desired location within the grid, drag and drop it within the Column Definition box to reorder the columns.
- 6. Use the **Column Configuration** properties in the Configuration Panel to configure display properties for the column, such as column width and alignment. For more information, see Configuring column properties for a web report.

By default, when you define a calculated column, that column is selected and its column properties display in the Configuration Panel. You can return to the column properties at any time by clicking the column name in the Column Definitions box.

AXIOM Intelligence Center								Q 4 🐼	
								☆	?
K Intelligence Center			Build Paramet	ers Filters				Refresh Data Preview S	ave
ata Context	Budget to Actuals			Corporate				Column Configuration	
GL2022								General Advanced	
Search tables Search columns	Through June 2022							Calculation	
⊞ GL2022	+	•					+ •	({Q1 Actuals} - {Q1 Budget}) / {Q1 Bud.	
🛱 Dimension Tables	WorldRegion	🖽 Q1 Actuals 🚥	🖽 Q1 Budget 🚥	Difference	🖽 Q2 Actuals 🚥	🖽 Q2 Budget 🚥	Difference	Header	
𝕎 Related Tables								Difference	
		4					-	Column width 120px	
	WorldRegion	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference		
	Asia (Asia region)	\$6,989,316	\$5,416,397	29.04%	\$5,939,730	\$5,334,331	11.35%	Alignment Default (Right)	
	Europe (Europe region)	\$473,158	\$340,531	38.95%	\$389,618	\$335,371	16.18%		
	North America (North America region)	\$32,766,656	\$35,609,235	-7.98%	\$26,180,604	\$35,068,189	-25.34%	Number format Percent	
		\$40,229,130	\$41,366,163	-2.75%	\$32,509,952	\$40,737,891	-20.20%	Data filter	E
	1 - 3 of 3 items							No filter defined	
								Enable filter	
								Hide column	
								Include in total row	
								Default (true)	

Example web report after creating a calculated column

#### Defining calculations

Using the **Add Calculated Column** dialog, you can build a calculation based on columns from related tables that are eligible to be included in the report. The column does not have to be present in the grid in order to be used in a calculation. Numeric values can also be used in the calculation.

The left-hand side of the dialog lists a table tree of available columns, while the right-hand side of the dialog—the calculation "canvas"—is where you build the calculation. To start the calculation:

- Drag and drop two columns out to the canvas. The two columns are separated by an operator selector.
- Select the desired operator.

You can continue building the calculation by dragging and dropping additional columns and selecting the operator. You can also do the following:

- **Numeric values**: To add a numeric value to the calculation, click the plus icon at the top right of the dialog. You can then move, reorder, or delete the numeric value just like columns.
- **Reorder items**: To change the order of columns in the calculation, drag and drop them on the canvas.
- **Parentheses**: To add parentheses to a part of the calculation, select **Add Parentheses** from the operator selector. The two columns affected by the operator will become enclosed in parentheses.
- **Delete items**: To delete an item, hover your cursor over the column and then click the trash can icon.

Search column name	Header	Difference Per	cent	Numeric type	Percent	•	
<ul> <li>I GL2020</li> <li>Related Tables</li> <li>Grid Columns</li> <li>Jan Actuals</li> <li>Jan Budget</li> </ul> Drag and drop columns from the tree to the canvas	( =.	Jan Actuals	Select call operators a parenth	≡ Jan Budget	Build the Iculation on the canvas area		Id numeric lues to the alculation

Example calculation in the calculation editor

Calculations can use the following operators: addition (+), subtraction (-), multiplication (\*), and division (/). Use parentheses to determine calculation order, such as: (GL2023.Q1-

BGT2023.Q1)/BGT2023.Q1.

Calculations can use the following columns:

- Numeric columns from the primary table, whether or not those columns are also in the grid.
- Numeric columns from related tables, whether or not those columns are also in the grid.

• Numeric columns from the grid, including other calculated columns. Grid columns display using the header text defined for the column.

If you use a table column from the grid instead of from the table itself, then the calculation will use the column as it is configured to display in the grid. For example, if the grid column has a column filter or uses an alternate aggregation, the calculation will be based on that modified version of the column.

#### NOTES:

- If you drag and drop a column from the primary table or a related table, it displays on the canvas using the column name only—such as M1. You can hover your cursor over the column box to see a tooltip with the full table.column name—such as GL2023.M1. If you drag and drop the column from the Grid Columns node, then it will display using the defined header text for the column.
- If you use a grid column in the calculation, then the grid column cannot be deleted from the grid because deleting it would cause the calculation to become invalid. An error message will display if you attempt to delete a referenced column from the grid. To resolve the issue, you can do one of the following: edit the calculation to remove the reference, delete the calculated column, or configure the grid column as hidden so that it can still be referenced in the calculation but not display in the report.

#### Editing calculated columns

You can edit an existing calculated column to change the calculation.

To edit a calculated column in a web report:

- 1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, click the calculated column in the Column Definitions box.
- 2. On the General tab of the Column Configuration properties, click the Edit icon *i* to the right of the Calculation box.

Column Co	nfiguration	
General	Advanced	
Calculation		
1101 1	als} - {Q1 Budget}) / {Q	

3. In the Edit Calculated Column dialog, edit the calculation as needed, then click OK.

## Pre-aggregation in calculated columns

You can pre-aggregate calculations in a calculated column. A pre-aggregate calculation is applied to data rows in the query before those rows are aggregated by the row dimension.

In this example, the sum of columns Q1 through Q4 have been summed up and presented in a new calculated column, Total Yearly Budget and the **Pre-Aggregation Calculation** button is selected.

Data Context		Budget for 2020			+ Add Secon	dary Title			Column Configuration	n	
BGT2020	1								General Adv	anced	
Search tables	Search columns	+ Add Subtitle							Calculation		
BGT2020		+	•					+ •	Q1 + Q4 + Q3 + Q2		-
<ul> <li>Dimension Tables</li> <li>Related Tables</li> </ul>		Dept …	Description …	🗖 Q1 🚥 🗖 Q2	••• 🗖 Q3 ••• 🗖 Q	4 ··· 🔲 Total Y	early Budget 🚥		Pre-Aggregati	on Calculation	
<ul> <li>Concentration</li> </ul>									Display Properties		^
		Dept	Description	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Total Yearly Budget	Total Yearly Budge	t	
		20000 (Corporate: Corporate)	Telephone	\$80,657	\$80,495	\$78,977	\$79,735	\$319,864	Column width 120p	v	
		21000 (Corporate Administration)	Travel	\$79,077	\$78,536	\$77,648	\$78,089	\$313,350	Alignment	^	
		22000 (Information Technologies)	Telephone	\$755,343	\$755,343	\$738,994	\$747,161	\$2,996,841	Default (Right)		
		23000 (Purchasing & Materials Mgmt)	Utilities	\$22,013	\$21,815	\$21,650	\$21,723	\$87,201	Hide column		
		24000 (Business Development)	Telephone	\$11,050	\$10,882	\$10,882	\$10,883	\$43,697			
		25000 (Finance)	Telephone	\$4,646	\$4,627	\$4,553	\$4,595	\$18,421	Formatting Propertie	es	~
		26000 (Portfolio Management)	Supplies	\$26,915	\$26,796	\$26,383	\$26,593	\$106,687	Data Properties		~
		27000 (Human Resources)	Telephone	\$4,551	\$4,452	\$4,394	\$28,645	\$42,042			
		28000 (Facilities)	Utilities	\$228,515	\$227,814	\$227,743	\$227,778	\$911,850			
		29000 (Legal)	Telephone	\$286,236	\$307,796	\$301,139	\$304,462	\$1,199,633			
				\$1,607,027	\$1,625,001	\$1,598,730	\$1,636,190	\$6,466,948	1		

se of pre-aggregation calculations impacts the total row, if it is enabled. Behavior is as follows:

- Post-aggregation calculations: The calculation is performed on the total row values of the source columns.
- Pre-aggregation calculations: The values in the calculated column are summed for presentation on the total row.
- Pre-aggregation calculations can use alternate aggregations if desired. The field is unhidden for the calculated column when pre-aggregation is enabled. If an alternate aggregation is set and then pre-aggregation is disabled, the alternate aggregation field is re-hidden and ignored.

## Additional column actions

Once data columns and calculated columns have been added to the grid, you can further adjust them as follows:

• **Reorder columns**: To reorder a column in the grid, drag and drop it to any location in the Column Definitions box. Note that you cannot drag and drop a column from the Column Definitions box to the Row Definitions box. If you accidentally dragged a column to the wrong box, you must remove the column and then drag and drop it again from the Data Panel.

- **Remove columns**: To remove a column from the grid, click the three-dots icon to the right of the column name and then select **Delete Column**. Use caution before removing a calculated column—if you later decide you want to re-add the column, you will need to re-create the calculation from scratch.
- **Copy columns**: To copy a column in the grid, click the three-dots icon to the right of the column name and then select **Clone Column**. A copy of the column is created to the right of the original column. The new column has the same properties as the original column, except that the text **(Copy)** is appended to the header text. You can modify the new column as needed in order to differentiate it from the original, such as to define a filter for the column, or to modify the calculation.

**NOTE:** If you copy a table column in the grid (as opposed to a calculated column), it is not possible to point the column to a different table column. The purpose of copying a table column is to display multiple instances of the same table column, but using different filters or different aggregation types.

- **Group columns**: If you want a set of columns to display under a group header, you can define a column group and then add the columns to that group. For more information, see Defining column groups for a web report.
- **Configure columns**: To configure display properties for a column, select the column name in the Column Definitions box, then use the **Column Configuration** properties in the Configuration Panel. For more information, see Configuring column properties for a web report.

# Defining column groups for a web report

You can define column groups in web reports so that certain columns can display together under a group header. For example, your report might have several actuals columns followed by several budget columns, and you want these columns to display under the group headers "Actuals" and "Budget".

To define a column group, first you add the group "container" to the Column Definitions box of the grid, then you add table columns to the group container.

To define a column group:

1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, click the plus sign in the top right corner of the Column Definitions box, and then click **Add Column Group**.

			A 🗛 🚮
			☆ ⑦
Build Parameters Filters			Refresh Data Preview Save V
Corporate			Report Configuration General Advanced
			Title
		+ •	Budget to Actuals
Is ••• ] [ Q2 Actuals ••• ] [ Difference •••	Q1 Budget 🚥 🖾 Q2 Bud	dget [ Add Calco	ulated Column
		Add Colu	mn Group
		+ 5	Subtitle
Q2 Actuals Difference	Q1 Budget Q2 Budget	Difference	Through June 2022
\$5,939,730 29.04%	\$5,416,397 \$5,334,331	11.35% F	Report description

A new empty column group is added to the Column Definitions box.

Difference ····	🖽 New Column Group 🚥
	Drop Columns Here
•	Difference ***

2. Drag and drop the desired columns into the column group. You can drag and drop columns that are already in the Column Definitions box, or you can drag and drop columns from the Data Panel directly to the group.

New Column Group	)		
🗖 Q2 Actuals 🚥	🗖 Q2 Budget 🚥	Difference	

3. Select the column group box, and use the **Column Group Configuration** panel to define the header text and other properties. See the following section for more information on the available properties.

The column group displays in the grid with its child columns underneath.

Intelligence Center			Build Param	eters Filters				Refresh Data Preview	Save
GL2022	Budget to Actuals			Corporat	e			Column Group Configuration	
Search tables Search columns	Through June 2022							General Header text	
▶ ⊞ GL2022		+ •					+ •	Q1	
<ul> <li>Dimension Tables</li> <li>% Related Tables</li> </ul>	WorldRegion …	Q1	ils 🚥 🔲 Q1 Budg	et 🚥 🔲 Differen	0		2 Budget 🚥 🔲	Hide column Autowrap header text	
		4					Þ	Header Alignment	
	WorldRegion		Q1			Q2		Default	`
	wonukegion	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actua	s Q2 Budget	Difference	Data Filter	E
	Asia (Asia region)	\$6,989,316	\$5,416,397	29.04%	\$5,939,73	0 \$5,334,331	11.35%	No filters defined	
	Europe (Europe region)	\$473,158	\$340,531	38.95%	\$389,61	8 \$335,371	16.18%		
	North America (North America region)	\$32,766,656	\$35,609,235	-7.98%	\$26,180,60	4 \$35,068,189	-25.34%		
		\$40,229,130	\$41,366,163	-2.75%	\$32,509,95	2 \$40,737,891	-20.20%		
	1 - 3 of 3 items								

Example web report with column groups

Once a column group has been created, you can work with it as follows:

- **Reordering groups**: To reorder a column group, drag and drop the group to another location within the Column Definitions box.
- **Deleting groups**: To delete a column group, click the three-dots icon in the top right corner of the group box and then select **Delete Group**. However, if you still want to use the columns in the group, you should drag and drop the columns out of the group before deleting the group. If you delete the group with columns in it, all of the columns will be deleted as well.
- **Copying groups**: To copy a column group, click the three-dots icon in the top right corner of the group box and then select **Clone Group**. A copy of the group is created to the right of the original group, including copies of the child columns within the group. The new group has the same properties as the original group, except that the text **(Copy)** is appended to the header text. You can modify the new group as needed in order to differentiate it from the original, such as to define a filter for the group, or to populate the group with different child columns.

**NOTE:** If a calculation in the column group references another column in the group, then when the group is cloned the calculation in the new group is updated to point to the corresponding column in the new group.

- **Configuring groups**: To configure display properties for a column group, select the group in the Column Definitions box, then use the **Column Group Configuration** properties in the Configuration Panel.
- **Nested groups**: Currently, nested groups are not allowed. You cannot drag and drop a group within another group.

You can work with columns within the group as follows:

- Adding columns: You can continue to add columns by dragging and dropping them into the group box. You can also copy columns within the group.
- **Removing columns**: You can drag and drop columns out of the column group box to remove them from the group. If you don't want the column to be in the report at all, you can delete the column as normal.
- **Reordering columns**: You can reorder columns in the group by dragging and dropping them within the group box.
- **Configuring columns**: Columns in a column group can be configured as normal. Select the column box within the group box to bring up the **Column Configuration** properties in the Configuration Panel.

## Column group properties

The following column group properties are available for web reports on the **General** tab of the **Column Group Configuration** panel:

Item	Description
Header	The header text to display on the group header. Enter the desired header text.
Hide column	Specifies whether the column group is hidden in the report:
	<ul> <li>If enabled, then the group is hidden in the report. The group remains visible in the Column Definitions box so that you can continue to configure the group as needed.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If disabled (default), then the group is visible.</li> </ul>
Autowrap header text	<ul> <li>Specifies whether header text wraps:</li> <li>If enabled, then header text that exceeds the group width will wrap.</li> <li>If disabled (default), then header text that exceeds the group width is truncated. The user can resize the group wider to view the full header text.</li> </ul>
Header alignment	The alignment of the header text over the columns in the group. Select one of the following: <b>Default, Left, Right, Center</b> . Group headers use center alignment by default.

Item	Description
Data filter	Optional. Defines a filter to limit the data shown in the columns within this group. This is equivalent to defining the same data filter at the column level for each column in the group. For more information, see Using group filters.

### Using group filters

The **Data filter** property can be used to filter the data coming into the columns within a particular group. This filter only impacts the data in the group columns; it has no impact on the rest of the report.

To filter the data in a group:

- 1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, select the group that you want to filter.
- 2. In the **Column Group Configuration** panel, click the **Edit** link over the **Data filter** box to open the Filter Wizard.
- 3. In the Filter Wizard, create the filter as needed. For more information on how to use the Filter Wizard to create a filter, see Using the Filter Wizard in the Report Builder.

The tables available in the Filter Wizard depend on whether the current group consists of columns from a single table or multiple tables, and the primary table specified as the Data Context of the report:

- If the group consists of columns from a single table, the Filter Wizard shows that table and its dimension tables.
- If the group consists of columns from multiple tables, the Filter Wizard shows the following tables:
  - If the group uses columns from multiple tables, and the primary table is a data table, the Filter Wizard shows the common dimension tables for the tables involved in the calculation.

EXCEPTION: If the group includes a column from a dimension table, then the Filter Wizard shows the common dimension tables for all related tables used in the report, regardless of whether the related table is used in this particular group.

 If the group uses columns from multiple tables, and the primary table is a reference table, the Filter Wizard shows the primary table and its dimension tables.

EXCEPTION: If the group only consists of columns from related tables (no columns from the primary table or its dimension tables), then the Filter Wizard shows the common dimension tables for all related tables used in the group.

If the group contains a calculated column, the columns used in the calculation are considered as part of the group.

You can create a filter using any column on the available tables. If you choose to use a predefined global filter from the Filter Library, the global filter must be based on the same eligible table columns.

4. Once the filter statement is complete, click **OK** to close the Filter Wizard and add the filter to the **Data filter** box.

Once a filter has been defined for a group, you can modify it as follows:

- To edit the filter, click the Edit link over the Data filter box again and change the filter within the Filter Wizard.
- To delete the filter, click the Clear link over the Data filter box.

Data filters defined at the group level are combined with any filters defined at the column level. If the group contains calculated columns, the group filter is applied to all columns referenced in the calculation. If the calculated column references grid columns, the group filter is combined with any other filters applied to the grid columns (either at the column level or at the group level, if the column belongs to a different group). Additionally, if a data filter is defined at the report level, it is also applied. All relevant filters are combined using AND to determine the data that can display in a particular column.

If a group has a defined filter, then a filter icon displays next to the group name in the sample grid of the Report Canvas. This icon is intended to let report builders know about the group filter at-a-glance. The icon does not display in the report viewer.

# Defining report titles and other web report properties

Using the **Report Configuration** panel in the Report Builder, you can define titles for web reports and configure other web report properties.

<ul> <li>Intelligence Cen</li> </ul>	ter			Build Parame	ters Filters				Refresh Data Preview Save
ata Context		Budget to Actuals			Corporate				Report Configuration
GL2022	1								General Advanced
Search tables	Search columns	Through June 2022							Title
■ GL2022		+	- •					+ •	Budget to Actuals
Dimension Table	s	WorldRegion	🖽 Q1			🖽 Q2			Secondary title
<ul> <li>Related Tables</li> </ul>			Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Act	tuals 🚥 🖽 Q2 Budg	jet 🚥 🗖 Differe	Corporate
			•					۱.	Subtitle
		WorldRegion		Q1			Q2		Through June 2022
			Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference	Report description
		Asia (Asia region)	\$6,989,316	\$5,416,397	29.04%	\$5,939,730	\$5,334,331	11.35%	
		Europe (Europe region)	\$473,158	\$340,531	38.95%	\$389,618	\$335,371	16.18%	File group context E
		North America (North America region)	\$32,766,656	\$35,609,235	-7.98%	\$26,180,604	\$35,068,189	-25.34%	No file group selected
			\$40,229,130	\$41,366,163	-2.75% \$	32,509,952	\$40,737,891	-20.20%	Report data
		1 - 3 of 3 items							Live data with manual refresh
									C Live data with auto refresh
									O Mock data

Example Report Configuration panel

## Defining report titles

Each web report can have a defined title, subtitle, and secondary title. You can also define an optional report description.

Title Budget to Actuals Through June 2022	Seconda Corporate						
WorldRegion Subtitle		Q1		Q2			
wonukegion							
	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference	
Asia (Asia region)	Q1 Actuals \$6,989,316	Q1 Budget \$5,416,397	Difference 29.04%	Q2 Actuals \$5,939,730	Q2 Budget \$5,334,331	Difference 11.35%	
Asia (Asia region) Europe (Europe region)							
	\$6,989,316	\$5,416,397	29.04%	\$5,939,730	\$5,334,331	11.35%	

Example titles as they display in a rendered report

To configure report titles for a web report:

• On the **Builder** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, click on the box for the title text that you want to edit, then type the desired title text. Once you are finished, you can press Enter to exit the box (or press Tab, or click outside of the box).

The Title, Secondary Title, and Subtitle are all defined in separate boxes that roughly correspond to where the titles display in the rendered report.

New report	
+ Add Subtitle	
	+ • +

*Click on the title boxes to edit the report titles* 

When you click on a report title box to make it active, the **Report Configuration** properties load in the right-hand Configuration Panel. The titles defined for the report also display in this panel, and can also

be edited here. Any edits made in the title boxes are reflected in the Report Configuration properties, and vice versa. An optional **Report description** can be defined in this panel, or you can define it when saving the report.

AXIOM Intelligence Center								Д	¢ 🗸			
Intelligence Center			Build Param	eters Filters				Refresh Data Pr	☆ eview	⑦ Save		
Data Context	Budget to Actuals			Corporate				Report Configuration				
GL2022								General Advanced				
Search tables Search columns	Through June 2022							Title Budget to Actuals				
	+	. ▼ □ Q1			🗖 Q2		+ *	+  Budget to Actuals Secondary title				
<ul> <li>Related Tables</li> </ul>		Q1 Actuals	iffere Corporate									
		4		<ul> <li>Subtitle</li> </ul>								
	WorldRegion	Q1 Q2						Through June 2022				
		Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference	Report description				
	Asia (Asia region)	\$6,989,316	\$5,416,397	29.04%	\$5,939,730	\$5,334,331	11.35%					
	Europe (Europe region)	\$473,158	\$340,531	38.95%	\$389,618	\$335,371	16.18%	File group context				
	North America (North America region)	\$32,766,656	\$35,609,235	-7.98%	\$26,180,604	\$35,068,189	-25.34%	No file group selected				
		\$40,229,130	\$41,366,163	-2.75%	\$32,509,952	\$40,737,891	-20.20%	Report data				
	1 - 3 of 3 items							Live data with manual refres     Live data with auto refresh     Mock data	h			

**NOTE:** Currently, it is not possible to use variables in web report titles.

## Report Configuration properties

Using the **Report Configuration** panel, you can define a variety of properties for the web report, such as to associate the report with a file group or to configure database properties for the report. The following table provides a reference for each property in the panel.

To access the **Report Configuration** panel, select the **Build** tab in the Report Builder and then click the gear button in the top right. The panel is organized into two tabs, **General** and **Advanced**.

#### General report configuration properties

Item	Description
Title	The main title for the report. This text displays at the top of the report, over the grid.

Item	Description				
Secondary title	Optional. The secondary title for the report. If defined, this text displays in the same line as the main title, separated by a horizontal pipe character. For example:				
	Title   Secondary Title				
Subtitle	Optional. The subtitle for the report. This text displays in smaller font underneath the main title.				
Description	Optional. A description for the report.				
File group context	Optional. The file group associated with the report. The file group context can be used to report on process management information, or to generate hyperlinks to plan files in the file group.				
Report data	Specifies the data display behavior for the Report Builder. This option only applies to the current Report Builder session, and is not saved in the report.				

**NOTE:** If you created a web report using the Report Builder in version 2021.2 or 2021.3, that report may have had one or more **Report Filters** defined in the Report Configuration properties. These filters are now defined on the Filters tab. Your existing filters have been migrated to this new location.

## Advanced report configuration properties

The Advanced tab is only visible to administrators and support users.

Item	Description
Current Data Required	This setting is for a pre-release feature that is not yet generally available.

## Filtering data in web reports

You can define report-level filters to limit the data shown in a web report. There are three different types of report filters:

- **General filters**: General filters are based on reference tables, and impact all tables in the report that look up to the reference tables used in the filter.
- **Table-specific filters**: Table-specific filters only impact a single specific table used in the report. For example, if a report has data from GL2023 and BGT2023, you can define a table-specific filter that only filters one of those tables.

• **Column value filters**: Column-specific filters only impact a single specific table used in the report. A Filter field displays in the Column Value Configuration area. This filter only works for columns with a static source type. Column filters are ignored if the column source type is changed to dynamic.

Report-level filters are defined on the **Filters** tab of the Report Builder. Any existing filters are displayed in the left-hand pane. You can select a filter to view and edit its properties in the right-hand pane.

AXIOM Intelligence Center ~		Д	¢	CA	H
				☆	?
Intelligence Center	Build Parameters Filters		Preview	Sa	ave 🔻
All Filters + Add • Revenue Filter General filter Budget Filter Table specific filter (BGT2022)	Revenue Filter General filter				
	Filter Criteria     Edit       DEPT.WorldRegion = 'Europe' AND (ACCT.Category = 'Revenue' OR     ACCT.FcstAcct = 'Program Revenue')				

Filters tab of Report Builder

**NOTE:** Filters cannot be reordered in the Filters tab. Filters are listed in the order they are created. The order has no impact in how the filters are applied.

Filters can also be defined at the individual column level and group level. In this case, the filter only applies to the data in the affected column or group. For more information, see Using column filters and Using group filters.

#### Creating report filters for a web report

You can create as many filters as needed for your web report.

To create a report filter:

- 1. On the Filters tab of the Report Builder, click the Add button and then select the type of filter that you want to create:
  - **General Filter**: Define a filter that is based on one or more dimension tables, to filter all tables in the report that look up to the dimension tables.
  - **Table-Specific Filter**: Define a filter that only impacts a specific table used in the report. Select the table from the fly-out menu. This menu only lists non-dimension tables that are used in the report. The primary table is only listed if it is a data table.

Intelligence Center			Build	Parameters	Filters
All Filters	+ Add <del>•</del>				
Revenue Filter	General Filter	e Filter General filter			
General filter	Table-Specific F				
		BGT2022			
		Description			

Creating a report-level filter

The Filter Wizard opens automatically after you make your selection.

2. In the Filter Wizard, create the filter as needed. For more information on how to use the Filter Wizard to create a filter, see Using the Filter Wizard in the Report Builder.

The tables available in the Filter Wizard depend on the type of filter you are creating, and the primary table specified as the Data Context of the report:

- If you are defining a general filter, the Filter Wizard shows the following tables:
  - If the primary table is a data table, the Filter Wizard only shows the dimension tables for the report.
  - If the primary table is a reference table, the Filter Wizard shows the primary table of the report and the dimension tables for the report.
- If you are defining a table-specific filter, the Filter Wizard shows the table that you selected from the menu and its dimension tables.

Additionally, if the report is configured to report on Process Management columns, then these columns are also available to define general or table-specific filters. For more information, see Reporting on process information in web reports.

You can create a filter using any column on the available tables or on the Process Management columns (if present). If you choose to use a predefined global filter from the Filter Library, the global filter must be based on the same eligible table columns.

- 3. Once the filter statement is complete, click **OK** to close the Filter Wizard and add the filter to the Filters tab.
- 4. Optional. Edit the filter properties as desired. You can give the filter a specific name, define an optional filter description, and toggle the filter as enabled or disabled. By default, the newly created filter is enabled and will filter the report data. See the following section for more information on editing the filter properties.

## Editing existing filters

You can edit all filter properties except for the filter type. It is not possible to convert a general filter to a table-specific filter or vice versa.

To edit an existing filter:

1. On the Filters tab of the Report Builder, in the left-hand pane, select the filter box for the filter that you want to edit.

The properties for the selected filter display in the right-hand pane.

2. Edit the filter properties as needed.

#### Filter properties

Item	Description
Name	The name of the filter. By default, the name is set as follows:
	<ul> <li>General filters use the name General Report Filter.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Table-specific filters use the name TableName Filter.</li> </ul>
	You can change this name to something more descriptive as needed. Filter names only display in the Report Builder.
Description	Optional. If desired, you can define a description to document the purpose and scope of the filter.

ltem	Description
Enabled	Specifies whether the filter is enabled. By default, filters are enabled and will impact the data shown in the report.
	If desired, you can toggle the filter to disabled in order to keep the filter in the report properties for future use, but temporarily disable it. When you are ready to use the filter again, you can toggle it back to enabled.
	While the filter is disabled, the filter box in the left-hand pane is grayed out. The filter will not be applied to the data queries in the report. However, you can continue to edit the other filter properties while the filter is disabled.
Filter Criteria	The filter criteria statement for the filter. Click <b>Edit</b> to edit the filter within the Filter Wizard.

If you only want to edit the filter criteria statement, you can hover your cursor over the top right corner of the box, and click the Edit icon to open the Filter Wizard directly.

All Filters	+ Add •
Revenue Filter General filter	<b>*</b>

## Deleting existing filters

You can delete a report filter if it is no longer needed. Remember that you can disable the filter instead, if you want to temporarily remove the filter without deleting it from the report.

To delete an existing filter:

- 1. On the Filters tab of the Report Builder, in the left-hand pane, locate the filter that you want to delete.
- 2. Hover your cursor over the top right corner of the box, then click the Delete icon to delete the filter.



The filter is deleted from the report.

### Filter notes

General filters and table-specific filters have certain setup and behavior differences.

#### General filters

General filters are based on reference tables:

- If the primary table is a data table, you can define a general filter using any reference table that the primary table looks up to. Basically, this means the tables listed in the Dimension Tables node of the report.
- If the primary table is a reference table, you can define a general filter using the primary table itself, or using any reference table that the primary table looks up to.

When creating the filter, you can use any column on the reference table, including multi-level lookups through the reference table. For example, if the primary table looks up to Dept, the filter could be Dept.Dept=24000 or Dept.Region='West' or Dept.Region.RegionType=1.

The general filter applies to all tables in the report that look up to the reference table (as well as the reference table itself). For example, imagine that you have a report that compares GL2023 to BGT2023. You want to define a filter so that the report only shows data for the West Region. In this case you can define a general filter on the Dept table of Dept.Region='West'. Since both tables look up to the Dept table, the general filter will apply to both tables and limit the data in the report.

#### NOTES:

- If the primary data table looks up to multiple reference tables, the general filter can be a compound filter that uses multiple reference tables. In this case, the filter will only apply to data tables that look up to both reference tables. For example, imagine you define a general filter of Dept.Region='West' and Acct.Category='Revenue'. If the report contains a table that only looks up to the Acct table but not the Dept table, then the filter will not apply to that table and no error will occur.
- If you define a general filter and then change the primary table of the report to a table that has different dimension tables, the filter will not cause an error. If the existing filter does not apply to any tables in the report, it will simply be ignored.
- If the report uses process management columns, you can create a general filter with these columns.

#### Table-specific filters

Table-specific filters apply only to the selected table for the filter. All other tables are unaffected by the filter.

The table-specific filter can use any column in the table or its dimension tables. For example, if the selected table is BGT2020, the filter could be BGT2020.m1<>0 or BGT2020.Acct.Category='Revenue' or Dept.Region='West'.

Intelligence Center and Web Reports Guide

Table-specific filters can be defined on any table used in the report, except for the following tables. General filters can be defined for these tables instead.

- Reference tables that are Dimension Tables for the report.
- The primary table, if the primary table is a reference table.

**NOTE:** If you define a table-specific filter and then later edit the report configuration so that the table no longer has any columns in the report, the filter will not cause an error. It will simply be ignored.

## Using report parameters in web reports

Using report parameters, you can enable end users to dynamically change the data showing in the report. The advantages of using report parameters include:

- You can more efficiently cover your reporting needs using fewer reports, which means less time needed to develop and maintain reports.
- Report users are more in control over the data they want to see in the report.

What can report parameters impact in the report?

Report parameters can be used to dynamically impact the following items in the report:

- The row dimensions used in the report can change dynamically by using Column List report parameters. For example, the user can dynamically change the row dimension to show data by different groupings such as department, account, region, entity, and so on.
- The data in the report can be dynamically filtered by using Column Value report parameters. For example, the user can select one or more values in a column—such as departments, accounts, or entities—and the report is dynamically filtered to show only the data for the selected values.

Reports can use either or both types of parameters as needed to provide the desired level of interactivity.

How are report parameters defined?

Report parameters are defined in the Report Builder using the **Parameters** tab. Using this tab, you can create, configure, and delete parameters as needed. When configuring parameters, you define properties such as:

- The type of parameter, Column List or Column Value
- The name of the parameter and the display text to use when presenting parameters to report users
- Whether the parameter is optional or required—if required, then the report does not display data until the user makes a selection

- For Column List parameters, the list of table columns to associate with the parameter, and an optional default column selection
- For Column Value parameters, the column to associate with the parameter:
  - You can select a specific column or you can tie the Column Value parameter to a Column List parameter, so that Column Value parameter dynamically uses the selected column
  - ° You can specify whether users can select a single value in the column or multiple values

AXIOM Intelligence Center								¢	CA	H
									☆	?
Intelligence Center		Build Paramet	ters	Filters				Preview	v Sa	ave 🔻
All Parameters + Add • Dept * Column List Grouping for analysis Category * Column Value Account category to analyze	Category         Name         Category         Display prompt         Account category to analyze         Image: Column Value Configuration         Source column type         Static column         O Jynamic column         Selected Column         ACCT.Category Edit         Image: Allow multi-select         Description display format         Value - Description									

Example Parameters tab to define report parameters in the Report Builder

#### How do users interact with report parameters?

When users view a report with report parameters, the parameters display in a panel along the left-hand side of the report. Users can make selections and apply them to dynamically refresh the report with data that meets their selections. If a parameter is required, then the user must interact with the report parameter panel before the report shows any data.

AXIOM Intelligence Center								Д	¢	CA	Ш
										☆	?
Report Parameters Grouping for analysis								Edit	Expo	rt S	hare
Vice President   Account category to analyze	Budget to Actuals Through June 2022										
Revenue	Vice President +	Q1 2022									
	Vice President	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference				
	Bree Sigman	\$6,015,031	\$6,954,348	-13.51%	\$6,437,818	\$6,848,978	-6.00%				
	Evan Simpson	\$12,810,352	\$13,195,690	-2.92%	\$5,298,342	\$12,995,756	-59.23%				
	Frank Martinez	\$161,693	\$331,567	-51.23%	\$262,089	\$326,543	-19.74%				
	Javier Grant	\$5,018,848	\$4,165,304	20.49%	\$4,119,925	\$4,102,194	0.43%				

Example web report using report parameters

## Managing report parameters

Using the **Parameters** tab in the Report Builder, you can add, edit, reorder, and delete report parameters. Report parameters enable reports to update dynamically based on selections made by report users.

When you select the Parameters tab in a report, any existing parameters display in the **All Parameters** panel along the left-hand side. You can select a parameter box to view the properties for that parameter.

AXIOM Intelligence Center		Parameters tab to manage report parameters Build Parameters Filters	□ A O H A O C O Preview Save ▼
All Parameters + Add • Dept × Column List Grouping for analysis Category × Account category to analyze Add new parameters and work with existing parameters	Category         Name         Category         Display prompt         Account category to analyze         Column category to analyze         Image: Column type         Static column         Surce column type         Image: Static column         Opnamic column         Accord category Edit         Image: Category Edit         Description display format         Value - Description	General parameter properties	

Example Parameters tab in the Report Builder

This topic describes the basic features available to manage report parameters in a report. For more information on how to configure and use specific parameter types, see the following topics:

- Using Column List report parameters
- Using Column Value report parameters

## Adding report parameters

You can add as many report parameters as needed to provide the desired interactivity for the report. Keep in mind that all report parameters in the report are active and will display to end users. To add a report parameter:

- On the **Parameters** tab of the Report Builder, click **Add**, then select the type of parameter to create.
  - Column List: Define a list of columns that report users can select from. The selected column can be used as dynamic row dimension in the report, or as the column for a Column Value parameter.
  - **Column Value**: Select a column that report users can select values from. The selected values are then applied to the report as a report filter.

Intelligence Center	
All Parameters	+ Add ▼
	Column List
	Column Value

The new parameter is added to the **All Parameters** panel along the left-hand side. You can now configure the properties for the parameter, which display in the main area to the right.

#### General parameter properties

Item	Description
Name	The name of the parameter. By default, this is set to <b>Report Parameter</b> (Type). You can edit this name as needed.
	The parameter name does not display to report users; it is solely for use in the Report Builder. You should give the parameter a name that indicates its purpose.
Display prompt	The prompt text to display to report users in the Report Parameters panel. By default, this is set to <b>Report Parameter (Type)</b> . You can edit this name as needed.
	You should define display prompt text that helps users understand the purpose of the parameter. For example, "Select a department".

Item	Description
Required	Specifies whether the parameter is required.
	<ul> <li>If enabled, then the report does not refresh with data until this parameter has a value. The message "Waiting for input" displays in the report grid until all required parameters have a value.</li> </ul>
	In the Report Parameters panel, the <b>Apply</b> button does not become available until all required parameters have a value. Additionally, required parameters cannot be cleared.
	<ul> <li>If disabled (default), then users can optionally leave this parameter blank (unset) when applying parameter values. The report can refresh data without this parameter.</li> </ul>

#### Parameter-specific properties

The remaining parameter properties depend on the parameter type. For more information, see:

- Using Column Value report parameters
- Using Column List report parameters

Editing report parameters

You can edit existing report parameters as needed.

To edit a report parameter:

• On the Parameters tab of the Report Builder, select the parameter that you want to edit in the All Parameters panel.

The current configuration for the parameter displays in the main area. You can edit the parameter properties as needed.

#### Reordering report parameters

When users view a report with parameters, the parameters are listed in the Report Parameters panel in the order that they display in the Report Builder. You can reorder the parameters as needed to change how they display to report users.

To reorder report parameters:

• On the **Parameters** tab of the Report Builder, select the parameter box that you want to move, then drag and drop the box to a new location in the list.

**NOTE:** If you have a Column Value parameter that is dependent on a Column List parameter, the Column List parameter should be located before (above) the Column Value parameter.

## Deleting report parameters

You can delete existing report parameters if they are no longer needed. Remember that all parameters are active and will display to report users, so if a parameter is not needed the only option to hide it from report users is to delete it.

To delete a report parameter:

• On the **Parameters** tab of the Report Builder, in the **All Parameters** panel, click the **X** icon in the right-hand corner of the parameter that you want to delete.

## Using Column List report parameters

When you use a Column List report parameter, you define a list of table columns to allow the report user to select a column. The user's selected column can then be applied to the report in one of the following ways:

- The selected column can be applied to the report as a row dimension. This allows the report user to dynamically change the row dimension for the report, so that the same report can be used to view data by different dimensional groupings such as department, region, or entity. In order to do this, you must configure the report with a dynamic column for the row dimension, and then link the dynamic column to the Column List report parameter.
- The selected column can be applied to a Column Value parameter. This allows the report user to select a value or values from the column to be dynamically applied as a report filter and change the data shown in the report. In order to do this, you must configure the report with a Column Value parameter, then link the Column Value parameter to the Column List parameter.

When a user views the report with a Column List report parameter, the list of columns is displayed in a drop-down list, using the header text as defined for the column.

/P	~
WorldRegion	*
Dept	
VP	

Example Column List parameter in the Report Parameters panel

## Defining a Column List report parameter

Column List report parameters are defined on the **Parameters** tab of the Report Builder. You can define as many Column List parameters as needed for the report.

To create a Column List parameter:

1. In the Report Builder, select the Parameters tab.

2. Click Add > Column List.

The new parameter is added to the **All Parameters** panel along the left-hand side. The properties for the parameter now display in the main area.

3. Complete the following general properties for the parameter:

Description
The name of the parameter. By default, this is set to <b>Report</b> Parameter (Type). You can edit this name as needed.
The parameter name does not display to report users; it is solely for use in the Report Builder. You should give the parameter a name that indicates its purpose.
The prompt text to display to report users in the Report Parameters panel. By default, this is set to <b>Report Parameter (Type)</b> . You can edit this name as needed.
You should define display prompt text that helps users understand the purpose of the parameter. For example, "Select a department".
Specifies whether the parameter is required.
<ul> <li>If enabled, then the report does not refresh with data until this parameter has a value. The message "Waiting for input" displays in the report grid until all required parameters have a value.</li> </ul>
In the Report Parameters panel, the <b>Apply</b> button does not become available until all required parameters have a value. Additionally, required parameters cannot be cleared.
<ul> <li>If disabled (default), then users can optionally leave this parameter blank (unset) when applying parameter values. The report can refresh data without this parameter.</li> </ul>

4. In the Column List Configuration section, complete the following parameter-specific properties:

required.

Item	Description
Selected columns	The selected columns for the parameter. Click Edit to select columns in the Select Columns dialog.
	<ul> <li>Use the table treeview in the left-hand panel of the dialog to locate the columns that you want to use. You can select any column from the primary table, a dimension table, or a related table. You can use the search boxes at the top of the panel to search by table names or by column names.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Once you locate a column that you want to use, drag the column to the middle Selected Columns panel.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>For each selected column, define Header text in the right-hand Column Properties panel. This header text is displayed in the Column List drop-down when users select a column from the list. If the Column List parameter is linked to a dynamic column, this text is also used as the header text for the dynamic column within the report grid.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>When the columns are presented to report users in a drop-down list, they will be displayed in the order listed here (top to bottom). To reorder columns, click on the drag handle in the left-hand side of the column box, and then drag and drop the column to a new location within the list.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>After selecting and configuring the columns, click OK to return to the Report Builder. The selected columns now display in the Selected columns box.</li> </ul>
	<b>NOTE:</b> If the primary table is a data table, and a selected column looks up to a dimension table for the primary table, the column reference is automatically "elevated" so that it uses the lookup dimension table instead of the source table. For example, if the primary table is GL2022, and you select either GL2022.Acct or BGT2022.Acct, the column reference is elevated to Acct.Acct. This elevation is done so that the column is valid for use as a row dimension, and so that any filter resulting from the column is applied as a general filter affecting all tables that look up to the dimension table.
Default value	Optional. The default value for the parameter. When a report user opens the report, the parameter will use this value by default.
	You can select any of the columns in the <b>Selected columns</b> list to use as the default value, or you can leave it blank to have no default value.

**IMPORTANT:** The columns selected for the Column List parameter must be valid within the context of how you intend to use the parameter. If the parameter will be used with a dynamic column, then all of the selected columns must be valid as row dimensions within the report configuration. If the parameter will be used with a Column Value parameter, then all of the selected columns must be valid to be used as filters within the report configuration. If a column in the list is not valid for use as a row dimension or a filter, an error message will display when the user attempts to apply that parameter selection to the report. As the report designer, you should test your parameters to verify that they work as intended within the report.

AXIOM Intelligence Center		Д	¢	CA	ш
				☆	?
Intelligence Center	Build Parameters Filters		Previe	w Sa	ave 🔻
All Parameters + Add • DeptGroup *	DeptGroup				
Column List Grouping for analysis	Name DeptGroup				
Category X Column Value Account category to analyze	Display prompt				
	Grouping for analysis  Required				
	Column List Configuration Selected columns Edit				
	WorldRegion (DEPT.WorldRegion) Country (DEPT.Country)				
	Region (DEPT.Region)				
	Vice President (DEPT.VP) Manager (DEPT.Manager) Dept (DEPT.Dept)				
	Default value				
	Dept × ·				

Example Column List parameter with a list of columns and a specified default value

## Using a Column List parameter with a dynamic column

In order to use a Column List parameter to dynamically change the row dimension of the report, you must:

- Add a dynamic column as a row dimension for the report
- Link the Column List parameter to the dynamic column

This configuration is only possible when using row dimensions, meaning the report rows are dynamically generated based on the row dimension columns. If you are using a fixed row structure in the report, then the option to add a dynamic column is not available.

Web reports can use one or more row dimension columns. When using dynamic columns, all of the row dimensions can be dynamic, or you can have a mix of dynamic and fixed row dimensions.

To define a dynamic column:

- 1. In the Report Builder, select the Build tab.
- 2. Click the plus icon over the Row Dimensions box, then select Add Dynamic Column.

New Report	
+ Add Subtitle	e
	+ •
Row Dimensions	Add Dynamic Column 2 •••

A column box labeled Dynamic is added to the **Row Dimensions** box.



3. In the right-hand **Column Configuration** panel, from the **Dynamic column parameter** list, select the Column List parameter to use with the dynamic column. Parameters are listed by name as defined on the Parameters tab.

Column Configuration	
General	
Dynamic column parameter	
DeptGroup	~
Default column	
DEPT.Dept	

By default, Axiom automatically selects the first available Column List parameter and uses the default value defined for that parameter. If the parameter does not have a defined default value, the Report Builder uses the first column in the list of columns defined for the parameter. This is because the Report Builder must be able to associate the dynamic column with an actual table column in order to refresh data.

If no Column List parameters are defined, or if the Column List parameter does not have a defined list of columns, then the report cannot be refreshed with data until this issue is resolved.

- 4. Complete the remaining Column Configuration properties as needed. Note the following:
  - The **Header** property and the related header properties on the Advanced tab are not available for dynamic columns. The column header text for each column in the column list is defined when configuring the Column List parameter.
  - You can optionally enable **Show description** and select a **Description display format** for the dynamic column. These options will apply if the selected column for the Column List parameter has an associated description column.

The following example shows a web report configured with a dynamic row dimension column, linked to a Column List report parameter. The grid is refreshed with data using the default column specified for the report parameter.

								☆ ③
Intelligence Center		Bu	ild Parameters	Filters				Refresh Data Preview Save
GL2022	Budget to Actuals		+	Add Seconda	ary Title			Column Configuration
Search tables Search columns	Through June 2020							Dynamic column parameter
▶ ⊞ GL2022	+ *	•					+ •	DeptGroup
Dimension Tables	Dynamic	🖽 Q1 2022		•	• 🔲 Q2 2022			Default column
Related Tables		🖽 Q1 Actuals 🚥	🖽 Q1 Budget 🚥	Difference ····	D Q2 Actua	als 🚥 🔲 Q2 Budget	🗖	DEPT.Dept
		۲					•	Column width 250
	Dynamic		Q1 2022			Q2 2022		Alignment
	Dynamic	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Di	Default (Left)
	Arizona Distribution	\$17,271	\$0	0.00%	\$17,318	\$0	Â	Enable filter
	Arizona Warehouse	\$82,285	\$9,421,017	-99.13%	\$82,291	\$5,143,359		Hide column
	Asia Distribution	\$154,044	\$320,721	-51.97%	\$151,086	\$320,781		Show description
	Asia Warehouse	\$211,502	\$316,257	-33.12%	\$207,622	\$314,567		Description display format
	Atlanta - Store 52	\$9,875,417	\$14,256,548	-30.73%	\$9,429,706	\$18,749,209	-	Description only
	Atlanta - Store 52	35,073,417	314,230,340	-30.73%	39,429,700	310,749,209	Ψ 	
	Total	\$857,770,545	\$214,751,120	299.43%	\$846,341,814	\$202,328,130		

Example Report Builder with dynamic row dimension

**NOTE:** In the Report Canvas, the dynamic column displays in the grid using the header text **Dynamic**. This only occurs in the Report Builder, so that you know which column is the dynamic column. When previewing or viewing the report, the dynamic column uses the header text defined for the currently selected column, as defined in the Column List parameter configuration.

In this example the Column List report parameter lets the user select from three different grouping levels—Dept.Dept, Dept.WorldRegion, or Dept.VP. The report will refresh with data and use the selected column as the row dimension.

Intelligence Center Build Parameters Filters     All Parameters + Add *   DeptGroup   Column List   DeptGroup   Name   DeptGroup   Display prompt   Select a Grouping     Display prompt   Select a Grouping     Column List Configuration	AXIOM Intelligence Center				Д	¢	CA	H
All Parameters + Add DeptGroup Column List Configuration Name DeptGroup Display prompt Select a Grouping Column List Configuration Column List Configuration							☆	0
DeptGroup Column List Configuration DeptGroup Name DeptGroup Display prompt Select a Grouping Column List Configuration	Intelligence Center		Build Parameters F	ilters		Preview	Sa	we 🔻
Selected columns Edit   World Region (DEPT.WorldRegion)   Vice President (DEPT.Dept)   Department (DEPT.Dept)	DeptGroup X Column List	Name DeptGroup Display prompt Select a Grouping  The quired Column List Configuration Selected columns Edit World Region (DEPT.VP) Department (DEPT.Dept) Default value						

Example Column List parameter providing column options for the dynamic row dimension

<b>XIOM</b> Intelligence Center						Д	ļ 💽
							☆ (
eport Parameters						Edit	Export Shar
World Region	Budget to Actuals Through June 2022						
	World Region	Q1 2022			Q2 2022		
		Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference
	Asia region	\$6,989,316	\$5,416,397	29.04%	\$5,939,730	\$5,334,331	11.35%
	Europe region	\$473,158	\$340,531	38.95%	\$389,618	\$335,371	16.18%
	North America region	\$32,766,656	\$35,835,060	-8.56%	\$26,180,604	\$35,292,107	-25.82%

Example end user experience to select and change the row dimension

Design considerations for the report user experience

When using a dynamic column with a Column List parameter, you must decide whether you want the report to refresh using a default column selection, or if you want to require the user to make a selection before the report refreshes with data.

- If the Column List parameter does not have a specified default column, then when a user opens the report, it will not refresh with data and instead displays the message "Waiting for input". The user must select a value for the Column List parameter and apply before the report is refreshed with data.
- If the Column List parameter has a specified default column, then when a user opens the report, it refreshes with data using the default column. The user can then optionally change the selected column in order to refresh the report using a different row dimension.

**NOTE:** If the Column List parameter that drives the dynamic column does not have a default value, then the report cannot be exported or shared because it does not have a column to use as the row dimension. Although report parameter selections made by users are not honored when exporting or sharing web reports, the default value is honored for the dynamic column when exporting or sharing the report.

#### Design considerations for drilling

If you want to use a dynamic column and also enable directed drilling for the report, you must be careful to ensure that all of the drill columns are compatible with the Column List columns. If the user can select a column for the Column List parameter that is not compatible with the drill columns, an error will occur when the user attempts to drill the report.

Alternatively, you can enable drilling and use key column drilling, which will continue to work as long as all of the columns defined the Column List parameter are valid as row dimension columns.

## Using DateParts in a Column List parameter

You can use DateParts when setting parameters for a ColumnList. Click **Parameters** from your report and click **Add** to add a Column List.

In the Column List Configuration section, click Edit to select a column and then drag the column name to the Selected columns section. Then use the Date part to retrieve menu to select a date part and click OK.

## Using a Column List parameter with a Column Value parameter

In order to use a Column List parameter to populate the source column for a Column Value parameter, you must:

- Define a Column Value parameter
- Configure the parameter as dynamic and select the Column List parameter as the source

In the following example, the Column Value parameter is configured to use the FilterCols Column List parameter. First the user will select a column from the Column List parameter, then the user will select a value or values in that column from the Column Value parameter.

AXIOM Intelligence Center			
			☆ ⑦
Intelligence Center		Build Parameters Filters	Preview Save •
All Parameters + Add + FitterCols  Column List Fitter by Fitter Value Column Value Select fitter values	FilterValue Name FilterValue Display prompt Select filter values Column Value Configuration Source column Value Configuration Source column Value Configuration Source column Value Configuration Selected parameter (dynamic column source) FilterCols InterCols InterCol		

Example Column Value parameter using a Column List parameter to provide the source column

					公 (
eport Parameters ilter by					Edit Export Sha
ACCT 🗸 🗙	Account Analy	sis			
elect filter values	Region	• Jan	Feb	Mar	
travel           5000 - Travel           6000 - Other Travel	China	\$7,699,529	\$7,436,078	\$9,008,480	
	Corporate	\$3,632,055	\$5,474,832	\$3,121,313	
	France	\$4,140,191	\$4,282,217	\$4,136,593	
	India	\$4,472,830	\$4,595,180	\$5,100,535	
	Italy	\$1,104,481	\$1,259,156	\$1,047,663	
	Singapore	\$6,994,279	\$6,772,344	\$6,985,727	
	UK	\$4,727,841	\$4,794,366	\$4,780,809	
	US Central	\$73,601,052	\$73,525,863	\$73,921,619	
	US East	\$54,093,715	\$49,227,796	\$48,112,441	
	US West	\$128,700,258	\$129,931,118	\$129,827,850	
		\$289,166,229	\$287,298,948	\$286,043,029	

Example end user experience to choose the filter column and values

For more information on how to configure Column Value parameters and how the selected values are applied as report filters, see Using Column Value report parameters.

#### Design considerations for the report user experience

When a Column Value parameter is linked to a Column List parameter, the Column Value parameter is automatically dependent on the other parameter. This means that the Column Value parameter will not become active in the Report Parameters panel until a value has been selected for the Column List parameter. The Column Value parameter will then become active and allow the user to select a value or values from the column selected for the Column List parameter.

**NOTE:** Because of this automatic dependency, you should make sure that the Column List parameter is ordered before (above) the Column Value parameter.

Additionally, you must decide whether you want the Column Value parameter to start with a default column or not:

- If the Column List parameter does not have a specified default column, then the Column Value parameter will be disabled until a value is selected for the Column List parameter.
- If the Column List parameter has a specified default column, the Column Value parameter is enabled and uses the default column. The user can optionally select a different value for the Column List parameter to change the column used by the Column Value parameter.
## Using Column Value report parameters

When you use a Column Value report parameter, you specify a column from which the user can select one or more values. The user's selected values for the column are then applied to the report as a report filter. This allows the user to dynamically change the data shown in the report.

For example, you may design a report that is intended to display financial results for a selected department or entity. You can create a Column Value report parameter that uses the department or entity column. The user can select the departments or entities that they want to view, and then apply the parameter values to refresh the report with the selected data.

When users view the report with a Column Value report parameter, the column values are displayed in a drop-down list:

- Column values are displayed with descriptions if applicable.
- Users can type text into the drop-down list to filter the list and find a specific value.
- Users can select one value from the list, or multiple values, depending on the parameter configuration.

tra		
5000 - Travel	^	
6000 - Other Travel		
7400 - Tuition and Tr	3	pply
7700 - Maintenance		-
9300 - Expense Trans	-	

Example Column Value parameter in the Report Parameters panel

#### Defining a Column Value report parameter

Column Value report parameters are defined on the Parameters tab of the Report Builder. You can define as many Column Value parameters as needed for the report.

To create a Column List parameter:

- 1. In the Report Builder, select the Parameters tab.
- 2. Click Add > Column Value.

The new parameter is added to the **All Parameters** panel along the left-hand side. The properties for the parameter now display in the main area.

3. Complete the following general properties for the parameter:

ltem	Description
Name	The name of the parameter. By default, this is set to <b>Report</b> Parameter (Type). You can edit this name as needed.
	The parameter name does not display to report users; it is solely for use in the Report Builder. You should give the parameter a name that indicates its purpose.
Display prompt	The prompt text to display to report users in the Report Parameters panel. By default, this is set to <b>Report Parameter (Type)</b> . You can edit this name as needed.
	You should define display prompt text that helps users understand the purpose of the parameter. For example, "Select a department".
Required	Specifies whether the parameter is required.
	<ul> <li>If enabled, then the report does not refresh with data until this parameter has a value. The message "Waiting for input" displays in the report grid until all required parameters have a value.</li> </ul>
	In the Report Parameters panel, the <b>Apply</b> button does not become available until all required parameters have a value. Additionally, required parameters cannot be cleared.
	<ul> <li>If disabled (default), then users can optionally leave this parameter blank (unset) when applying parameter values. The report can refresh data without this parameter.</li> </ul>

4. In the Column List Configuration section, complete the following parameter-specific properties:

Item	Description
Source column type	Select one of the following to determine the source of the column for the Column Value parameter:
	<ul> <li>Static column: Select this option if you want to select a specific column to use as the source column.</li> </ul>
	• <b>Dynamic column</b> : Select this option if you want to dynamically use the selected column for a Column List parameter as the source column.

Item	Description
Selected column	<ul> <li>If the specified Source column type is Static column, click the Edit link to select a column from the Select Column dialog.</li> <li>Use the table treeview in the left-hand panel to locate the column that you want to use. You can select any column from the primary table, a dimension table, or a related table. You can use the search boxes at the top of the panel to search by table names or by column names.</li> <li>Once you locate a column that you want to use, select it and then</li> </ul>
	click OK. The selected column name now displays under the Selected column header.
	<b>NOTE:</b> If the primary table is a data table and the selected column looks up to a dimension table for the primary table, the column reference is automatically "elevated" so that it uses the lookup dimension table instead of the source table. For example, if the primary table is GL2022, and you select either GL2022.Acct or BGT2022.Acct, the column reference is elevated to Acct.Acct. This elevation is done so that the column is applied as a general filter affecting all tables that look up to the dimension table.
Selected parameter (dynamic column	If the specified <b>Source column type</b> is <b>Dynamic column</b> , then select the desired Column List parameter to use as the source.
source)	This means that the user will first select a column from the designated Column List parameter, then the user can select one or more values from that column using the Column Value parameter. The Column Value parameter will not be active until the Column List parameter has a selected value. If the Column List parameter has an assigned default value, this value will be used as the initial source column for the Column Value parameter when the report is opened.
Allow multi-select	Specifies whether the parameter allows selecting multiple values from the column. By default, this is disabled, which means users can only select a single value at a time.
Description display format	The display format to use for the column values in the drop-down list. By default, this is set to <b>Description only</b> .
	This setting applies when the column used by the Column Value parameter has an associated description column. If the column used by the parameter does not have an associated description column, then this setting is ignored and the column values will display as is.

**IMPORTANT:** The column used by the Column Value parameter must be valid as a filter column for the current report configuration. If a column in the list is not valid for use as a filter column, then an error message will display when the user attempts to apply the parameter selection to the report. As the report designer, you should test your parameters to verify that they work as intended within the report.

					Д	¢	CA	H
							☆	?
	Build Parar	meters	Filters			Preview	w s	ave 🔻
Category								
Category								
Display prompt Account category to analyze Required								
Column Value Configuration Source column type Static column Dynamic column								
Selected Column ACCT.Category Edit Allow multi-select Description display format Value - Description								
	Name Category Display prompt Account category to analyze  Column Value Configuration Source column type  Static column O Dynamic column Selected Column ACCT.Category Edit Column Allow multi-select Description display format	Category         Name         Category         Display prompt         Account category to analyze         Image: Column category to analyze         Image: Colu	Category         Name         Category         Display prompt         Account category to analyze         Count category to analyze         Required         Static column type         Static column         Dynamic column         Selected Column         ACCT.Category Edit         Image: Allow multi-select         Description display format	Category   Name   Category   Display prompt   Account category to analyze   Image: Column tage   Required   Source column type   Image: Static column   Image: Dynamic column   Selected Column   Account category Edit   Image: Dynamic select   Image: Description display format	Category   Name   Category   Display prompt   Account category to analyze   Image: Column type   Image: Static column   Image: Static column   Image: Column type   Image: Static column   Image: Static column </td <td>Build Parameters   Filters   Category   Category   Category   Display prompt   Account category to analyze   Count category to analyze   Pequired   Parameters   Pipurio column type   Static column   Pipurio column   Pipurio column   Dynamic column   Marce column type   Static column   Pipurio column   Dynamic column   Marce column type   Static column   Pipurio column   Dynamic column   Dynamic column   Category Fat   Pipurio tabley format</td> <td>Build Parameters Filters Preview     Category   Category   Category   Display prompt   Account category to analyze   Image: Column type   Image: Static column   Image: Static</td> <td>Build Parameters Filters   Category   Name   Category   Display prompt   Account category to analyze   Required   Prever 0   Static column   Surce columnt type   Static column   Static column   Static column   Account category Edit   Category Edit   Totor multi-select   Decription display format</td>	Build Parameters   Filters   Category   Category   Category   Display prompt   Account category to analyze   Count category to analyze   Pequired   Parameters   Pipurio column type   Static column   Pipurio column   Pipurio column   Dynamic column   Marce column type   Static column   Pipurio column   Dynamic column   Marce column type   Static column   Pipurio column   Dynamic column   Dynamic column   Category Fat   Pipurio tabley format	Build Parameters Filters Preview     Category   Category   Category   Display prompt   Account category to analyze   Image: Column type   Image: Static column   Image: Static	Build Parameters Filters   Category   Name   Category   Display prompt   Account category to analyze   Required   Prever 0   Static column   Surce columnt type   Static column   Static column   Static column   Account category Edit   Category Edit   Totor multi-select   Decription display format

Example Column Value parameter allowing report users to filter the report by the source column

### Using DateParts with ColumnValue parameters

You can use DateParts when setting parameters for a ColumnValue. Click **Parameters** from your report and click **Add** to add a Column Value.



#### Parameters view

In the Column Value Configuration section, select **Static column**. In the Selected Column section, click **Edit** and the select the column you want to use. Then, select which date part to use, such as Full Date.

Select Column			×
Search tables    Search tables    Status   Dept_Date  BigNumeric  BudCat  Active  Region2  DateTime  Percent  IntegerDim IntegerValue	Search columns	<ul> <li>Column name</li> <li>DEPT.Dept_Date</li> <li>Date part to retrieve</li> <li>Full Date ✓</li> </ul>	
Selected column: DEPT.D	0ept_Date		Cancel OK

#### Specifying column and date part

When you view the report, you can select a date to apply to the results of the report.

port Preview					×
eport Parameters					
eport Parameter (Column Value)	New Report				
× ×	WorldRegion 🔶	Country	Dept	Description	YT
1/1/2018 1/2/2018 pply	Asia (Asia region)	Singapore	78500 (Test/Dept)	Test/Dept	\$97,557,1
1/3/2018 1/4/2018	Corporate (Corporate departments)	USA	29000 (Strat P'lan)	Strat P'lan	\$17,466,6
1/5/2018	Europe (Europe region)	UK	80500 (Paris - Store 89)	Paris - Store 89	\$50,497,6
1/6/2018 1/7/2018	North America (North America region)	USA	95001 (West Coast Distribution)	West Coast Distribution	\$1,262,544,
		4			

Report with column value drop-down list

#### Using a Column List parameter with a Column Value parameter

In order to use a Column List parameter as the source for a Column Value parameter, you must:

- Create and configure a Column List parameter
- Configure the Column Value parameter as dynamic and select the Column List parameter as the source

In the following example, the Column Value parameter is configured to use the FilterCols Column List parameter. First the user will select a column from the Column List parameter, then the user will select a value or values in that column from the Column Value parameter.

AXIOM Intelligence Center			Q 🗘 🚮 🔛
			合 ③
< Intelligence Center		Build Parameters Filters	Preview Save •
All Parameters + Add • FilterCols × Column List Filter by FilterValue × Column Value Select filter values	FilterValue Name FilterValue PiterValue Display prompt Select filter values Column Value Configuration Source column type Static column Source column Selected parameter (dynamic column source) FilterCols FilterCols Column Value Column source) FilterCols Column Value Val		

Example Column Value parameter using a Column List parameter to provide the source column

					ත් (C
Report Parameters					Edit Export Shar
Filter by ACCT V X	Account Analy	sis			
Select filter values	Region	+ Jan	Feb	Mar	
5000 - Travel	China	\$7,699,529	\$7,436,078	\$9,008,480	
6000 - Other Travel	Corporate	\$3,632,055	\$5,474,832	\$3,121,313	
	France	\$4,140,191	\$4,282,217	\$4,136,593	
	India	\$4,472,830	\$4,595,180	\$5,100,535	
	Italy	\$1,104,481	\$1,259,156	\$1,047,663	
	Singapore	\$6,994,279	\$6,772,344	\$6,985,727	
	UK	\$4,727,841	\$4,794,366	\$4,780,809	
	US Central	\$73,601,052	\$73,525,863	\$73,921,619	
	US East	\$54,093,715	\$49,227,796	\$48,112,441	
	US West	\$128,700,258	\$129,931,118	\$129,827,850	
		\$289,166,229	\$287,298,948	\$286,043,029	

Example end user experience to choose the filter column and values

For more information on how to configure Column List parameters, see Using Column List report parameters.

#### Design considerations for the report user experience

When a Column Value parameter is linked to a Column List parameter, the Column Value parameter is automatically dependent on the other parameter. This means that the Column Value parameter will not become active in the Report Parameters panel until a value has been selected for the Column List parameter. The Column Value parameter will then become active and allow the user to select a value or values from the column selected for the Column List parameter.

**NOTE:** Because of this automatic dependency, you should make sure that the Column List parameter is ordered before (above) the Column Value parameter.

Additionally, you must decide whether you want the Column Value parameter to start with a default column or not:

- If the Column List parameter does not have a specified default column, then the Column Value parameter will be disabled until a value is selected for the Column List parameter.
- If the Column List parameter has a specified default column, the Column Value parameter is enabled and uses the default column. The user can optionally select a different value for the Column List parameter to change the column used by the Column Value parameter.

#### How Column Value parameter selections are applied as filters

When a Column Value parameter selection is applied to the report, the filter is applied as follows:

- If the source column is from a related table, or if the source column is from the primary table when the primary table is a data table, then the filter is applied as a table-specific filter.
- Otherwise, the filter is applied as a general report filter.

**NOTE:** Because columns that look up to dimension tables are automatically "elevated" to the dimension table when the primary table is a data table, it is not possible to apply table-specific filters with these columns when using a Column Value parameter. For example, it's not possible to use BGT2022.Acct in a Column Value parameter, because the column reference is always elevated to Acct.Acct and therefore applied as a general filter. In the majority of use cases involving columns that look up to dimension tables, the general filter is the intended filter.

The filters resulting from Column Value parameter selections are applied in the same way as report-level filters defined in the Report Configuration panel. For more information on the difference between table-specific filters and general report filters, see Filtering data in web reports.

The syntax used for filters depends on whether the parameter allows single selection or multiple selection. For example, if the source column is Dept.Dept, filters are created as follows:

- Single selection: A filter will be created such as Dept.Dept=20000.
- Multiple selection: A filter will be created such as Dept.Dept IN (20000,21000,45000).

To make your variable narrow the list displayed to only the departments used in a single table (for example, GL 2020), enter GL2020.Dept.Dept.

This filter statement is not visible to report users—the users only see their selected value(s) for the column.

Keep in mind the following:

- It is possible that the source column used by the Column Value parameter is not valid as a filter column for the report, depending on the report configuration. In this case an error will occur when the user attempts to apply the parameter.
- It is possible that the Column Value parameter uses a source column that is valid as a filter column for the report, however, the filter has no effect. For example, if the column is applied as a table-specific filter but the report does not use any columns from that table, then the table-specific filter will have no effect and no error will occur.

All report parameters should be tested by the report designer to ensure that they are working as intended, before rolling out the report to end users.

# Configuring grid properties in a web report

The grid properties define the available features and the overall presentation of data in a web report. Using the grid properties, you can configure:

- User interaction properties such as whether users can filter columns, sort columns, and reorder columns
- Display properties such as whether the grid has a total row and whether rows with all zero values display
- Drilling properties such as what type of drilling is enabled and configuration for directed drilling

In the Report Builder, the grid properties are defined in the right-hand Configuration Panel.

To configure grid properties for a web report:

- 1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, click the grid that displays below the column setup boxes.
- 2. In the right-hand Configuration Panel, complete the Grid Configuration properties as needed.

Intelligence Center		Build Paran	neters Filters			Refresh Data Preview Save
GL2022	Budget to Actuals		Corporate			Grid Configuration
Search tables     Search columns       ■ GL2022     Immediate and tables       ● Related Tables	+ •	] Q1 Actuals 🚥 🔲 Q2 Actual	s 🚥 🔟 Q1 Budget 🕶	• 🔲 Q2 Budget •••	+ •	Column Properties ^
	WorldRegion Asia (Asia region)	Q1 Actuals \$59,065,030	Q2 Actuals \$58,174,791	Q1 Budget \$33,016,385	Q2 Budget \$34,789,159	Grid Properties
	Corporate (Corporate departments)	\$11,786,889	\$7,370,832	\$6,102,973	\$6,290,837	Include total row
	Europe (Europe region)	\$30,716,594	\$30,422,551	\$1,202,834	\$1,223,440	Total row header label
	North America (North America region)	\$760,989,716 \$862,558,229	\$750,407,151 <b>\$846,375,326</b>	\$153,881,599 \$194,203,791	\$139,551,224 <b>\$181,854,660</b>	Suppress zero rows
	1 - 4 of 4 items			Click the grid area to load the grid configuration properties		Enable drilling Grid sort order Custom

Example Grid Configuration properties

The grid configuration properties are separated into two tabs:

- General: Basic grid properties that should be reviewed and configured for all web reports.
- Advanced: Advanced grid properties such as default column formats for the grid.

## General grid properties

The following grid properties are available for web reports on the **General** tab of the **Grid Configuration** panel:

### **Column Properties**

Item	Description
Enable column filters	Specifies whether users can filter columns in the grid. Only applies to grids with dynamic rows; users cannot filter columns in grids where <b>Use fixed rows</b> is enabled.
	• If enabled (default), then filter icons display on columns where Enable filter is enabled in the column configuration properties. Report users can use these icons to filter the data shown in the column. If Enable filter is disabled on a column, the filter icon is not available for that column.
	<ul> <li>If disabled, then filter icons do not display on any columns, regardless of whether Enable filter is enabled for the column.</li> </ul>
Multi column sorting	Specifies whether users can sort by multiple columns in the grid. Only applies to grids with dynamic rows; users cannot filter columns in grids where <b>Use fixed rows</b> is enabled.
	<ul> <li>If enabled, then users can sort the grid by multiple columns. If the grid is already sorted by a column and a user clicks another column to sort, then the grid is first sorted by the most recent column and then sorted by the original column. Columns will remain sorted until the user toggles the sort disabled for that column.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If disabled (default), then users can sort the grid by a single column. If the grid is already sorted by a column and a user clicks another column to sort, then the sort is disabled on the original column and the grid becomes sorted by the most recent column.</li> </ul>
	Users can sort columns by clicking on the column header. Each click toggles through sort ascending, sort descending, and no sort.
	<b>NOTE:</b> The ability to clear the sort is only available if multi-column sorting is enabled. Otherwise, clicking a column header will toggle between sort ascending and sort descending. You can click a different column header to sort by that column, but you cannot clear the sort.
Enable reordering columns	<ul><li>Specifies whether users can reorder columns in the grid.</li><li>If enabled (default), then users can drag and drop columns within the grid to temporarily reorder them.</li></ul>
	<ul> <li>If disabled, then users cannot reorder columns in the grid.</li> </ul>

## **Grid Properties**

Item	Description
Use fixed rows	<ul> <li>Specifies whether the grid uses dynamic rows or a fixed row structure.</li> <li>If enabled, then the grid uses a fixed row structure to define the rows. Select the structure using the Fixed row structure field. For more information, see Specifying the fixed row structure for a web report.</li> <li>If disabled (default), then the grid dynamically generates rows based on a table column specified as the row dimension. The row dimension is specified by dragging and dropping the desired table column into the Row Dimensions box at the top of the Report Canvas. For more information, see Specifying the row dimension for a web report.</li> </ul>
Fixed row structure	Specifies the fixed row structure to use in the grid. Only applies when Use fixed rows is enabled.
	Select an existing fixed row structure to define the rows of the grid. You can type into the box to filter the list of fixed row structures by name.
	Fixed row structures can be created from the Intelligence Center. For more information on creating fixed row structures, see Managing Fixed Row Structures.
Include total row	Specifies whether a total row is present on the grid. Only applies to grids with dynamic rows; if <b>Use fixed rows</b> is enabled then the grid uses subtotal and total rows as defined in the fixed row structure.
	<ul> <li>If enabled, then a total row displays at the bottom of the grid. If the grid data is paged, the total row shows the total of all rows across all pages.</li> </ul>
	Use the <b>Total row header label</b> field to define label text for the total row, such as "Total". This text displays in the last row dimension column.
	Columns displaying numeric, non-dimensional data are included in the total row by default. If desired, you can exclude a numeric column from the total row using the column configuration properties.
	<ul> <li>If disabled (default), then the grid does not have a total row.</li> </ul>

Item	Description
Suppress zero rows	Optional. Specifies whether data rows with all zeros are suppressed from showing in the grid. Only applies to grids with dynamic rows; all zero rows cannot be suppressed in grids where <b>Use fixed rows</b> is enabled.
	<ul> <li>Non-key columns that meet both of the following criteria are evaluated to determine whether a row should be hidden:</li> <li>The column data type is Integer (all types) or Numeric.</li> </ul>
	• The column is from the primary table or an additional data table. If the primary table is a data table, Integer and Numeric columns on lookup reference tables are ignored—meaning these columns may have values, but the row is still suppressed if all applicable data table columns have zero values. There is one exception: reference table columns are considered if the column classification is Values and the numeric type is Currency.
	Calculated columns defined in the grid are not evaluated for this purpose and do not prevent a row from being suppressed.
Enable drilling	Specifies whether users can drill down rows in the grid to view the underlying data.
	<ul> <li>If enabled, then users can drill rows in the grid. Use the Drilling type property to specify what type of drilling options are present:</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Key columns (default): Users can drill down to the key column level of the data. These drilling options are automatically generated based on the validated key columns of the primary table. No additional setup is required.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Directed: Users can drill down predefined drilling paths. Use the View/Edit Configuration link underneath the Directed option to configure the drilling paths.</li> </ul>
	For more information, see Configuring drilling for web reports.
	<ul> <li>If disabled (default), then users cannot drill rows in the grid.</li> </ul>

ltem	Description				
Grid sort order	Specifies the sort order for data in the grid.				
	<ul> <li>Default: Data is sorted by the row dimension columns specified for the grid, in ascending order. If multiple row dimension columns are present, the first row dimension column is the primary sort column, followed by the second row dimension column, and so on.</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>Custom: Specify one or more columns to sort the grid data, in either ascending or descending order. Use the View/Edit Configuration link underneath the Custom option to select the drill columns.</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>The Edit Sorting Configuration dialog lists all columns in the grid. It is not currently possible to sort by a column that is not present in the grid. If necessary, you can add a column to the grid in order to sort by that column, then configure the column as hidden so that it does not show in the grid.</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>To add a column to the sorting configuration, drag the column from the left-hand panel to the right-hand panel, and then select Asc (default) or Desc for the sort order. To remove a column from the sorting configuration, click the X icon on the right-hand side of the column box.</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>If multiple columns are added to the sorting configuration, the top- most column is the primary sort column, followed by the next column, and so on. You can reorder the columns in the list by clicking the drag handle on the left-hand side of the column box and then dragging and dropping it to a new location.</li> </ul>				
	If a custom sort is specified but no columns are added to the sorting configuration, the grid will revert to using the default sort order.				
	NOTES:				
	• If Multi column sorting is not enabled for the grid, the grid will still honor a multi-column sort configuration when the report is initially rendered. However, if a user sorts by any column, the grid reverts to single-column sorting with no way to return to the previous sort configuration other than by reloading the report.				
	<ul> <li>Process columns cannot be added as custom sort columns.</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>If a dynamic column is added to the sort configuration, it displays in the list with its assigned Column List report parameter name in parenthesis. If you hover your cursor over the column name in the sort configuration, the current column used by the dynamic column is shown in the tooltip.</li> </ul>				

**NOTE:** If you created a web report using the Report Builder in version 2021.1, that report may have had a defined **Data Filter** in the Grid Configuration properties. These filters are now defined at the report level, on the Filters tab. Any existing grid filter will be automatically converted to a general report filter. In rare cases, this conversion may result in report errors if the grid-level filter is not valid as a general report filter. If this occurs, you can delete the converted filter and re-create it as a table-specific filter.

## Advanced grid properties

Using the properties on the **Advanced** tab of the **Grid Configuration** panel, you can view and edit **Default column formats** for columns in the current report. Select a column **Data type** that you want to configure, and this section will populate with the properties for the selected data type.

All columns added to the report will inherit the settings defined here. By default, columns will continue to inherit any changes made to the default column formats unless the format has been overridden at the column level.

For example, the default alignment for String columns is Left. When String columns are added to the grid, they are configured to use the Default alignment, meaning Left. If desired, you can change the default alignment for String columns to Center, and all String columns in the grid that are using the Default alignment will now update to use Center alignment. However, if you have manually configured a particular String column to use Right alignment instead of the Default alignment, that column will continue to use its configured alignment of Right.

ltem	Description
Data type	Select a column data type to view and edit the default column formats for that type. The following data types are available:
	<ul> <li>String: Columns containing text or alphanumeric values. Includes table columns using the String data type.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Date: Columns containing dates. Includes table columns using the Date data type.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>DateTime: Columns containing date-time values. Includes table columns using the DateTime data type.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Boolean: Columns containing True or False values. Includes table columns using the Boolean data type.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Dimension: Columns containing numeric dimension codes. Includes table columns using Numeric, Integer, or Identity data types, where the Column Classification is Dimension.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Decimal: Columns containing decimal numeric values. Includes table columns using the Numeric data type, where the column has a Numeric Type of Number.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Number: Columns containing whole integer numeric values. Includes table columns using Integer or Identity data types, where the Column Classification is Value.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Currency: Columns containing currency numeric values. Includes table columns using the Numeric or Integer data types, where the column has a Numeric Type of Currency.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Percent: Columns containing percent numeric values. Includes table columns using the Numeric or Integer data types, where the column has a Numeric Type of Percent.</li> </ul>
	Additionally, when you create a calculated column, you can specify its data type as one of the numeric data types. The column will then use the default column formats for that data type. The default data type for calculated columns is Currency.
	<b>NOTE:</b> Columns that would normally be treated as Number data type are treated as Dimension data type if they are used as row dimension columns or drill columns.

Item	Description
Column width	The default column width for the selected <b>Data Type</b> , in pixels. Enter the desired column width as a whole integer between 30 and 600.
	The default width for each data type is as follows:
	Currency, Decimal, Percent, Date, Boolean: 120
	Number: 150
	DateTime, String, Dimension: 200
Alignment	The default alignment of the column values for the selected <b>Data Type</b> . If you want to change the default alignment for a data type, select one of the following: <b>Left, Right, Center</b> .
	The default alignment for each data type is as follows:
	<ul> <li>String, Date, DateTime, Boolean, Dimension: Left</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Decimal, Number, Currency, Percent: Right</li> </ul>

#### Numeric default properties

The following default properties only display if the selected **Data type** is a numeric data type. These properties can be used to define the default numeric format by column data type.

For example, the default number format for the Currency data type uses 0 decimal places, with a thousands separator, and a negative number format of red parentheses. When a Currency column is added to the grid, the contents automatically display using this number format. If desired, you can change the default number format for Currency so that it uses 2 decimal places, and all Currency columns in the grid will now update to show 2 decimal places. This applies to columns that use the Currency number format by default, as well as columns that you have manually configured to use the Currency format. However, if you have manually configured a particular Currency column so that it now uses a Custom number format instead of the Currency number format, then it will continue to use its custom configuration.

Item	Description
Decimal places	The number of decimal places used by the selected <b>Data Type</b> . Enter any whole number from 0 to 10. You can also use the arrow keys to move the number up or down.
	The default number of decimal places for each numeric data type is as follows:
	Currency: 0
	Decimal, Percent: 2
	The Number data type does not use decimals.

Item	Description
Use 1000's separator	<ul> <li>Specifies whether the selected Data Type uses a thousands separator:</li> <li>If enabled (default), numbers show with a thousands separator, such as 1,000.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If disabled, numbers do not use a thousands separator, such as 1000.</li> </ul>
Negative number format	The format used by the selected <b>Data Type</b> to display negative numbers. Select the desired format from the drop-down list. Available formats use the minus sign, or parentheses, or red text (or a combination of these formats).
	The default negative number format for each numeric data type is as follows:
	<ul> <li>Decimal, Number, Percent: Minus sign</li> </ul>
	Currency: Red text in parentheses

#### Date and Date Time default properties

The following default properties only display if the selected **Data type** is a date data type. These properties can be used to define the default date format by column data type.

For example, the default format for Date columns is Month/Day/Year (such as "10/152023"). When a Date column is added to the grid, the contents automatically display using this format. If desired, you can change the default format for Date so that it displays as "October 15, 2023" instead, and all Date columns in the grid will now update to use this format. However, if you have manually configured a particular Date column so that it uses a different date format instead of the default format, then it will continue to use its custom configuration.

Item	Description
Date format	The format used by the selected Data Type to display date or date-time
or	values. You can select any of the "full date" formats supported by Date and DateTime columns, including custom formats. By default, the formats
Date Time format	are:
	• Date: 10/15/2020
	<ul> <li>Date Time: 10/15/2020 13:25</li> </ul>
	<b>NOTE:</b> Only "full date" formats are supported as the default format. If you configure an individual Date or DateTime column to use a different date part, such as Year or Quarter, then the default date format no longer applies, and the column is treated as a Dimension data type.
Custom Date format	Use this field to define the custom date or date-time format, if Custom is
or	specified as the <b>Date format</b> or <b>Date Time format</b> . For more information on the syntax to define custom date and date-time formats, see Custom
Custom Date Time format	formats.

## Frequently asked questions

Can I disable paging for a dynamic row grid?

Currently, if the grid uses dynamic rows then the grid is automatically paged if it exceeds 25 rows. This paging cannot be disabled.

How do I define a grid-level filter to limit the data in the report?

If you want to filter the data in the grid, you can define a report-level filter. Select the **Filters** tab of the Report Builder to define one or more report-level filters.

## Configuring column properties for a web report

The column properties define the presentation of each column in the grid. Using the column properties, you can configure:

- Display properties such as header text, column width, alignment, and number formatting
- Data properties such as column filters, alternate aggregation, and display formats for data
- Grid behavior properties such as inclusion in the total row, and whether end users can sort and filter using the column

In the Report Builder, the column properties are defined in the right-hand Configuration Panel. The column properties can be defined for both table columns and calculated columns.

To configure column properties for a column in a web report:

- 1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, click a column name in either the Row Dimensions box or the Column Definitions box to select that column.
- 2. Complete the Column Configuration properties that display in the Configuration Panel.

XIOM Inte	Iligence Center							Д Ф	· CA	•••
Intelligence C	enter		Build Para	neters Filters			Refresh Dat	ta Previ	ew	Save
ta Context	1	Budget to Actuals		Corporate			Column Configur	ration	<b>—</b>	•
earch tables	Search columns	Through June 2022		Click on a name to co			Column	dvanced		
▶ ⊞ BGT2021	•	•	+ •		T	+ •	BGT2022.Q2			
▼ I BGT2022		WorldRegion	🔲 Q1 Actuals 🚥 🔲 Q2 Actua	ls 🚥 🔲 Q1 Budget 🚥	💷 Q2 Budget 🚥		Q2 Budget			
► ACCT							di Dudget			
DEPT							Column width 120	0px		
DETAIL		WorldRegion	Q1 Actuals	Q2 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Q2 Budget				
□ M1			QT Actuals		QT budget		Alignment			
□ M2		Asia (Asia region)	\$59,065,030	\$58,174,791	\$33,016,385	\$34,789,159	Default (Right)			
Ш МЗ		Corporate (Corporate depart	ments) \$11,786,889	\$7,370,832	\$6,102,973	\$6,290,837	Number format			
□ M4 □ M5							Default (Currend	cv)		
□ M5		Europe (Europe region)	\$30,716,594	\$30,422,551	\$1,202,834	\$1,223,440				
Ⅲ M6		North America (North Ameri	ca region) \$760,989,716	\$750,407,151	\$153,881,599	\$139,551,224	Aggregation			
□ m//		1 - 4 of 4 items					Default (Sum)			
□ M9		1 - 4 of 4 items					Data filter			
□ M10							No filter defined			
Ш M11										
III M12							Enable filter	r		
SaveTagD	locID						Hide column	n		
□ SaveTag										

The column configuration properties are separated into two tabs:

- **General**: Basic column properties that should be reviewed and configured for all columns in the grid.
- Advanced: Advanced column properties to be configured as needed.

#### General column properties

The following column properties are available for web reports on the **General** tab of the **Column Configuration** panel. These properties apply to table columns, calculated columns, and dynamic columns.

Item	Description
Column or Calculation	<ul> <li>The following information displays at the top of the panel to identify the column:</li> <li>Column: If the column is a table column, the full Table.Column path displays for your reference.</li> </ul>
or Default Column	Column Configuration       General     Advanced       Column       BGT2020.Q1
	<ul> <li>Calculation: If the column is a calculated column, a text representation of the calculation displays for your reference. You can click the Edit icon to the right of the box to open the Edit Calculated Column dialog and edit the calculation as needed.</li> <li>Column Configuration         General Advanced     </li> </ul>
	Calculation ({Q1 Actuals} - {Q1 Budget}) / {Q
	• <b>Default column</b> : If the column is a dynamic column, the currently used Table.Column path displays for your reference. This column is determined by the configuration for the Column List parameter that is associated with the dynamic column.
	Column Configuration General
	DeptGroup
	Default column DEPT.Dept

Item	Description
Dynamic column parameter	The Column List report parameter to associate with the dynamic column. Only applies when the current column is a dynamic column.
	For more information, see Using Column List report parameters.
Header	The header text to display on the column header. Enter the desired header text.
	<ul> <li>If the column is a table column, the column name is used as the header text by default.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If the column is a calculated column, the text "Calculation" is used as the header text by default.</li> </ul>
	If the column is a dynamic column, the header text is defined in the Column List parameter settings, for each column that is available to be selected. Within the Report Canvas only, the dynamic column displays using the header <b>Dynamic</b> .
Column width	The width of the column in the grid, in pixels. Enter the desired column width as a whole integer between 30 and 600.
	The default width depends on the column data type, and is configured at the grid level. If you do not enter a custom width, then the default width displays in the <b>Column width</b> box in gray text. If you leave this default width and the grid-level defaults are changed, then column will update to use the new default width. For more information, see <b>Configuring grid</b> properties in a web report.
Alignment	The alignment of the column values. Select one of the following: Default, Left, Right, Center.
	The default alignment depends on the column data type, and is configured at the grid level. If a column is set to use Default and the grid-level defaults are changed, the column will update to use the new default alignment. For more information, see Configuring grid properties in a web report.

Description			
Select <b>Formatting Properties</b> to work with number formats. The number format used by the column. Only applies to columns that hold numeric data. Select one of the following:			
• <b>Default</b> : The column uses the default number format as defined for the column's data type at the grid level. If a column is set to use <b>Default</b> and the grid-level defaults are changed, the column will update to use the new default number format. For more information, see Numeric default properties.			
<ul> <li>Currency, Decimal, Number, Percent, or Dimension: The column uses the default number format as defined for the selected data type. For example, you may have a column that is natively a Decimal column, but you want it to display using Currency format in a particular report.</li> </ul>			
If a column is assigned to a different number format, it will also inherit the default column width and alignment set for the associated data type, if the column is using the default column with and alignment.			
<ul> <li>Custom: The column uses a custom number format as defined in the column properties. Click Override default formatting to work with custom number formats.</li> </ul>			
When Custom is selected, then several additional properties become available to configure the number format. In this case, the column is no longer tied to any particular default number format.			
<ul> <li>Decimal places: Specify the number of decimal places to display, from 0 to 10.</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>Use 1000's separator: Specify whether the number uses a thousands separator or not.</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>Negative number format: Specify the format to use for negative numbers.</li> </ul>			
This option is not available for use with dynamic columns.			
Select <b>Data Properties</b> to configure Aggregation. The aggregation type used to aggregate data queried from the database column. Does not apply to calculated columns or to columns used as row dimensions.			
If you want to override the default aggregation type for a database column, select an aggregation type.			
Select <b>Data Properties</b> to configure the optional Data filter. Defines a filter to limit the data shown in this column. The column-level data filter should be used instead of a grid-level data filter when you want the filter to impact just this column. For more information, see Using column filters.			

Item	Description
Enable filter	Specifies whether report viewers can filter the report based on the column contents.
	• If enabled (default), and if <b>Enable Column Filters</b> is enabled in the Grid Configuration properties, then a filter icon is available on the column in the rendered report. Report viewers can use this column to filter the grid based on the column contents.
	• If disabled, then the filter icon is not available on the column.
	This property does not apply to any column in the grid if <b>Use fixed rows</b> is enabled in the Grid Configuration properties. Fixed row reports do not support end-user column filtering.
Hide column	Specifies whether the column is hidden in the report. Does not apply to columns used as row dimensions.
	<ul> <li>If enabled, then the column is hidden. The column remains visible in the Report Builder so that you can continue to configure the column as needed.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If disabled (default), then the column is visible.</li> </ul>
Show description	Select <b>Display Properties</b> to work with configure the description text.
	Specifies whether you want descriptions to display for dimension values. This option only applies to key columns, alternate key columns, and validated columns that have an associated description column.
	<ul> <li>If enabled (default), then descriptions display alongside the dimension values or instead of the dimension values. For example, if the column is Acct then you likely want the account descriptions to display along with the account codes.</li> </ul>
	When this option is enabled, the <b>Description display format</b> field becomes available. Select the desired display format from this list. By default, the format <b>Description (Value)</b> is used.
	<ul> <li>If disabled, then only the dimension values display. For example, if the column is Acct then only the account codes will display.</li> </ul>
	<b>NOTE:</b> If the dimension table has multiple description columns (meaning columns where <b>Describes Key</b> is <b>True</b> ), then the first description column is used.
	If the column is a dynamic column, then this option will be applied when the currently selected column has a description column, and ignored when it does not.

Item	Description
Include in total row	Specifies whether the column is included in the total row, if a total row is enabled in the Grid Configuration properties. Does not apply to columns used as row dimensions.
	Select one of the following:
	• <b>Default</b> : The column is included or not based on its data type. All numeric columns are included by default unless they are the Dimension data type. All other non-numeric columns are not included by default, unless you change the aggregation so that the column returns a number (such as using Count aggregation on a String column).
	<ul> <li>Include: Override the default behavior and include the column in the total row.</li> </ul>
	• Exclude: Override the default behavior and exclude the column from the total row.
	If a column is included in the total row, it is treated as follows:
	<ul> <li>Table columns use their default or configured aggregation in the total row. For example, if a numeric column uses the default aggregation of sum, the column will be summed in the total row.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Calculated columns apply their calculation to the total row.</li> </ul>
	This option does not apply if <b>Use fixed rows</b> is enabled in the Grid Configuration properties. Columns will be included or excluded in subtotal or total rows using the default behavior.
Date part to retrieve	Specifies the date or date-time part to retrieve, if the column is a Date or Date Time column. For example, you can return the full date value, or just the year or month, or the fiscal year or month. For more information, see Date part and format options.
Date format	Specifies the format to display the date values, if the column is a Date or Date Time column. The available format options depend on the specified <b>Date part to retrieve</b> . For more information, see Date part and format options.
	The label and visibility of this setting varies depending on the selected date part. For example, if you select <b>Month</b> as the date part, then the label for this setting is <b>Month format</b> . If you select a date part that does not have any formatting options, such as <b>Year</b> , then this setting is hidden.

## Advanced column properties

The following column configuration properties are available for web reports on the **Advanced** tab of the **Column Configuration** panel. These properties apply to table columns and calculated columns. Dynamic columns do not use these properties.

ltem	Description		
Header text (row 1)	The header text to display on the column header. Enter the desired header text.		
	NOTES:		
	<ul> <li>This is the same property that displays on the General tab as Header.</li> <li>The header text can be edited from either tab.</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>The (row 1) label only displays if Multi-row header has been enabled. In this case, the property defines the header text for the top row of the multi-row header.</li> </ul>		
Header text (row 2)	The header text to display on the second row of the column header. Enter the desired header text.		
	This property is only available if Multi-row header has been enabled.		
Multi-row header	Specifies whether the column header has multiple rows:		
	<ul> <li>If enabled, then the header text property updates so that there are two properties: Header text (row 1) and Header text (row 2). The default header text populates row 1. You can define additional text to display on row 2.</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>If disabled (default), then only one row of header text can be defined.</li> </ul>		
	Keep in mind that enabling a multi-row header is different than wrapping header text. If you enable multi-row headers, then you can define two separate rows of header text. A line break separates each row. If autowrap is enabled, then each row of header text wraps individually.		
	If you just want a single row of header text that wraps, you can leave this option disabled and then enable Autowrap header text.		
Autowrap header text	Specifies whether header text wraps:		
	<ul> <li>If enabled, then header text that exceeds the column width will wrap.</li> <li>If Multi-row header is enabled, both rows of header text will wrap individually.</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>If disabled (default), then header text that exceeds the column width is truncated. The user can resize the column wider to view the full header text.</li> </ul>		

**Header Properties** 

Item	Description
Header alignment	The alignment of the header text. Select one of the following: <b>Default</b> , Left, Right, Center. All column headers use Default alignment by default.
	By default, the header text uses the same alignment as the column contents (as determined by the <b>Alignment</b> property on the <b>General</b> tab). If you leave the header alignment set to Default, then the header alignment will adjust to match the column alignment. If, however, you want the header alignment to be different than the column alignment, you can configure this property.

## Link Properties

For more information on using hyperlink columns in web reports, see Displaying hyperlinks in web reports.

Item	Description
Enable link	Specifies whether the column displays hyperlinks. Select this option if you want each row of this column to contain a hyperlink that dynamically incorporates the current column value.
	If this option is enabled, then the additional link properties in this section become available; otherwise they are hidden.
Link	Specifies the type of link to display in the column:
type	<ul> <li>Custom: You specify the relative URL for the hyperlink, including using variables to dynamically incorporate the current column value in the URL.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Plan file: Axiom dynamically generates a hyperlink to the plan file associated with each row. In order to use this option, the report must have a specified File group context in the Report Configuration properties, and the row dimension must be the key column of the plan code table for that file group.</li> </ul>
	<b>NOTE:</b> This option only displays if the report meets the requirements to support plan file links. Otherwise, all links are custom links by default, and this option does not display.

ltem	Description
URL	Specifies the URL to use in the hyperlink column. Enter a relative location in the Axiom system. The URL can use variables as needed so that the URL value is dynamic per row of the report.
	For example, imagine that the report contains the key column of a plan code table (such as Dept), and you want each plan code to link to the Process Routing page for a particular plan file process. The full URL to the Process Routing page uses the following syntax:
	https://mycompany.axiom.cloud/process/ processdefinitionID/planfile?planvalue=plancode
	The process definition ID will be constant for the URL, but the plan code value needs to be the current row's department value. The {value} variable can be used for this purpose. The following relative URL with a variable would be entered into the URL field:
	<pre>/process/16682/planfile?planvalue={value}</pre>
	<b>NOTE:</b> The relative URL can be entered with or without the beginning forward slash.
	When the report is viewed, the column will resolve to use the full URL with the current column value. For example, the row showing Dept 22000 will have the following URL:
	https://mycompany.axiom.cloud/process/16682/planfile?planval ue=22000
	When the user clicks on the hyperlink in this row, they will be taken to the Process Routing page for Dept 22000, for the plan file process associated with process definition ID 16682.
	<b>NOTE:</b> The URL property only displays if the specified link type is custom, or if the <b>Link</b> <b>type</b> option is not present because all links in the report are custom. When using the plan file link type, the URL to the plan file is automatically generated by Axiom.

Item	Description
Link text	Specifies the display text for the hyperlink column. Enter the desired text, using variables as needed. Keep in mind the following:
	<ul> <li>If you want the link text to be the column value—meaning the same value that would display in the column if the column was not enabled as a link column—then you can leave this field blank. The current column value is automatically used as the link text.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>The variable {value} displays the raw column value from the database. For example, if the column is a numeric column, the value will not have numeric formatting and will show all decimal places.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>The variable {formattedvalue} displays the column value with formatting—such as default formatting based on the column type, or applied formatting in the Column Configuration properties. It is only necessary to use the {formattedvalue} variable if you want to display the formatted column value along with other link text. If you just want to display the formatted value by itself, you can leave the field blank as previously noted.</li> </ul>
Link tooltip	Specifies the tooltip to show when a user hovers the cursor over the hyperlink. Enter the desired text, using variables as needed. The same variable behavior noted previously for the Link text property also applies to this property.
Open link in new tab	Specifies whether the hyperlink opens in the same tab (replacing the report) or in a new tab. By default, the hyperlink opens in the same tab. Enable this option if you want the hyperlink to open in a new tab.

### Using column filters

The **Data filter** property can be used to filter the data coming into a particular column. This filter only impacts the data in the current column; it has no impact on the rest of the report.

To filter the data in the current column:

- 1. Click the Edit link over the Data filter box to open the Filter Wizard.
- 2. In the Filter Wizard, create the filter as needed. For more information on how to use the Filter Wizard to create a filter, see Using the Filter Wizard in the Report Builder.

The tables available in the Filter Wizard depend on whether the current column is a table column or a calculation, and the primary table specified as the Data Context of the report:

- If the current column is a table column, the Filter Wizard shows that table and its dimension tables.
- If the current column is a calculated column, the Filter Wizard shows the following tables:
  - If the calculated column only uses columns from a single table, the Filter Wizard shows that table and its dimension tables.

 If the calculated column uses columns from multiple tables, and the primary table is a data table, the Filter Wizard shows the common dimension tables for the tables involved in the calculation.

EXCEPTION: If the calculation includes a column from a dimension table, then the Filter Wizard shows the common dimension tables for all related tables used in the report, regardless of whether the related table is used in this particular calculation.

• If the calculated column uses columns from multiple tables, and the primary table is a reference, the Filter Wizard shows the primary table and its dimension tables.

EXCEPTION: If the calculation only consists of columns from related tables (no columns from the primary table or dimension tables), then the Filter Wizard shows the common dimension tables for all related tables used in the calculation.

You can create a filter using any column on the available tables. If you choose to use a predefined global filter from the Filter Library, the global filter must be based on the same eligible table columns.

3. Once the filter statement is complete, click **OK** to close the Filter Wizard and add the filter to the **Data filter** box.

Once a filter has been defined for a column, you can modify it as follows:

- To edit the filter, click the Edit link over the Data filter box again and change the filter within the Filter Wizard.
- To delete the filter, click the Clear link over the Data filter box.

Data filters defined at the column level are combined with any filters defined at the column group level and at the grid level. All relevant filters are combined using AND to determine the data that can display in a particular column.

If a column has a defined filter, then a filter icon displays next to the column name in the sample grid of the Report Canvas. This icon is intended to let report builders know about the column filter at-a-glance. The icon does not display in the report viewer.

#### NOTES:

- If a data filter is defined for a calculation, the filter is applied to the columns referenced in the calculation, then the calculation occurs.
- Column-level data filters cannot be defined for columns used as row dimensions. To limit the rows shown in the grid, use a report-level filter in the Report Configuration properties.

## Frequently asked questions

I defined a column filter but it isn't impacting the grid data as I expected—why do I still see rows that don't match the column filter?

A column filter only filters the data coming into that specific column. If you want to define a filter that impacts the entire report, including the row data, then you should define a filter at the report level. Select the report title and then use the Report Configuration properties to define one or more Report filters.

To illustrate the difference, imagine the following uses of a filter to only show data from the West region:

- **Report**: When the general filter Dept.Region='West' is defined for the report, the entire grid is filtered to only show data from the West region. Row dimension values (such as departments) will only display if they belong to the West region, and column data is limited to only show data for the West region.
- Column: When the filter Dept.Region='West' is defined on a column, that single column is filtered to only show data from the West region. Other columns and row dimension values are not limited by this filter. You might do this if you want to create a report that shows the different region data in different columns, such as to compare data from the West, East, North, and South regions side-by-side.

# Configuring drilling for web reports

You can enable two types of drilling for web reports:

- Key columns: Users can drill to view the underlying data based on the key columns of the table specified as the Data Context. This option provides limited "out-of-the-box" drilling functionality that does not require any further setup.
- **Directed**: Users can drill to view the underlying data based on predefined drilling paths. The report designer defines the available drilling paths and can configure certain display attributes for the drill.

To enable either drilling option:

- 1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, select the grid so that the **Grid Configuration** properties display in the Configuration Panel.
- 2. On the General tab of the Grid Configuration properties, enable Enable Drilling.
- 3. For Drilling type, select either Key columns or Directed.
- 4. If you selected **Directed**, click the **View/Edit Configuration** link to define the directed drilling paths.

Grid Configuration				
General Advanced				
Column Properties	•			
Enable column filters				
Multi-column sorting				
Enable reordering columns				
Grid Properties	~			
Use fixed rows				
Include total row				
Suppress zero rows				
Enable drilling				
Drilling type				
Key columns				
Directed				
View/Edit Configuration				

Example drill options enabled for the grid

## Configuring directed drilling paths

Use the Edit Drilling Configuration dialog to define the drilling paths for directed drilling.

To define drilling paths:

- 1. In the Grid Configuration properties, click the View/Edit Configuration link under the Directed drilling option.
- 2. Drag and drop columns from the table tree to the **Drill Columns** area in the middle of the dialog. The available columns for drilling depend on the table specified as the primary table for the data context:
  - If the primary table is a data table, then you can use any column on the primary table or on a lookup reference table (the Dimension Tables).

- If the primary table is a reference table, then you can use either of the following:
  - Any column on the primary table, including multiple-level lookup references to the dimension tables.
  - Any column on a table that looks up to the primary table (the Related Tables). This option is not available if the report uses a fixed row structure.

**NOTE:** If you use a column from a related table, you are effectively using *upstream grouping columns* in your drilling path. This means that any special considerations and limitations that apply to upstream grouping columns also apply to the drill results. For more information, see Using upstream grouping columns as row dimensions in web reports.

- 3. Place the drill columns in the desired order for the directed drilling. Users can drill from the column at the top of the list down to the column at the bottom of the list. Generally speaking, the lowest level of detail should be at the bottom—for example: VP > Director > Manager > Dept.
  - To reorder columns, click the handle on the left side of the column box to drag and drop the column to a new position.
  - To remove a column, hover your cursor over the column and then click the X on the right side of the column box.
- 4. Select each drill column and configure the drill properties in the right side of the dialog. See the following table for information on these properties.
- 5. Click **OK** to complete the drill configuration and return to the Report Builder.

Searcl	n column name		Drill columns		Column properties	
⊞ (	GL2020		= 1 - DEPT.Country		Drill Column	Configure display properties for the
Ŀ	Dimension Tables				DEPT.Dept	drill columns
	ACCT		= 2 - DEPT.Region		Header	
	DEPT		= 3 - DEPT.Dept		Department	$\otimes$
	Description				Column width	
	🔲 Template			Order the drill columns from	300	
►	WorldRegion			highest level to	Alignment	
	Country			lowest level	Default (Left) 🔻	
Region		Drag and drop	1	Show descripti	ion	
	Currency		columns that you		Description display format	
►	II VP		want to use as the drill levels		Description (Value)	•
	Employees			,	Description (value)	
	m	•				

Example drilling configuration dialog

ltem	Description
Drill column	The full Table.Column path of the drill column displays for your reference, so that you know which column you are configuring.
Header	Header text for the column in the drill results. Enter the desired text. The column name is used by default.
Column width	The width of the column in the drill results, in pixels. Enter the desired column width as a whole integer between 30 and 600.
	By default, the width is 300 for all drill columns, regardless of data type.
Alignment	The alignment of the column values. Select one of the following: <b>Default</b> , Left, Right, Center.
	The default alignment depends on the column data type. If a column is set to use Default and the grid-level defaults are changed, the column will update to use the new default alignment. For more information, see Configuring grid properties in a web report.

## **Drill Column Properties**

Item	Description
Show description	Specifies whether you want descriptions to display for dimension values. This option only applies to key columns, alternate key columns, and validated columns that have an associated description column.
	<ul> <li>If enabled (default), then descriptions display alongside the dimension values or instead of the dimension values. For example, if the column is Acct then you likely want the account descriptions to display along with the account codes.</li> </ul>
	When this option is enabled, the <b>Description display format</b> field becomes available. Select the desired display format from this list. By default, the format <b>Description (Value)</b> is used.
	<ul> <li>If disabled, then only the dimension values display. For example, if the column is Acct then only the account codes will display.</li> </ul>
	<b>NOTE:</b> If the dimension table has multiple description columns (meaning columns where <b>Describes Key</b> is <b>True</b> ), then the first description column is used.

## Using directed drilling

If directed drilling is enabled and configured, you can drill down the predefined drilling paths to view the underlying data. Directed drilling works as follows:

• When you view the report, you can hover your cursor over a row to show the magnifying glass icon on the left side of the row.

WorldRegion ↑		Q1 2020
wonukegion	Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget
Q Asia	\$6,989,316	\$5,416,397
Drill to Country Europe	\$473,158	\$340,531
North America	\$32,766,656	\$35,609,235

- Click the magnifying glass to drill to the first level of the drill. This is the column positioned at the top of the **Drill Columns** list in the **Edit Drilling Configuration** dialog. The drill results open in a new browser tab.
- From here, you can continue to drill by hovering over a row and clicking the magnifying glass to go to the next level of the drill. All subsequent drills are performed in the same browser tab.
- Once you reach the final level of the drill, no more drilling options are available and the magnifying glass no longer displays.

**NOTE:** If a particular drill level has data that cannot be associated with any grouping values, then the drill results contain a row labeled **<No value>**. This row cannot be further drilled. This situation may occur if the drill level contains records with a blank or empty string value, or if some of the underlying data in the row being drilled does not have a reference to the current drill level.

#### UsingDateParts in drill column configurations

Use directed drilling to configure a datepart in a drill column configuration.

In Grid Properties in the right sidebar, enable drilling and select the **Directed** drilling type to configure. Choose the **Directed** option and click **View/Edit Configuration**to open the Edit Drilling Configuration dialog box. This example shows how DEPT.Dept\_Date was configured to retrieve by YearMo.

Edit Drilling Cor	nfiguration				×
Search tables    BGT2020    BGT2020     Dimension Tables	Search columns	Drill columns           1 - DEPT.Dept_Date $\equiv$ 2 - DEPT.Country $\equiv$ 3 - DEPT.Region $\equiv$ 4 - DEPT.Dept	Column prop Drill column DEPT.Dept_D Header Dept_Date Column width Alignment Default (Le Date part to ref	ate 300 ft) ~	8
Cancel OK					

Once configured, the values are shown by the year and month.
New Report			
Drill Path $ imes$	WorldRegion = Europe (Eu By Dept_Date	rope regi	
Dept_Date	÷	YTD	тот
201901		\$4,442	\$10,595
201906		\$0	\$0
Total		\$4,442	\$10,595

## Using key column drilling

If key column drilling is enabled, you can automatically drill to the key column level to view the underlying data. The available key columns are determined as follows:

- If the primary table used as the data context is a data table, you can drill to the validated key columns on the table. However, any key column used as a row dimension will not be available for drilling, since the report already shows data at that level.
- If the primary table used as the data context is a reference table, you can drill to the key of the reference table, unless the key is used as the row dimension.

When you view the report, you can hover your cursor over a row to show the magnifying glass icon on the left side of the row. From here you can drill as follows:

• If there is only one available key for drilling, click the magnifying glass to drill.

• If multiple keys are available for drilling, click the magnifying glass to show a list of the available keys, then click on the key you want to drill.



The drill results open in a new browser tab. If multiple keys were available for drilling, you can optionally drill the drill results to view the other key(s).

If no keys are available for drilling, then the magnifying glass does not display when you hover your cursor over the row.

## Presentation of drill results

When you drill, the drill results display in the same browser tab, replacing the original report grid. The data contents of the drill results are as follows:

- The row dimension(s) of the original report are removed from the grid and replaced with the current drill column. The drill column is either the current column of a directed drilling path, or the selected key column.
- All other columns of the report are included in the drill results and show data for the current drill level.
- If the drill results contain multiple rows of data, the grid includes a total row. If the drill results contain a single row of data, the total row is omitted.
- Drill results are paged if the results contain many rows.

The current drill path displays along the top of the page. The drill path identifies the row that was drilled and the current drill level. If you have drilled the drill results, the previous drill levels also display in the drill path. You can click a previous drill level to return to that level, or you can click the X icon to clear the drill and return to the original report grid.

The drill column displays as follows:

- For key column drilling, the column alignment and width are determined by the column data type. The header text is the key column name. Key column values are presented as Description (Value).
- For directed drilling, the column alignment, width, and header text are as configured in the Edit Drilling Configuration dialog.

XIOM Intelligence Ce	nter						
Drill Path	Corporat     Region = Europe	Country = UF	<				
Region		1	Q1			Q2	
Region		Q1 Actuals	Q1 Budget	Difference	Q2 Actuals	Q2 Budget	Difference
United Kingdom Sales R	egion (UK)	\$161,771	\$247,830	-34.73%	\$237,089	\$244,075	-2.86%

Example drill results with drilling path displayed at the top

# Displaying date and date-time values in web reports

When using Date or DateTime columns in web reports, you can display the values in a variety of different ways:

- You can choose to report on the full date or date-time value, or you can choose to report on just a part of the value by selecting a *date part*. When you use a date part you are extracting a specific portion of the date, such as Year, Month, Quarter, and so on.
- You can choose various formatting options for the date or date-time value. For example, you can display the full date as 10/10/2023 or as October 10, 2023. Many of the date part options also support various formats. For example, you can display the Month date part as 10 or Oct or October.

## Using date formatting versus date parts

There is a significant difference between defining a display format for a date or date-time value, versus using a date part. When you choose a date part, then for the purposes of this report you are effectively changing the column data type and contents to match the selected date part. For example, if you specify the date part as Month, the column is now treated as if it contains values from 1 to 12 representing each month. All of the other information about the date or date-time value is ignored. This means that you can use the column as a row dimension, and the values will be grouped by month instead of by the underlying date or date-time value.

Date formatting, on the other hand, is primarily for display only. The display format does not fundamentally change the way the values are treated. For example, you can choose to format a full date value as simply October 2023, but in this case the column values in the report are still the full date. If you use this column as a row dimension, you will likely see multiple instances of October 2023 as rows,

because the underlying column values are different dates in October 2023 such as 10/102023, 10/11/2023, and so on. You are really grouping the report by the full date values and not by the display format. If instead you want to group the report by month and year (or "yearmo"), then you can select the YearMo date part. Now the column values are effectively transformed to integer yearmo values for purposes of the report, enabling the report data to be grouped by unique yearmo combinations.

Other benefits of using date parts include:

- Column values are sorted by the date part and its chosen display format. For example, if the date
  part is Month, the column will be sorted as expected whether you choose to display the month as
  1-12 or as January-December. Full date or date-time values are always sorted by the full date or
  date-time regardless of display format.
- If end-user filtering is enabled for the column, the filtering options match the configured date part. For example, if the date part is Quarter, the user can filter by selecting from the list of Q1-Q4 values.
- Date parts can also be used when defining filters for the report data, such as general filters or column filters. This makes it easier to construct filters based on a portion of the date or date-time value. For more information, see Using date part filtering.
- Date parts support the concept of a fiscal year calendar. For example, you can choose to return the calendar month or the fiscal month, if they are different for your organization.

### Configuring date parts and display formats for Date and DateTime columns

Use the Column Configuration properties to specify the date part and display format for any Date or DateTime columns in your report.

To configure the date part and display format for a Date or DateTime column:

- 1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, click a column name in either the Row Dimensions box or the Column Definitions box to select that column.
- 2. Complete the following Column Configuration properties in the Configuration Panel, on the General tab:

Item	Description
Date part to retrieve	Specifies the date or date-time part to retrieve for this column. For example, you can return the full date value, or just the year or month, or the fiscal year or month.
	By default, this property is set to <b>Full Date</b> or <b>Full DateTime</b> , which means the column will return the full date or date-time value. You can then use the <b>Date format</b> property to specify how this value should display in the report.
	You can optionally chose a different date part in order to extract and retrieve a specific aspect of the date or date-time value. When a date part is selected, the column data is effectively transformed into the date part values for purposes of this report. For more information on the available date part options, see Date part and format options.
Date format	Specifies the display format for the date or date-time values. The available formatting options depend on the specified <b>Date part to</b> <b>retrieve</b> . Some date parts, such as Year, do not have additional formatting options, in which case this property does not display.
	The label of this property varies depending on the selected date part. For example, if you select <b>Month</b> as the date part, then the label for this setting is <b>Month format</b> .
	For more information on the available formats for each date part, see Date part and format options.
Custom Date Format	Specifies the custom format to use for the full date or date-time value, if the <b>Date format</b> property is set to <b>Custom</b> . For more details on the available options to define default custom formats, see Custom formats.
NOTE: The labels for	nese properties vary depending on whether the column is a Date or

**NOTE:** The labels for these properties vary depending on whether the column is a Date or DateTime column. For example, if the column is DateTime, then the properties are labeled **DateTime part to retrieve, DateTime format**, and **Custom DateTime Format**.

Data filter	Edit
No filter defined	
Enable filter	
Hide column	
DateTime part to retrieve	
Fiscal month	~
Month format	
1 - January	~
-	

Example date part and format properties in the Column Configuration panel

### Date part and format options

You can configure Date and DateTime columns to display in various ways using the date part and format options:

- **Date part**: Specify the part of the date or date-time value that you want to display—such as the full date or date-time, the year or fiscal year of the date, the month or fiscal month of the date, or the hour or minute from the time.
- Format: Specify the format to display the selected date part. For example, if you select full date, you can display it as 10/15/2023 or October 2023 or Thursday, October 15, 2023. If you select Month, you can display it as 10 (the month number), Oct, or October.

The following tables detail the date part and format options. Where multiple formats are available, the default format is shown in bold. If only one format is available for a particular date part, then the **Date format** property does not display.

## Standard date and time options

Date Part	Description	Format
Full Date	Use the full date stored in the column. Only applies to Date columns. This option is the default date part for Date columns.	<ul> <li>Default</li> <li>Custom</li> <li>ShortMonth Year (Oct 2023)</li> <li>Month Year (October 2023)</li> <li>Month/Date/Year as Date (10/15/2023)</li> <li>Day, Month Date, Year (Thursday, October 15,2023)</li> <li>YearMonth as Number (202310)</li> <li>YearMonthDay as Number (20231015)</li> <li>Date data types have a configured default that is set at the grid level. If a column is set to use Default and the grid-level defaults are changed, the column will update to use the new default format. For more information, see Configuring grid properties in a web report.</li> </ul>
Full DateTime	Use the full date-time stored in the column. Only applies to DateTime columns. This option is the default date part for DateTime columns.	<ul> <li>Same as Full Date, plus the following additional options:</li> <li>Month/Date/Year Hour:Minute as DateTime (10/15/2023 13:25)</li> <li>Month/Date/Year Hour:Minute:Second DayPeriod as DateTime (10/15/2023 1:25:00 PM)</li> <li>Day, Month Date, Year Hour:Minute:Second DayPeriod (Thursday, October 15, 2023 1:25:00 PM)</li> <li>YearMonthDate Hour:Minute as Number (20231015 13:25)</li> <li>Date Time data types have a configured default that is set at the grid level. If a column is set to use Default and the grid-level defaults are changed, the column will update to use the new format. For more information, see Configuring grid properties in a web report.</li> </ul>
Date Only	Use the date part of the date-time. Only applies to DateTime columns.	Same formats that are available for Full Date.

Date Part	Description	Format
YearMo	Use the combined year and month of the date.	Year and Month combined (202310)
Year	Use the year part of the date.	Full year (2023)
Quarter	Use the quarter for the date.	<ul> <li>Number of the Quarter (1-4)</li> <li>Number of the Quarter with Prefix (Q1)</li> <li>Text Description (1st quarter)</li> </ul>
Month	Use the month part of the date.	<ul> <li>Number of the Month (1-12)</li> <li>Number of the Month with 2-Digits (01)</li> <li>Short Name of the Month (Jan)</li> <li>Name of the Month (January)</li> </ul>
Week	Use the number of the week for the date, within the year.	Number of the Week (1-52)
Day of Year	Use the day of the year for the date.	Number of the Day (1-365)
Day of Month	Use the day of the month for the date.	Number of the Date (1-31)
Day of Week	Use the day of the week for the date. The first day of the week is Sunday.	<ul> <li>Number of the Day (1-7)</li> <li>2-Letter Abbreviation for the Day (Su)</li> <li>Short Name of the Day (Sun)</li> <li>Name of the Day (Sunday)</li> </ul>
Hour	Use the hour of the date- time. Only applies to DateTime columns.	<ul> <li>24-Hour Clock Number (0-23)</li> <li>12-Hour Clock with Day Period (1 AM)</li> <li>24-Hour Clock as Hundreds (100)</li> </ul>
Minute	Use the minute of the date-time. Only applies to DateTime columns.	Number of the minute (0-59)

### NOTES:

- If a column is configured to display the full date or date-time, but the selected format only shows a part of it, the column sorting and filtering remains based on the full date or date-time value.
- If a DateTime column is configured to display the hour, the column filtering is always based on 0-23, regardless of the display format. For example, if the display format is a 12-hour clock with day period, filtering by 13 displays values of 1 PM.
- If a Date or DateTime column is configured to use a date part that is not the full date part such as Year, Quarter, or Month—the column becomes a Dimension date type for purposes of inheriting the default alignment and column width.

### Fiscal year options

The fiscal year for your system is determined by the system configuration setting **ClientFiscalYearEndMonth**. By default, this is set to 12, which means the fiscal year is the same as the calendar year. If your organization uses a different fiscal year end, your implementation consultant should adjust this setting accordingly.

For example, if your organization's fiscal year ends in June, the **ClientFiscalYearEndMonth** setting should be changed to 6. This means:

- A date of 6/1/2023 is in fiscal year 2023 and represents month 12 of the 2023 fiscal year.
- A date of 7/12023 is in fiscal year 2024 and represents month 1 of the 2024 fiscal year.

When the fiscal year is different than the calendar year, the fiscal year options will return different date information than the corresponding standard date options. Continuing the example where the fiscal year end is June, the following return values apply to a date of 7/1/2023:

- The Year part will return 2023, whereas the Fiscal Year part will return 2024.
- The Quarter part will return Q3, whereas the Fiscal Quarter part will return Q1.
- The Month part will return 7, whereas the Fiscal Month part will return 1.

Date Part	Description	Format
Fiscal YearMo	Use the combined fiscal year and month that the date belongs to.	Year and Month combined (202410)
Fiscal Year	Use the fiscal year that the date belongs to.	Full year (2024)
Fiscal Quarter	Use the fiscal quarter that the date belongs to.	<ul> <li>Number of the Quarter (1-4)</li> <li>Number of the Quarter with Prefix (Q1)</li> <li>Text Description (1st quarter)</li> </ul>

Date Part	Description	Format
Fiscal Month	Use the fiscal month that the date belongs to.	<ul> <li>Number of the Month (1-12)</li> <li>Number of the Month with 2-Digits (01)</li> <li>Number And Short Name of the Month (1 - Jan)</li> <li>Number And Name of the Month (1- January)</li> </ul>

## Custom formats

When using the Full Date or Full DateTime parts, you can optionally specify a custom format to display the date or date-time value. When you select **Custom** as the format, a **Custom Date Format** box becomes available so that you can enter the custom format syntax. The following case-sensitive syntax can be used in the custom format:

Desired Date/Time Part	Syntax	Notes
Day Period	а	Returns the day period AM or PM.
Day of Month	d	For the day number (1), use one or two letters (d or dd). dd enforces 2 digits.
Day of Week	E or e	<ul> <li>For the abbreviated day name (Sun), use one upper-case letter (E).</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>For the full name (Sunday), use four upper-case letters (EEEE).</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>For the numerical day of the week (1), use one lower-case letter (e). Sunday is the first day.</li> </ul>
Hour	H or h	<ul> <li>For the hour in the 12-hour clock (1-12), use one or two lower-case letters (h or hh). hh enforces two digits.</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>For the hour in the 24 hour clock (0-23), use one or two upper-case letters (H or HH). HH enforces two digits.</li> </ul>
		<b>NOTE:</b> Use k if you want to display the 24 hour clock as 1-24 instead of 0-23.
Minutes	m	For the minutes number (1), use one or two letters (m or mm). mm enforces 2 digits.
Month	М	<ul> <li>For the numerical month (1), use one or two letters (M or MM). MM enforces 2 digits.</li> </ul>
		• For the short name (Jan), use three letters (MMM).
		• For the wide name (January), use four letters (MMMM).

Desired Date/Time Part	Syntax	Notes
Seconds	S	For the seconds number (1), use one or two letters (s or ss). ss enforces 2 digits.
Quarter	Q	<ul> <li>For the numerical quarter (1), use one or two letters (Q or QQ). QQ enforces 2 digits.</li> <li>For the abbreviation (Q1), use three letters (QQ).</li> <li>For the text description (1st quarter), use four letters (QQQQ).</li> </ul>
Year	У	<ul> <li>To render the full year (2023), use one letter (y).</li> <li>To render a two-digit year (20), use two letters (yy).</li> </ul>

For example, to render a date as 2023 Oct 10, you would enter the following into the Custom Date Format box: y MMM d.

Date part to retrieve	
Full Date	~
Date format	
Custom	~
Custom Date Format	
y MMM d	

Example custom date format

## Displaying hyperlinks in web reports

Web reports can display hyperlinks within a column, so that each row can link to a designated page or plan file relating to the current row of the report. You can define two different types of links:

- **Custom**: Link to any page in the Axiom system by entering a relative URL. Variables can be used in the URL so that it is unique per row of the report.
- **Plan File**: Link to any set of plan files in the Axiom system. When using this option, Axiom dynamically generates the URL to each plan file on a per row basis, given a file group context. The row dimension of the report must be the key column of the plan code table in order to generate the links.

Process Status By Department							
Dept	Process Status	Current Step	Current Step Name	Total	More Information		
21000 - Corporate Administration	Active	2	Management Approval	\$109,424	Open routing page for 21000		
22000 - Information Technologies	Active	2	Management Approval	\$446,802	Open routing page for 22000		
23000 - Purchasing & Materials Mgmt	Active	3	Management Edits	\$129,671	Open routing page for 23000		
24000 - Business Development	Active	3	Management Edits	\$29,110	Open routing page for 24000	routing details	
25000 - Finance	Active	2	Management Approval	\$169,733	Open routing page for 25000		
26000 - Portfolio Management	Active	3	Management Edits	\$105,420	Open routing page for 26000		
27000 - Human Resources	Active	2	Management Approval	\$113,366	Open routing page for 27000		
28000 - Facilities	Active	3	Management Edits	\$851,278	Open routing page for 28000		
29000 - Legal	Active	2	Management Approval	\$137,963	Open routing page for 29000		
40000 - Los Angeles - Store 3400	Active	3	Management Edits	\$17,490,615	Open routing page for 40000		
				\$118,326,278			
H 4 1 2 3 ► H					25 🗸 iter	ns per page 1 - 25 of	f 59 items

Example report with a hyperlink column

To configure a column in a web report to show hyperlinks:

1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, in the Report Canvas, click a column name in either the Row Dimensions box or the Column Definitions box to select that column.

You must select the column name in the setup boxes and not the column name in the grid below. Selecting a column name in the preview grid causes the Grid Configuration to display instead of the Column Configuration.

**NOTE:** The ability to display hyperlinks within a column is not available if the report uses fixed rows. Additionally, the following column types cannot be enabled to display hyperlinks: dynamic columns and process columns.

- 2. In the Column Configuration panel, select the Advanced tab.
- 3. In the Link properties section, select Enable links.
- 4. Complete the Link properties as needed.

~
sert variable 🔻
sert variable 🔻
sert variable 🔻

Example hyperlink properties

Once a column is enabled to show links, the column will display the contents of the Link text property. If the Link text property is left blank, the normal column contents display. Column contents are styled as hyperlinks with blue underlined text when the report is viewed in Preview mode or in the report viewer.

### NOTES:

- Hyperlinks do not show on the column within the Report Canvas grid. You must view the report in Preview mode or the report viewer in order to see and interact with the hyperlinks.
- If you click a hyperlink while viewing the report in Preview mode, the link always opens in a new tab, regardless of the link property configuration. This is done so that clicking the hyperlink does not cause you to exit the Report Builder.
- Hyperlinks are not preserved when exporting a report. If you export to PDF, the column displays the link text without an active hyperlink. If you export to Excel or a delimited file, the link configuration is ignored, and the regular column value is exported (as if the column were not enabled to show links).

### Link properties

The following properties are available in the **Advanced** tab of the **Column Configuration** panel when **Enable links** is enabled.

ltem	Description
Link	Specifies the type of link to display in the column:
type	<ul> <li>Custom: You specify the relative URL for the hyperlink, including using variables to dynamically incorporate the current column value in the URL.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Plan file: Axiom dynamically generates a hyperlink to the plan file associated with each row. In order to use this option, the report must have a specified File group context in the Report Configuration properties, and the row dimension must be the key column of the plan code table for that file group. For more information, see Setting up a report for plan file links.</li> </ul>
	<b>NOTE:</b> This option only displays if the report meets the requirements to support plan file links. Otherwise, all links are custom links by default, and this option does not display.

Item	Description					
URL	The URL to link on each row. The URL must be to a relative location within the Axiom system. When the report is viewed, the full URL will be generated by appending the relative URL to the current Axiom system address.					
	To make the link dynamic, use the <b>Insert Variable</b> menu above the box to insert a variable for use within the URL. For more information, see Using variables in the link properties.					
	For example, imagine that the report contains the key column of a plan code table (such as Dept or CapReq), and you want each plan code to link to the Process Routing page for a particular plan file process. The full URL to the Process Routing page uses the following syntax:					
	https://mycompany.axiom.cloud/process/ processdefinitionID/planfile?planvalue=plancode					
	The process definition ID will be constant for the URL, but the plan code value needs to be the current row's department value. The {value} variable can be used for this purpose. The following relative URL with a variable would be entered into the URL field:					
	<pre>/process/16682/planfile?planvalue={value}</pre>					
	<b>NOTE:</b> The relative URL can be entered with or without the beginning forward slash.					
	When the report is viewed, the column will resolve to use the full URL with the current column value. For example, the row showing Dept 22000 will have the following URL:					
	https://mycompany.axiom.cloud/process/16682/planfile?planval ue=22000					
	When the user clicks on the hyperlink in this row, they will be taken to the Process Routing page for Dept 22000, for the plan file process associated with process definition ID 16682.					
	<b>NOTE:</b> The URL property only displays if the specified link type is custom, or if the <b>Link</b> <b>type</b> option is not present because all links in the report are custom. When using the plan file link type, the URL to the plan file is automatically generated by Axiom.					
Link text	Optional. Specifies the display text for the hyperlink column. Enter the desired text, using variables as needed. For more information, see Using variables in the link properties.					
	If you want the link text to be the regular column value—meaning the same value that would display in the report if the column was not enabled as a link column—then you can leave this field blank. The regular column value is automatically used as the link text.					

ltem	Description
Link tooltip	Optional. Specifies the tooltip to show when a user hovers the cursor over the hyperlink. Enter the desired text, using variables as needed. For more information, see Using variables in the link properties.
Open link in new tab	Specifies whether the hyperlink opens in the same tab (replacing the report) or in a new tab. By default, the hyperlink opens in the same tab. Enable this option if you want the hyperlink to open in a new tab.
	<b>NOTE:</b> If the link type is <b>Plan file</b> and the plan files are spreadsheets that will open in the Axiom Desktop Client, then you should <i>not</i> enable this option because it does not apply. The links will work either way, but if you enable the option to open in a new tab, then Axiom will first open an empty browser tab and then launch the Desktop Client.

## Using variables in the link properties

The following variables can be used in the **URL**, **Link text**, and **Link tooltip** properties, so that these values can be unique per row of the report. To insert a variable, use the **Insert Variable** menu above each field. Once the variable has been inserted into the field, you can enter any additional text as needed.

Item	Description
{value}	Resolves as the raw column value for the current row. For example, if the column is a numeric column, the value will not have numeric formatting and will show all decimal places.
	This variable is most appropriate for use in the URL property, when the URL contains the column value. For example, the URL to the Process Routing page contains the plan code value.
{formattedvalue}	Resolves as the formatted column value for the current row, honoring any default formats for the column type and applied formatting in the Column Configuration properties.
{column: TableName.ColumnName}	Resolves as the raw value in the specified table column, for the current row. This can be used if you need to reference a value from a different column than the current column in any of the URL properties.
	Edit the variable to replace the <i>TableName.ColumnName</i> text with the desired table column name. For example: {column:Dept.Description}

Item	Description
<pre>{column: TableName.ColumnName :format}</pre>	Resolves as a formatted value in the specified table column, for the current row. This can be used if you need to reference a numeric value from a different column than the current column in any of the URL properties, and you need to apply formatting to that numeric value.
	Edit the variable as follows:
	<ul> <li>Replace the <i>TableName.ColumnName</i> text with the desired table column name.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Replace the <i>format</i> text with syntax that indicates the desired numeric format. See the following table for details on this syntax.</li> </ul>
	<pre>For example: {column:BGT2023.ml:\$#,#}</pre>

**NOTE:** If you use a variable to display values from a different column as the **Link text**, the total row will continue to display the total of the actual column values. It is recommended to omit the column from the total row in this case.

### Number format syntax

Number format syntax is case-sensitive. All examples assume the raw value is 1234.5678

Syntax	Description	Examples
0 (zero)	The zero placeholder replaces the zero with the	0 returns 1234
	corresponding digit if such is present. Otherwise, zero appears in the result string.	00000 returns 01234
# (pound)	The digit placeholder replaces the pound sign	# returns 1234
	with the corresponding digit if one is present. Otherwise, no digit appears in the result string.	##### returns 1234
. (period)	The decimal placeholder determines the	0.00 returns 1234.57
	location of the decimal separator in the result string.	#.## returns 1234.57
<i>,</i> (comma)	The group separator placeholder inserts a	0,0 returns 1,234
	localized group separator between each group.	#,# returns 1,234
% (percent)	The percentage placeholder multiplies a number by 100 and inserts a localized percentage symbol in the result string.	#% returns 123456%

Syntax	Description	Examples
\$ (dollar)	The currency placeholder specifies that the number will be formatted by using the currency culture settings. The \$ symbol is replaced with the localized currency symbol. \$ is interpreted as a format specifier in the format string.	\$#,#.00 returns \$1234.57

## Setting up a report for plan file links

You can enable a column to link to plan files in a file group, without needing to manually create the necessary URLs to the plan files. The application will automatically generate the correct URL syntax to each plan file.

In order to do this, the report must be set up as follows:

- A file group must be specified as the **File group context** for the report. The plan file hyperlinks will open the plan files in the designated file group.
  - ° Click the gear icon to view the Report Configuration panel.
  - Click Edit over the File group context field.
  - Select a file group or file group alias, then click OK. Selecting a file group alias means the report will be dynamically associated with the file group that is currently assigned to the alias. For example, if the Current Budget alias is updated so that it points to the Budget 2024 file group instead of the Budget 2023 file group, the report will update to link to plan files in the Budget 2024 file group.
- The row dimension for the report must be the key column of the plan code table. For example, if the plan code table of the file group is Dept, the row dimension for the report must be Dept.Dept.

Refresh Data	Preview	Save 🔻
Report Configuration		
Title		
Budget Status		
Secondary title		
Subtitle		
By Department		
Report description		
File group context		Edit
Current Budget (Budg	et 2021)	×

Example Report Configuration panel with a designated file group context

Once the report is configured so that plan file links are possible, then the **Plan file** link type becomes available as an option in the **Link properties**. Once this option is selected, the URL field becomes hidden because Axiom will automatically generate the necessary URL to the plan files.

In the following example, the Dept column has been enabled to contain hyperlinks to plan files. The Link text field has been left blank to use the column values in the Dept column, which have been configured to show descriptions.

Budget Status		+ Add Secondary Ti	Column Configuration General Advanced	
By Department				Header Properties
+ •				+ - Header text
Dept	ess Status 🚥 🖾 Current Ste	p 🚥 🔲 Current Step Number	r •••	Dept Multi-row header
Dept	Process Status	Current Step	Current Step Number	Autowrap header text Header alignment
21000 - Corporate Administration	Active	Management Approval	2	Default (Left)
22000 - Information Technologies	Active	Management Approval	2	Link Properties
23000 - Purchasing & Materials Mgmt	Active	Management Edits	3	Enable link
24000 - Business Development	Active	Management Edits	3	Link type
25000 - Finance	Active	Management Approval	2	Plan File 🗸
26000 - Portfolio Management	Active	Management Edits	3	Link text Insert variable 🔻
27000 - Human Resources	Active	Management Approval	2	
28000 - Facilities	Active	Management Edits	3	Link tooltip Insert variable 🔻
	Active	Management Approval	2	Click to open plan file
29000 - Legal				Open link in new tab

Example link properties to use plan file links

When the report is viewed, the column enabled for plan file links will contain hyperlinks to the plan files in the designated file group. If the plan files are web-enabled, the hyperlinks open the plan files in the browser. If the plan files are spreadsheet-based, the hyperlinks open the plan files in the Axiom Desktop Client.

Budget Status By Department						
Dept	• Pro	cess Status	Curre	nt Step	Current Ste	p Number
21000 - Corporate Administration	Acti	ve	Mana	gement Approval	2	
22000 - Information Technologies	Acti	ve	Mana	gement Approval	2	
23000 - Purchasing & Materials Mgmt	Acti	ve	Mana	gement Edits	3	
24000 - Business Development	Acti	ve	Mana	gement Edits	3	
25000 - Finance	Acti	ve	Mana	gement Approval	2	
Click to open plan file	Acti	ve	Mana	gement Edits	3	
27000 - Human Resources	Acti	ve	Mana	gement Approval	2	
28000 - Facilities	Acti	ve	Mana	gement Edits	3	
H 4 1 2 3 F H						25 🗸 items

Example report with a column enabled for plan file links

#### NOTES:

- If the designated file group has a Show On List column, the row dimension is *not* automatically filtered to only show plan codes where the Show On List column is true (1). You should define a general filter for the report to exclude plan codes where the Show On List column is false (0). The row dimension will only be filtered automatically if you have also chosen to include process management columns in the report.
- If a plan file has not been created for a plan code, the row will still contain a hyperlink but the hyperlink will fail with a "plan file has not been created" error.
- You can select the **Plan file** link type for any column in the report that you want to link to the plan files. The column with the hyperlinks does not have to be the key column of the plan code table.

## Reporting on process information in web reports

You can include process columns in a web report in order to display status information for plan files in a plan file process. You can display information such as:

- Current process status for a plan file, including the current step name and number
- Process step history per plan file, including the name and number of each step the plan file has been active in, the plan file's step status, and the time spent in the step
- Step statistics, such as average time spent in each step and number of workbooks in each step

In order to report on process information, the web report must be associated with a file group. The process columns are then available to be added to the report, and will return information on the designated plan file process for the file group.

## Configuring a web report to use process columns

Process columns are not available for use in the Report Builder unless the report is associated with a file group. This association is made in the Report Configuration properties.

### Primary table prerequisite

Process reporting will only work if the primary table selected as the **Data Context** for the report is compatible with the plan code table for the file group. In the majority of cases you should select the plan code table itself. For example, if the plan code table is Dept, then you should select Dept as the primary table for the report. However, if needed you can use a table with a lookup to the plan code table instead.

To associate a web report with a file group:

1. On the **Build** tab of the Report Builder, click the gear button at the top of the page to load the Report Configuration properties.



2. In the Report Configuration properties, click the Edit link above the File group context box.



3. In the Choose File Group Context dialog, select a file group or a file group alias, then click OK.

Use the radio buttons at the top of the list to toggle between viewing file group aliases or file groups. When viewing file group aliases, the name of the file group that is currently assigned to the alias displays in parentheses after the alias name.

Choose File Group Context				
● File group alias				
Name	T			
Current Budget (Budget 2021)				
Current Capital (Capital Requests)				
Cancel	ок			

Selecting a file group alias means the report will be dynamically associated with the file group that is currently assigned to the alias. For example, if the Current Budget alias is updated so that it points to the Budget 2024 file group instead of the Budget 2023 file group, the report will update to show the process information for the Budget 2024 file group.

**NOTE:** The selected file group must have a designated **Plan File Process** in the file group properties.

Once a file group context has been selected, a new node appears in the Data Panel named **Process Management**. The process columns are listed under this node, organized into **Process Status Columns** and **Process Step Columns**. To use a process column in the report, drag and drop it to the setup boxes at the top of the Report Canvas just like any other column.

Data Context						
CapitalRequest	1					
Search tables	Search columns					
► I CapitalRequest						
▶ 🗓 Dimension Tables						
🔹 📰 Process Manageme	ent					
🔹 🖌 Process Status C	olumns					
Process Status						
Current Step						
Process Initiato	r					
<ul> <li>Process Step Colu</li> </ul>	umns					
Process Step						
🔲 Step Status						
Time in Step						
Workbook Cour	nt					

Process columns available in the Data Panel

### Using process columns

The following tables detail what each process column returns, as well as usage and configuration guidance for each column. Additionally, note the following:

- When a process column is used in a report, the plan code values are automatically filtered to only return codes that have any activity in the plan file process. It is not necessary to filter the report by a ShowOnList column in order to suppress plan code values that are not active in the file group.
- Process columns can be used as row dimensions or as column definitions, however, only certain process columns make sense to use as row dimensions. See the column details for more information.

### Process status columns

The process status columns can be used to display current process status information for plan codes in the file group. These columns are best used if you want to create a report that shows the current step and status for each plan file.

When using the process status columns, the row dimension for the report should be just the key column of the plan code table for the file group. For example, if the plan code table is Dept, the row dimension should be the Dept key column of that table. This means that each row of the report will be a plan code in the file group, showing the process status for that plan code. Note the following:

Column Name	Description
Process Status	Returns the current process status for each plan code. For example: Active, Stalled, Completed, or Aborted.
Current Step	Returns the name and/or number of the current step of the plan file.
	<ul> <li>By default, the column is configured to show as Value (Description), where Value is the step number and Description is the step name.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>You can use the Description display format option in the Column Configuration panel to change the display format—for example, to display as Description Only or as Value - Description.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If you want to display just the step number, disable the Show description option in the Column Configuration panel.</li> </ul>
Process Initiator	Returns the name of the user who initiated the process for the plan file. This column is only available if the associated file group is an on-demand file group.

**NOTE:** Reports created prior to version 2022.1 may have a column named Current Step Number— this column has been deprecated but it will continue to work in existing reports.

### Process step columns

The process step columns can be used to return process information for each step that a plan file has been active in. When using process step columns, you should set the row dimension as follows, depending on the goal of the report:

- If the goal of the report is to see step detail by plan code, then the row dimension should be set to both the key column of the plan code table and the Process Step column. This means that the report will contain a separate row for each combination of plan code and step.
- If the goal of the report is to see grouped information about the step, then the sum level for the query should be set to just the Process Step column. This is useful to see information such as average time in step, and the count of workbooks that have been active in the step.

Column Name	Description
Process Step	Returns the name and/or number of the step. When using process step columns, this column should be a row dimension for the report.
	<ul> <li>By default, the column is configured to show as Value (Description), where Value is the step number and Description is the step name.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>You can use the Description display format option in the Column Configuration panel to change the display format—for example, to display as Description Only or as Value - Description.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If you want to display just the step number, disable the Show description option in the Column Configuration panel.</li> </ul>
	Sub-steps are returned using decimals, such as 2.1 and 2.2. Even though this column is a string column, if the report is sorted by the Step Number column the numbers will be sorted in the correct order.
Step Status	Returns the status of the step per plan file. This column is only useful when the row dimension is set to both the key column of the plan code table and the Process Step column.
Time In Step	Returns the time spent in each step per plan file. Although the raw value for this column is seconds, the total seconds are translated into the highest useful time value for display in the report—whether that is seconds, minutes, hours, or days. Therefore, one plan file may list the time in step as "25 minutes" while another plan file may list the time in step as "2 days".
	If the row dimension for the report is set to just the Process Step column, then the <b>Aggregation</b> for the Time In Step column should be changed to <b>Average</b> so that the column returns the average time spent in the step (for all plan codes that were ever active in the step). Otherwise the column will return the total time spent by all plan codes in the step, which is likely not a useful value.
	<b>NOTE:</b> If you use this column in a calculation, the calculation will be based on the raw seconds value. Therefore if you want to return the time in step using the same time unit for all plan codes, regardless of how long they have been in the step, you can use a calculation to do so. For example, divide the time in step by 86400 to convert the seconds to days.

value.	Column Name	Description
This column always uses Count aggregation and cannot be changed.	Workbook Count	column is only useful when the row dimension is set to just the Process Step column, so that you can see the count for all plan codes that have been active in the step. If the key column of the plan code table is included as the row dimension, then the Workbook Count will always return 1 for each plan code / step combination, which is likely not a useful
		This column always uses Count aggregation and cannot be changed.

**NOTE:** Reports created prior to version 2022.1 may have columns named Step Number and Step Name—these columns have been deprecated but will continue to work in existing reports.

## Filtering based on process columns

When a report uses process columns, the report can be filtered based on these columns.

• End user filtering: If a process column is enabled for end user filtering (Enable filter is enabled for the column), then users viewing the report can filter it on the fly. For example, a user may want to filter the Process Status column to only see plan files that are currently stalled in the process.

Process Status Report						
Dept 🗢	Process Status	T Current Step Current				
21000 - Corporate Administration	Active	Aborted				
22000 - Information Technologies	Active	Active				
23000 - Purchasing & Materials Mgmt	Stalled	Completed				
24000 - Business Development	Active	Pending				
25000 - Finance	Active	Stalled				
26000 - Portfolio Management	Active	Clear				
27000 - Human Resources	Active	Rudget Development 1				

Example end user filtering on process columns

• **Report filtering**: Process columns can be used to define a general report filter or a table-specific report filter, to limit the data shown in the report. For example, you may want to filter the report to only show plan files in a certain step or with a certain status. The Process Management columns are only available in the Filter Wizard dialog when the report is configured to enable use of process columns.

Edit filter		×
Columns     Filter Library       Search columns <ul> <li></li></ul>	■ Process Step = v 2 AND v ■ Time in Step > v 2 days	
	Process Step = '2' AND Time in Step > 172800	
Save as Global Filter	Cancel	ок

Example filter using process columns

Process Management columns cannot be used as column filters on columns or calculations, or on groups. The Process Management columns node is hidden when the Filter Wizard is opened in these contexts.

#### NOTES:

- When filtering by process columns, you should base the filter on the same set of columns that you are using in the report (Process Status Columns or Process Step Columns). Although it is possible to cross-filter, the results may not be as expected since these two sets of columns are looking at the process information from two different angles.
- If you are filtering by Time in Step, input the number as seconds. The Filter Wizard will then convert that number to the largest relevant time unit for display in the dialog.

### Example process reports

The following screenshots show some of the reports that can be created using process columns. These examples only use process columns, but the reports could contain additional columns from the plan code table or from related data tables, in cases where it makes sense to show this additional information.

The first example shows a report using process status columns, for the purpose of viewing the current status of each plan code. The row dimension is the key column of the plan code table (CapitalID).

Process Status						
Capital Request	÷ T	Process Status	Current Step	Process Initiator		
11 - New machinery		Active	1 - Initial Request	Wendy Hunter		
13 - Equipment maintenance		Active	2 - Manager Inputs	Wendy Hunter		
14 - Warehouse remodel		Active	1 - Initial Request	Rufus Xavier Sasparilla		
16 - Computer upgrades		Active	4 - Executive Approval	Wendy Hunter		

Web report with process status columns

The second example shows a report using process step columns, for the purpose of viewing process history for each plan code. The row dimension is set to the step name and the key column of the plan code table (Dept). The end user could filter the Dept column to view the history for a specific plan code.

Step History per Plan File						
Dept +	Process Step 🔶	Step Status	Time in Step			
21000 - Corporate Administration	1 - Budget Development	Active	6 days			
22000 - Information Technologies	1 - Budget Development	Completed	32 minutes			
22000 - Information Technologies	2 - Management Approval	Skipped	0 seconds			
22000 - Information Technologies	3 - Management Edits	Active	6 days			
23000 - Purchasing & Materials Mgmt	1 - Budget Development	Completed	32 minutes			
23000 - Purchasing & Materials Mgmt	2 - Management Approval	Skipped	0 seconds			

Web report with process step columns, grouped by key column and step

The third example shows a report using process step columns, for the purpose of viewing process statistics. The row dimension is set to the step number only, so that the process data is aggregated at the step level. The columns show the count of workbooks that have been active in each step, as well as the average time in step per workbook.

Average Time in Step							
÷	Time in Step	Workbook Count					
	6 days	59					
	2 days	16					
	6 days	12					
	8 days	3					
	¢	<ul> <li>Time in Step</li> <li>6 days</li> <li>2 days</li> <li>6 days</li> </ul>					

Web report with process step columns, grouped by step

## Using the Filter Wizard in the Report Builder

The Filter Wizard displays when you create or edit a filter in the Report Builder. The same dialog is used for report filters, column filters, and column group filters. The dialog provides a user-friendly way to build data filters using your current system's data structures.

Edit f	ilter			×
Col	lumns	Filter Library		
Searc	ch tables	Search colum	AND -	
• <u>Þ</u>	រឿ Dimension	Tables		
•	П АССТ		AND -	
•	I DEPT		≡ Category = ▼ Revenue	
	🔲 Dept			
	Descrip	otion		
	🔲 Templa	te		
•	WorldR	egion		
	Country	/		
•	Region			
	Currence	су		
•	U VP		DEPT.WorldRegion <> 'Europe' AND DEPT.Description LIKE '%store%' AND (ACCT.Category = 'Revenue' OR ACCT.FcstAcct = 'Pr Revenue')	ogram
	Employ	rees		
	III Manag	•		
Save a	s Global Fil	Iter	Cancel	ок

Example Filter Wizard in the Report Builder

Using the Filter Wizard, you can:

- Browse and search table columns to create a new filter, or, use a global filter from the Filter Library.
- Select the operator for the filter such as equals, not equals, greater than, less than, and so on.
- Select existing column values to filter by, or manually enter values.
- Easily combine and group multiple filter statements using AND and OR.

### Creating a filter

Each filter that you create in the Filter Wizard can consist of one or more *filter statements*. Multiple filter statements are combined using OR or AND to create compound filters. Each filter statement consists of a Table.Column name, an operator, and one or more values. For example, the following are all filter statements:

```
Dept.Region='US West'
Acct.Acct IN (1250, 1300, 1400)
Encounter.AdmitDate BETWEEN 1/1/2021 and 12/31/2022
GL2023.M1 > 0
```

The following steps describe the general process of creating a new filter from scratch. For more information on specific aspects of the Filter Wizard, see the other sections in this topic.

To create a filter in the Filter Wizard:

- 1. In the Filter Wizard dialog, on the **Columns** tab, use the table tree to find the column that you want to use for the first column filter statement. Note the following:
  - The table tree is automatically filtered to only show tables that are relevant to the current context. For example, if you are creating a table-specific report-level filter, the table tree is filtered to only show the selected table.
  - You can use the search boxes over the table tree to search for a particular table or column by name.
- 2. Select the column and drag it over to the right-hand area of the dialog. This area is known as the *filter canvas*. Once you drop the column to the filter canvas, it creates a filter statement "box" that is structured as follows:

ColumnName Operator Values

3. If the column is a Date or DateTime column, select the date part that you want to use for the filter. For more information on this choice, see Using date part filtering.

By default, when you drag over a Date or DateTime column, the date part menu automatically opens. If you press the Escape key or otherwise close the date part menu without making a selection, the default is Full Date or Full DateTime. If you select a date part from the menu, the operator menu automatically opens next.

- 4. From the operator menu, select the operator that you want to use for the filter statement. By default, when you drag over the column, the operator menu automatically opens. The data type of the column determines the default operator and the list of available operators. For more information, see Using operators.
- 5. Select or input one or more values for the column filter statement. If you selected an operator from the operator menu, the following occurs:
  - If the operator is equals or not equals, the Select Values dialog automatically opens so that you can select one or more values. If you select multiple values, the operator will automatically adjust to IN or NOT IN to accommodate the multiple values. For more information on using this dialog, see Using the Select Values dialog.
  - If the operator is anything else, an input box becomes focused so that you can input or select one or more values. In most cases, this will be a single input box where you can type the desired value. Note the following:

- If the column is a String column and you are manually typing in text instead of selecting values in the column, do not type quotation marks or wildcard characters. The Filter Wizard will automatically add quotation marks or wildcard characters as needed.
- If the operator is BETWEEN or NOT BETWEEN, two input boxes become available so that you can input or select both values.
- If the column is a Boolean column, the input becomes a drop-down menu for selecting True or False.
- If the column is a Date or Date time column, the input becomes a calendar control to select a date or date/time from a calendar.

If instead you closed the operator menu without making an explicit selection, then the default operator is used and the column filter statement is set to <no values>. You can manually click on the <no values> text to specify one or more values using the same behavior described previously.

6. Repeat the previous steps as needed to create more filter statements.

**NOTE:** You can use preexisting global filters instead of creating filter statements, or use global filters in combination with filter statements. Select the **Filter Library** tab, locate the desired filter, and drag and drop it to the filter canvas. For more information, see Using global filters in the Report Builder.

- 7. If your filter consists of multiple filter statements and/or global filters, these are combined using AND or OR. By default, all statements in the filter are combined using AND. You can group multiple statements together and change the compound operator as needed. For more information, see Creating compound filters.
- 8. Review the complete filter as shown at the bottom of the Filter Wizard.
- 9. Click **OK** to complete the filter and apply it to the current context.

When building a filter, or when editing an existing filter, you can:

- **Change the operator:** Click on the operator to open the operator menu and select a different operator. In most cases your current value or values are preserved and will apply to the new operator if applicable.
- **Change the value(s):** Click on the value to select or input a different value or values. You can also hover your cursor to the right of the filter statement and click the pencil icon to edit the value.
- Add more statements: Drag additional columns or global filters to the canvas, then specify how these statements are combined. You can group and reorder statements by selecting and dragging them.

• **Remove statements:** Hover your cursor over an existing filter statement or global filter, then click the trash can icon to remove it from the filter. Note that if you want to clear a filter, this is not achieved by deleting all the filter statements within the filter. Instead you should delete the filter from the current context. For example, if the filter is a column filter, click the **Clear** option for the filter in the **Column Properties**.

Edit filter	Click to choose the operator for the statement Click to specify values for the statement	×
Columns Filter Library Search tables Search colum.	Europe Change how multiple statement	
▼ 🗐 Dimension Tables		
► I ACCT ▼ I DEPT	E Category = ▼ Revenue	
Dept     Description		
Drag a column to the canvas to filter by that column	Edit or delete a statement	
Currency VP Employees	DEPT.WorldRegion <> 'Europe' AND DEPT.Description LIKE '%store%' AND (ACCT.Category = 'Revenue' OR ACCT.FcstAcct = 'Pro Revenue')	ogram
Save as Global Filter	Display of full filter for review Cancel	ОК

• Add values manually: You can type values manually or paste from other sources, such as spreadsheets. For pasted content, the filter wizard will recognize most filter delimiters (such as spaces and semi-colons) and correctly create the SQL statement. However, if you are typing values manually, use commas. When you enter simple string values, you do not have to place the quotes around the string because they are added automatically. In this example, the string contains several countries (France, Italy, US, UK) without quotes. In the case of Costa Rica, you must add quotes because that country has two words.

Col	umns Filter Library			E Dept	In 👻	(10011222	, 11083234)			
earc	h tables Search co	mns		= Dept	•	(10011322	, 11063234)	AND 🗸		
	Dimension Tables	^	=	Countr	ry In	<ul> <li>(France)</li> </ul>	and 4 more)			
-	ACCT	- 1								
	DEPT	- 1								
	🗖 Dept									
	Description									
۲	WorldRegion									
	Country									
Þ	Region									
	Currency									
F	TVP									
	Employees									Typed quotes were only needed for Costa Rica. The other countries did n
	Manager									need us to type quotes. The results in t SQL statement are correct for all
	Consolidated									countries.
۲	🗖 Email									
۲	TempBud		DEPT	Dept IN (1	0011322,	11083234) AN	ID DEPT.Country	IN ('France', 'Italy', 'US',	'UK', 'Costa Rica')	
	FcstDept									
	BgtCombineDuringQuery									
	ShowOnList	•								

Filter wizard with manually entered strings

Notes about manual entries:

- If your string has leading or trailing spaces, use quotes that include those spaces (for example, ' a ').
- If you search for a value in a large table (such as the EDS Encounters table), you can type the first few characters or numbers in the search field to retrieve those results more quickly.
- You cannot directly edit the SQL statement for your filter. If you need to make changes or additions, use the filter options to select or manually enter the values needed.

### Using operators

When you initially drag and drop a column to the filter canvas, it is assigned a default operator based on the column data type. For example, Integer and String columns default to equals, while Date, DateTime, and Numeric columns default to greater than. You can accept the default or choose any valid operator from the operator menu. At any time, you can click the operator to open the operator menu.

The available operators depend on the column data type. Most columns can use the following operators:

• Equals (=) and not equals (<>)

- IN and NOT IN
- Greater than (>) and greater than or equals to (>=)
- Less than (<) and less than or equals to (<=)
- BETWEEN and NOT BETWEEN (both inclusive of the specified values)

In addition, Numeric columns has this operator:

• IS NULL AND IS NOT NULL

Additionally, String columns have the following options—all of which generate LIKE or NOT LIKE filter statements with the appropriate wildcard syntax:

- STARTS WITH and DOES NOT START WITH
- ENDS WITH and DOES NOT END WITH
- CONTAINS and DOES NOT CONTAIN
- IS EMPTY and IS NOT EMPTY

For example, if you select CONTAINS and then specify a value of store, the filter will be created such as Description LIKE '%store%'. You can see the created filter at the bottom of the Filter Wizard dialog.

#### NOTES:

- CONTAINS and ENDS WITH (and the DOES NOT versions) are not available for tables that use the Large Data index scheme, for performance reasons.
- The operator menu displays equals/not equals or IN/ NOT IN depending on whether multiple values are currently selected. The operator will be automatically adjusted for single or multiple values depending on your selections. It is not necessary to manually select the appropriate operator.

### Using the Select Values dialog

When creating an equals or not equals filter statement, the **Select Values** dialog is available to select one or more values in the column. This dialog opens automatically when you initially select the equals or not equals operator. You can manually open the dialog by clicking the currently selected values (or the <no values> placeholder text), or by hovering your cursor to the right of the filter statement and clicking the pencil icon.
The available values in the column display in the left-hand side of the **Select Values** dialog, and the currently selected values for the filter statement display in the right-hand side of the dialog. You can:

- Search for a particular value using the search box over the **Available Values** list. Only the first 100 column values show in the dialog for performance reasons, but you can find any value in the column using the search box.
  - You can use the filter icon to the right of the search box to change how the search matches values. The default matching behavior depends on the column type. String columns and validated columns with descriptions default to "contains" matching, while numeric columns default to "equals" matching.
  - To clear the search text, use the Clear icon to the right of the filter icon. This icon only displays when search text is present. You can also manually select and delete the search text.
- Select values by moving them from the Available Values list to the Selected Values list. You can
  double-click values to move them between lists, or you can use the arrow keys in the middle to
  move values. You can select multiple values in either list using the SHIFT or ALT keys, and then
  move those values using the arrow keys.

When you click **OK**, all values in the **Selected Values** list are included in the filter statement. The operator automatically adjusts as needed for single or multiple values—for example, if you selected the equals operator but then chose multiple values, the operator automatically changes to IN (and vice versa).

Available Values 🗢				Selected Values 🕈	
store	T	Y.		40000 (Los Angeles - Store 3400)	
42000 (Boston - Store 82)		^		41000 (New York - Store 30)	
43000 (Dallas - Store 78)			*		
45000 (Phoenix - Store 33)			+		
45500 (San Francisco - Store 87)					
46000 (Chicago - Store 45)					
47000 (Dectland Store 0.4) 59 values available		•		2 values selected	

Example Select Values dialog for the Filter Wizard

#### NOTES:

- If you want to use an equals operator but the value does not currently exist in the column, then you must first switch the operator to greater than or less than, manually type the value, then switch back to equals. It is not currently possible to manually type multiple values for use with the IN operator.
- If the column is a validated column with descriptions, the descriptions display next to the column values in parentheses. You can search for values using the actual column values or the descriptions. However, when you select values, keep in mind that you are selecting the actual column values and not the descriptions. If you want to create a filter that is based on the description values, you must base this filter on the actual Description column.
- The Select Values dialog is not available for calculated fields from the database. When the equals operator is used with a calculated field, you can type the desired value for the filter. Currently, it is not possible to create an IN filter for multiple values in a calculated field. If necessary, you can create multiple filter statements and combine them with OR as a workaround.

#### Creating compound filters

You can drag any number of columns over to the filter canvas and create filter statements for each one. When multiple filter statements are present, they are combined using either AND or OR to create a compound filter.

- AND means that records must match both filter statements to be included or excluded by the filter.
- OR means that records must match one of the filter statements to be included or excluded by the filter.

By default, filter statements are combined using AND. You can change this to OR as needed by using the drop-down menu on the AND/OR operator to the left of the filter statements.

If the operator change could create an ambiguity in how the statements are combined, you will be prompted to choose whether to group or split the statements when changing the operator. For example, if you choose to group the statements, the two statements associated with the operator will become grouped. If you choose to split the statements, one statement will be separated while the other statement is grouped with the statement next to it. Grouped statements are the equivalent of using parentheses in SQL.

Multiple filter statements can be grouped, combined, and reordered by dragging and dropping the statements, and by changing the AND/OR operator.

**NOTE:** The Filter Wizard will automatically place parentheses as needed in filters that use multiple filter statements. There is no way to manually add or remove parentheses.

# Using date part filtering

When the column used in the filter is a Date or DateTime column, you can filter based on the full date or date-time as saved in the column, or you can filter based on a date part such as the year or quarter. For example, you can create a filter statement such as StartDate > 2019, when the StartDate column contains full date or date-time values. Using date parts makes it easier to construct filters that restrict data based on a particular aspect of the date or date-time value.

- By default, the filter is based on the full date or date-time.
- You can click the name of the column to open the date part menu and select a specific date part for filter. The same date part options that are available in the Column Configuration properties for Date and DateTime columns are available for use in filter statements.
- If you select a date part other than the Full Date or Full DateTime, the selected date part displays in parentheses next to the column name. For example: **StartDate(Year)** when Year is the selected date part.
- If you select a date part with a finite set of available values—such as Quarter or Month—then the **Select Values** dialog displays those values.
- If you select a date part with an open-ended set of available values—such as Year or YearMo then the **Select Values** dialog converts the actual dates or date-times in the column into the selected date part and displays those values. This means that if you want to create an equals or not equals filter which uses a value that is not currently present in the column, you must first change the operator to greater than, type the desired value using the correct format for the date part, and then change the operator back to equals or not equals.
- When using the following date parts, only the equals/not equals and IN/NOT IN operators are available: Quarter, Fiscal Quarter, Month, and Day of Week. For example, it is not possible to create a filter such as StartDate(Quarter)>Q2. Instead you would select the specific values of Q3 and Q4, which would create the filter StartDate(Quarter) IN (Q3,Q4). For all other date parts, the normal set of operators can be used.



Example date part menu for Date and DateTime columns

#### Limitations and known issues

The following limitations and known issues currently apply to the Filter Wizard:

• If a String column has a blank entry (empty string), this displays in the **Select Values** dialog as a blank entry. This blank entry cannot be selected, and it is not currently possible to create a filter statement that includes or excludes empty strings. However, if a report with an empty string filter statement was created in a previous version, this filter statement will be preserved and will continue to work.

- If a column contains null values, this displays in the Select Values dialog as <no value>. This novalue entry cannot be selected, and it is not currently possible to create a filter statement that includes or excludes null values. However, if a report with a null value filter statement was created in a previous version (using operators IS NULL or IS NOT NULL), this filter statement will be preserved and will continue to work.
- If you want to create a filter statement using equals/not equals or IN/ NOT IN, it is not currently
  possible to manually type the desired value or values. You must use the Select Values dialog. For
  single values, a workaround is available as follows: you can change the operator to greater than,
  type the desired value, then change the operator back to equals or not equals. There is no
  equivalent workaround for multiple values.
- Filter statements that directly compare two columns, such as Column1 > Column2, are not currently supported in the Filter Wizard. However, if a report with a column comparison statement was created in a previous version, this filter statement will be preserved and will continue to work.

When viewing reports that were created in previous versions, you may find other filter statements that use syntax which is not currently supported in the Filter Wizard. Generally speaking, if the report does not error and the filter statement is not flagged as invalid, these filter statements will continue to work as they did in previous versions, although you may not be able to edit the filter statement or newly create it in exactly the same way.

# Using global filters in the Report Builder

A *global filter* is a report filter that is stored in the Filter Library. These filters can be referenced in various reports as needed. Storing the filters separate from the reports has the following advantages:

- A filter that is commonly used can be defined once and then used in all reports that need it.
- If the filter needs to be modified, you can edit the global filter once, instead of needing to modify all of the reports that use the filter.

When you are defining filters for a web report, you can use an existing global filter, or you can build a filter in the report and then save it as a global filter so that it is available for others to use. If a web report references a global filter, and that filter is modified, the report automatically uses the current version of the global filter.

Global filters can also be used as starting points to create a local report-level filter. For example, there may be an existing global filter that is almost exactly what you need to filter the current report. In this case you can do either of the following:

• Add the global filter to the report, then convert the filter to a local filter. This conversion breaks the reference with the global filter and copies the filter statement into the current report. You can then edit the filter as needed for use in the current report.

OR

• Add the global filter to the report, then combine that filter with additional filter statements in the report to arrive at the overall desired filter. In this case the global part of the filter will continue to be linked to the Filter Library and will update as needed, while the rest of the filter provides the additional context needed in the report. This approach only works if you need to extend the global filter, not fundamentally change the global filter to use a different operator or values.

All of these global filter actions can be done in the Filter Wizard dialog in web reports. The Filter Wizard is available when defining report-level filters on the Filters tab, or when defining filters for individual columns or column groups on the Build tab.



Global filter features in the Filter Wizard

#### Using a global filter in a web report

When you are creating or editing a filter in a web report using the Filter Wizard, you can add a global filter to the filter statement. You can add any of the following filter types that are stored in the Filter Library:

- **Report filters:** Filters created in web reports using the new Filter Wizard.
- Legacy standard filters: Filters created using the legacy Filter Wizard (in any location of the application). Basically, a "standard filter" means any regular Axiom filter that is not a limit filter and not a visualization filter.

Limit filters and visualization filters cannot be used as global filters in web reports. Visualization filters do not display in the Filter Wizard. Limit filter statements display in the Filter Wizard, however, if you attempt to use one as a global filter, an error will occur regarding the unsupported filter format.

You can use a global filter on its own, or in combination with locally defined filter statements and other global filters. In order to use a global filter, you must have read-only access to at least one filter in the Filter Library, as determined by your security permissions.

To add a global filter to a filter statement:

- 1. In the Filter Wizard, in the left-hand pane, select the Filter Library tab.
- 2. Locate the global filter that you want to use in the Filter Library. You can use the search box above the folder tree to search for a specific filter by name.

This area shows all folders and filters that you have permission to access in the Filter Library. If you do not have access to the Filter Library, then the tab is still present in the dialog but it will be empty.

3. Drag the desired filter over to the right-hand pane (the filter canvas).

Before the global filter is added to the filter canvas, it is validated to make sure the contents of the global filter are valid in the current context.

• If the filter is valid, then the filter is added to the filter canvas. The filter box displays the filter name with a globe icon. You can see the actual underlying filter statement in the tooltip, or by viewing the filter shown at the bottom of the dialog.



**NOTE:** When displaying the filter statement for a global filter in the Filter Wizard, the statement is always wrapped in parentheses, even if it is the only statement used in the filter. If the global filter itself is a compound filter statement that is wrapped in parentheses, you may see double parentheses displayed in the Filter Wizard. These "extra" parentheses do not cause an issue and only serve to identify the global filter statement within the overall filter.

• If the filter is not valid, an error message will display and the global filter will not be added to the canvas. Generally speaking, the global filter must use columns from the same tables that display on the **Columns** tab of the Filter Wizard.

Invalid Filter ×
Filter 'Certification' references table 'Certification' which is invalid in the current context
OK

Once the global filter is added to the filter canvas, it becomes a filter statement that can be combined and rearranged just like the locally defined filter statements. The only difference is that you cannot modify the contents of the global filter, unless you want to break the association with the global filter in the Filter Library and convert it to a local filter (see the next section).

Although security permissions to the Filter Library are required in order to add a global filter to a report, once the filter is present in the report it is treated like part of the report and governed by the report's permissions. It is not necessary to grant filter permissions to users who only need to view or edit the report.

# Converting a global filter to a local report filter

Once a global filter has been added to the Filter Wizard, you can optionally convert the filter to a "local" filter. This will break the association with the global filter and copy the filter statement into the report. You can then edit the filter statement as needed.

To convert a global filter to a local filter:

- 1. In the Filter Wizard, locate the global filter that you want to convert.
- 2. Hover your cursor to the right of the global filter, then click the Convert icon.



3. At the confirmation prompt, click **Yes** to convert the filter.

The filter statement for the global filter is copied into the report, and now displays like a regular filter statement created in the Filter Wizard. The filter statement is no longer associated with the global filter, and will not update if the global filter is changed. You can now edit the filter statement as needed for use in the report.

# Saving a global filter to the Filter Library

After creating a filter in the Filter Wizard, you can optionally save that filter to the Filter Library. Saving the filter to the Filter Library allows the filter to be used by other web reports, so that all of the reports reference the same global filter.

Currently, filters created in the Report Builder's Filter Wizard and saved to the Filter Library can only be used in web reports. Future releases may expand the use of this Filter Wizard, so that its filters can be used in other places.

Any filter that can be created in the Filter Wizard can be saved as a global filter. The filter can contain multiple filter statements, and can even contain references to other global filters. The context where the filter was created does not matter for purposes of saving it as a global filter. For example, you can create a filter for use as a General report-level filter, save the filter as a global filter, then later use the global filter as a column filter in a different report. As long as the filter statement is valid in both contexts, it does not matter where the global filter was initially created.

In order to save a global filter to the Filter Library, you must have read/write access to at least one folder in the Filter Library. If you do not have this permission, then the **Save as Global Filter** option is not present in the Filter Wizard.

To save a global filter:

- 1. In the Filter Wizard, create the filter that you want to save to the Filter Library.
- 2. Click Save As Global Filter in the bottom left of the dialog.
- 3. In the Save As Global Filter dialog, complete the following fields and then click Save:

ltem	Description
File name	The name of the filter. This is the name that users will see when finding filters in the Filter Library, and when editing web reports that use the global filter.
	Keep in mind that when users add the global filter to a report, they cannot see the actual filter statement—they can only see the filter name. Because of this, it is recommended to include the table name used by the filter statement in the filter name, so that users can understand whether the filter will be valid in the current context.
Description	Optional. A description of the filter. Currently, filter descriptions do not display in Filter Wizard, but they can be viewed in the Axiom Desktop Client using Axiom Explorer.
Save to folder	<ul> <li>The folder in the Filter Library where you want to save the filter.</li> <li>Click the folder icon b to the right of the field.</li> <li>In the Choose output folder dialog, select a folder in the Filter Library. You can only select folders where you have read/write access to the folder. If a folder name displays with a lock icon, this means you have read-only access to that folder and therefore cannot save a new report there.</li> <li>Click OK to choose the folder and return to the save dialog. The path to your selected folder now displays in the field.</li> </ul>

If you use a name that already exists in the target folder, you will be prompted to choose whether or not to overwrite the existing filter. If you choose not to overwrite, the save operation is canceled and you are returned to the Filter Wizard.

4. After the filter is saved to the Filter Library, you are prompted to copy the global filter into the report to replace the current filter. Click **Yes** if you want to reference the newly created global filter in the current report. If you do not want to reference the global filter in this report, click **No**.

The global filter is saved to the Filter Library and is now available for use in other web reports. Additionally, if you chose Yes at the prompt after saving, the current filter in the Filter Wizard is replaced with a reference to this newly created global filter.

# Editing an existing global filter

If a global filter is edited, all web reports that reference this global filter will now use the updated filter statement. For example, a healthcare organization may have a filter that limits the report to codes associated with COVID-19. If later a new code is added, you can edit the filter to include the new code, and this new code will now be applied to all reports that reference the global filter.

Currently, there is no user interface to edit a global filter directly. Instead, global filters can be edited as follows:

- Open the Filter Wizard and add the global filter to the filter canvas.
- Convert the global filter to a local filter.
- Edit the local filter as needed.
- Save the local filter as a global filter, using the same name as the existing global filter.

This process will overwrite the existing global filter with the newly saved version of the filter. All reports that reference the global filter will now use the updated version of the filter statement.

**NOTE:** If a web report is being viewed or edited when the global filter is changed, the report will not reflect the changed filter until the report is closed and reopened (or until it is reloaded by refreshing the browser).

### Deleting a global filter

If a global filter is no longer needed within a particular report, you can delete it from the filter. Hover your cursor to the right of the global filter and then click the Delete icon. This action simply removes the reference to the global filter from the current filter. It has no impact on the global filter in the Filter Library.

If a global filter is no longer needed at all, you can delete it from the Filter Library. Currently, this can only be done from the Desktop Client. In order to delete a global filter, you must have permission to use the Windows Client or the Excel Client, and read/write permission to the folder that the global filter resides in.

To delete a global filter from the Filter Library:

- 1. From the Area menu 👯, click Windows Client or Excel Client to launch the Desktop Client.
- 2. On the Axiom tab, in the Administration group, click Manage > Axiom Explorer.

**NOTE:** In systems with installed products, this feature may be accessible from the **Admin** tab. Click **System Browser** to open Axiom Explorer.

**TIP:** You can also use the Explorer task pane to delete a global filter.

- 3. Navigate to the Filter Library, and then locate the filter that you want to delete.
- 4. Right-click the filter and then select **Delete**.

If any web reports reference the deleted filter, these reports will display an error about the missing global filter. You must edit the reports to remove the reference in order to refresh the reports again.

# Managing Fixed Row Structures

Fixed row structures can be used to define data sections for a web report, including section headers, data rows, subtotals, and totals. Fixed row structures are defined separately so that you can reuse them with different web reports, and so that you can update the row structure in one place and have the changes propagate to all reports that reference the structure.

Fixed row structures can be used with "custom" web reports created in the Report Builder, and with web report templates provided by installed Axiom products. The fixed row structure defines the data sections in the report, while the web report defines other report properties such as the data columns, filters, and drilling options.

	solidated									
			January	February	March	April	Мау	June	July	
Balance Sheet Section headers										
Ca	ish & Due From Banks	7	12,287,642	13,674,884	17,682,301	16,638,829	17,288,809	21,812,477	16,860,101	1
Ir	vestment Securities									
	Short-Term Investmer	nts	32,652,374	35,456,410	38,652,968	19,951,862	14,683,400	24,062,652	47,028,544	4
	Securities		174,154,704	176,278,507	192,696,470	189,637,415	191,114,031	193,452,280	195,857,851	18
	Total Investment Second	urities	206,807,078	211,734,918	231,349,438	209,589,277	205,797,431	217,514,932	242,886,395	22
Subtotal and total rows	Gross Loans									
total lows	Commercial & Inc	dustrial	Multiple s	ections 100	298,031,372	309,747,920	310,310,313	321,055,239	322,858,899	32
	SBA		of data		37,012,714	34,275,310	33,473,263	35,274,655	34,582,617	3
	Direct Financing	Leases, Net	32,158,900	31,926,860	32,724,149	31,807,951	31,224,850	30,364,972	30,047,827	2
	Construction		159,889,124	161,869,392	168,633,930	174,411,587	179,643,970	185,180,992	186,652,279	18
	Land Developme	nt	45,896,984	46,463,558	45,353,409	44,767,641	46,373,614	47,242,952	49,057,555	4
	Other Real Estate	Loans	50,549,879	50,904,924	49,659,194	47,957,289	46,352,283	46,814,478	46,753,701	4
	Multifamily		171,648,223	184,298,060	184,489,660	199,277,875	201,266,516	195,362,715	193,902,221	19

Example report using a fixed row structure

You can define as many different fixed row structures as you need. A row structure can be used with any web report where the structure's row dimensions are compatible with the report's columns, filters, drilling options, and any other report property that impacts queried data. Row structures can be created, edited, and deleted using the Intelligence Center.

To access the Intelligence Center:

• Click the Syntellis icon in the Navigation bar. From the Area menu, select Intelligence Center.

		¢	CA	H
PRODUCT AREAS				
Home				
Intelligence Center				
System Administration	n			

Fixed row structures are not file-based—they are stored directly in the database. There is no file type or library folder for fixed row structures, and you cannot see them in Axiom Explorer. The only place to view and manage fixed row structures is using the Intelligence Center.

#### Creating fixed row structures

You can create new fixed row structures as needed for use in web reports.

In order to create a fixed row structure, you must be an administrator or have the **Create Web Reports** security permission. If you do not have permission to create web reports, then the option to create a new fixed row structure will not be available in the Intelligence Center.

To create a new fixed row structure:

1. In the Intelligence Center, select the Row Structures area from the left-hand panel, then click Create.

AXIOM Intelligence Center							Д	¢ CA	) III
								습	0
Reports Row Structures									
🗀 Fixed Row Structures	Intelligence Center								
	Fixed Row Structures			Search ro	w struct	ures	٩	+ Creat	е
	Fixed Row Structures								
	Name	T Modifie	ed on 🔻	Modified by	T	Туре		T	
	■ RevExp		2/2/2022 10:23 AM	Jane Doe		Fixed Row Structure			•

The row structure editor opens in the current browser tab, showing a new blank row structure. The row structure starts with just a top-level section header and a grand total row.

AXIOM Intelligence Center		Д	¢.	CA	H
				☆	0
					e 1
Row Editor		s s	now Hide	den Ite	ms
Root Section +	🗔 Row Structure				Î
Grand Total	ROW STRUCTURE PROPERTIES				
	Row Structure Name (required)	New Fixed Row Struc	ture		
	Dimension Table (required)			~	
	Use Dimension Mapping				
	Section Properties	5			
	SECTION HEADER PROPERTIES				
	Show Section Header				
	Header Text	Root Section			
	Header Category	Default		*	

Example new blank row structure

2. In the top of the right-hand panel, complete the following required properties for the row structure:

Item	Description
Row Structure Name	Enter the name of the row structure. The name identifies the row structure so that users can select it when creating a new fixed report.
Dimension Table	Specify the dimension table to use for the Filter Wizard when defining row data. For example, if rows will be defined using accounts or account groupings, select the ACCT table.
Use Dimension Mapping	Enable this toggle switch if you want to map specific items in the dimension table to specific rows in the structure. When using dimension mapping, all row data is defined at the key column level of the dimension table, and each dimension item can only be assigned to a single row. The toggle switch shows as green when enabled and as gray when disabled.
	If this option is not enabled, then row data is determined by defining filter criteria statements at the row and section level. For more information, see Using dimension mapping versus row filters in a fixed row structure.

ங Row Structure		
ROW STRUCTURE PROPERTIES		
Row Structure Name (required)	MyStructure	
Dimension Table (required)	ACCT	•
Use Dimension Mapping		

Example required properties with dimension mapping enabled

Once these items are completed, you can use the **Save** button to save the row structure.

 In the left-hand row editor, add sections and data rows as desired to create the overall row structure. Think of the Root Section as the overall "wrapper" in which all row sections are placed. To create the first row section, click the plus icon on the Root Section header and then select Add New Section.

Row Editor	
Root Section	+
Grand Total	<ul> <li>Add Data Row</li> </ul>
	Add New Section

Your row structure will now look like this:

Row Editor			
Root Section			
Section		÷	Û
New Data Row	1		
New Data Row	2		
New Data Row	3		
Section Total			
Grand Total			

You can then continue to add data rows or additional sections:

- To add a section, select the section header where you want to add the section, then click the plus icon > Add New Section. The new section is added as a subsection to the current section. By default, all new sections contain a section header row, three data rows, and a total row. You can add or remove data rows as needed.
- To add a data row within a section, select the section header where you want to add the data row, then click the plus icon > Add Data Row. The new data row is added to the current section.

When you add a new data row or section, it is always added at the bottom of the current section. You can drag and drop the row or section to a different location within the section as needed (but not to a different section).

If a data row or a section is not needed, select the row or section header and then click the trash can icon. The row or section is deleted from the row structure.

**NOTE:** Header rows and total rows cannot be deleted from a section. The trash can icon on a section header row is used to delete the entire section, not the header row. If you do not want a particular section to display a header row or a total row, you can hide these rows on a per section basis using the Section Properties.

- For each section in the report—including the Root Section—configure the properties for that section. To configure a section, select the section header and then complete the Section Properties in the right-hand panel. The section properties control the following:
  - Visibility, text, and style of the section header row
  - Visibility, text, placement, and style of the section total row
  - Whether data rows are indented from the parent section
  - Whether section data is added or subtracted when calculating the parent total
  - An optional data filter to apply to all data rows in the section (only available if the structure does not use dimension mapping)

For more information on all of the section properties, see Section properties.

Row Editor	Dimension Mapping		Show Hidden Items
My Report		遠 Row Structure	
Revenue	+ 🕯	ROW STRUCTURE PROPERTIES	
Revenue Line 1		Row Structure Name (required)	MyStructure
Revenue Line 2		Dimension Table (required)	ACCT
Revenue Line 3		Use Dimension Mapping	
Revenue Total		🗉 Section Properties	5
Expenses		SECTION HEADER PROPERTIES	
Expenses Line 1		Show Section Header	
Expenses Line 2		Header Text	Revenue
Expenses Line 3		Header Category	Default 🔻
Expenses Total			
Grand Total		SECTION TOTAL PROPERTIES	
		Show Section Total Row	
		Total Row Placement	Below <b>v</b>
		Total Row Text	Revenue Total
		Total Row Category	SubTotal3 🔹
		SECTION PROPERTIES	
		Indent Child Rows	

In most cases, the row structure immediately updates to reflect section properties that affect the display. For example, if you define header text, that text is immediately shown on the row structure. However, if you hide the section header row, the row will continue to display in the row structure unless you disable the option **Show Hidden Items**. This option is located at the top right of the row editor, under the Save button. By default, the row editor continues to show hidden section headers so that you can use the Add Data Row and Add New Section actions on the header row.

5. For each data row in the report, configure the properties for that row. To configure a row, select the row and then complete the **Row Properties** in the right-hand panel.

At minimum, the row properties define the label text for the row. If the structure does not use dimension mapping, then the row properties also define a data filter to determine the data to be shown on the row. For more information on defining the row properties, see Row properties.

Row Editor Dimension Mapping			Show Hidden Items
My Report	Į	🛯 Row Structure	
Revenue	RO	OW STRUCTURE PROPERTIES	
Revenue Line 1	🔍 🕮 Ro	ow Structure Name (required)	MyStructure
Revenue Line 2	Di	imension Table (required)	ACCT 🔻
Revenue Line 3		Use Dimension Mapping	
Revenue Total		- Data Row Propertie	26
Expenses	<u> </u>	Data Now Propertie	
Expenses Line 1	Ro	ow Text	Revenue Line 1
Expenses Line 2			

- 6. If **Use Dimension Mapping** is enabled for the row structure, click the **Dimension Mapping** tab to map dimension elements to each row. This mapping determines the data to be shown on each row, instead of defining a filter. For more information on mapping dimension elements, see Using the Dimension Mapping editor.
- 7. Click **Save** to save the row structure.

The new row structure can now be used when creating or editing web reports.

#### Copying fixed row structures

You can copy existing fixed row structures as needed to create additional fixed row structures.

In order to copy a fixed row structure, you must be an administrator or have the **Create Web Reports** security permission. If you do not have permission to create web reports, then the Copy action is disabled.

To copy a fixed row structure:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, select the Fixed Row Structure area from the left-hand panel.
- 2. Locate the fixed row structure that you want to copy, then hover your cursor over the Name column to make the three dots icon visible. Click the icon then select **Copy** from the menu.

Name	<b>*</b>
nevExp	
RevExp1	(i) Info
	Сру Сору
	🧨 Edit
	💼 Delete

3. In the **Copy Fixed Row Structure** dialog, enter a **Name** for the new fixed row structure, then click **OK**. By default, the name is **Copy of** *OriginalName*.

The fixed row structure is copied with the specified name. You can now open this fixed row structure for editing.

#### Editing fixed row structures

Any user can edit a fixed row structure. The Create Web Reports permission is not required.

Keep in mind that when a row structure is assigned to a report, that report always uses the most current version of the row structure. Any edits that you make to a row structure are immediately available in any reports that use the row structure.

To edit a fixed row structure:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, select the Fixed Row Structure area from the left-hand panel.
- 2. Locate the fixed row structure that you want to edit, then click on the row structure name to open it.

**TIP:** You can also select **Edit** from the actions menu (using the three dots icon) to edit the fixed row structure.

The row structure opens in the row structure editor, in the current browser tab.

- 3. Using the row structure editor, make changes to the row structure as needed.
- 4. Click Save to save your changes.

#### Changing fixed row structure names and descriptions

You can rename a fixed row structure or change its description. If existing reports use the fixed row structure, those reports will continue to reference the renamed structure.

To change a fixed row structure name and/or description:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, select the Fixed Row Structure area from the left-hand panel.
- 2. Locate the fixed row structure that you want to edit, then hover your cursor over the **Name** column to make the three dots icon visible. Click the icon then select **Info** from the menu.

Name	۳
nevExp	
RevExp1	(i) Info
	Сору
	🥒 Edit
	🏛 Delete

The Information panel opens along the right-hand side of the page.

3. In the Information panel, edit the fixed row structure Name or Description as needed, then click Apply.

The name can be up to 250 characters, and the description can be up to 2000 characters.

#### Deleting fixed row structures

Any user can delete a fixed row structure. The **Create Web Reports** permission is not required. If the fixed row structure was used by any web reports, those reports will no longer function correctly until they are edited to use a different fixed row structure.

**IMPORTANT:** If the deleted fixed row structure was used by a web report built from a template, that report will no longer work. Currently, there is no way to edit the row structure assignment for template-based reports. If the report is still needed, it must be re-created from template with a different fixed row structure.

To delete a fixed row structure:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, select the Fixed Row Structure area from the left-hand panel.
- 2. Locate the fixed row structure that you want to delete, then hover your cursor over the Name column to make the three dots icon visible. Click the icon then select **Delete** from the menu.



3. When you are prompted to confirm that you want to delete the structure, click OK.

The structure is deleted from the system and no longer displays in the Intelligence Center.

# Using the Row Editor

Using the Row Editor, you can define fixed row structures for use in web reports. Fixed row structures define the following:

- The sections to be displayed in the report, including section titles and subtotal rows
- The data rows to be displayed within each section

When you use the Intelligence Center to create a new fixed row structure or to edit an existing fixed row structure, it opens in the fixed row structure editor.

#### Overview

By default, the Row Editor consists of two primary areas:

- The section editor on the left-hand side, where you can add, reorder, and remove sections and data rows
- The property editor on the right-hand side, where you can define properties for the overall row structure, the selected section, or the selected row

AXIOM Intelligence Center			Д <u></u> СА	H
			☆	0
				ive
Row Editor	Add sections and data rows to build		Show Hidden Ite	tems
My Report	the row structure	🗐 Row Structure	General row structure properties	-
Revenue	+ 0	ROW STRUCTURE PROPERTIES		
Revenue Line 1		Row Structure Name (required)	MyStructure2	
Revenue Line 2		Dimension Table (required)	ACCT 🗸	
Revenue Line 3		Use Dimension Mapping		
Revenue Total		Section Properties	Properties for the	
Expenses			currently selected section	
Expenses Line 1		SECTION HEADER PROPERTIES	section	
Expenses Line 2		Header Text	Revenue	
Expenses Line 3				
Expenses Total		Header Category	Default 🗸	
Grand Total		SECTION TOTAL PROPERTIES		
		Show Section Total Row		
		Total Row Placement	Below 🗸	
		Total Row Text	Revenue Total	

Row structure editor with a selected section

AXIOM Intelligence Center			Д	Ą (	
				ť	3 0
Row Editor				) Show Hi	dden Items
My Report		📴 Row Structure			
Revenue		ROW STRUCTURE PROPERTIES			
Revenue Line 1	۵	Row Structure Name (required)	MyStructure2		
Revenue Line 2		Dimension Table (required)	ACCT		~
Revenue Line 3	Properties for the	Use Dimension Mapping			•
	selected data row				
Expenses	in a section	– Data Row Properti	es		
Expenses Line 1		Row Text	Revenue Line 1		
Expenses Line 2		Data Filter		T F	ilter Wizard
Expenses Line 3		ACCT.ACCT = 4000			
Expenses Total					
Grand Total					1

Row structure editor with a selected data row

If the row structure is configured to **Use Dimension Mapping** to define the row data, then another area is available via the **Dimension Mapping** tab. You can use the Dimension Mapping area to map dimension items to individual data rows. For more information on using dimension mapping, see Using the Dimension Mapping editor.

AXIOM Intelligence Center	A 🕹 👪
	☆ ®
	Save
Row Editor Dimension Mapping	Show Hidden Items
My Report	Row Structure
Revenue + 🛍	ROW STRUCTURE PROPERTIES
Revenue Line 1	Row Structure Name (required) MyStructure2
Revenue Line 2	Dimension Table (required) ACCT 🗸
Revenue Line 3	Use Dimension Mapping
Revenue Total	
Expenses	Section Properties
Expenses Line 1	Section Header Properties
Expenses Line 2	Header Text Revenue
Expenses Line 3	Revenue
Expenses Total	Header Category Default 🗸

Row structure editor with Dimension Mapping tab

To save the row structure after making changes, use the **Save** button located at the top right of the editor.

Certain parts of the row structure can be configured as hidden, such as section header rows or total rows. By default, these hidden items no longer display in the editor. If you need to view these items so that you can work with them and configure them, you can toggle the option **Show Hidden items** at the top right of the editor.

# Using dimension mapping versus row filters in a fixed row structure

When you build a fixed row structure, there are two different ways to define the data to be shown each in row:

- Filters: Each row can have a filter criteria statement that defines the data for that row. For example, Acct.Acct=4100 or Acct.Category='Revenue'.
- **Dimension mapping**: Each row can be assigned one or more items in a specified dimension. For example, if Acct is the specified row dimension, then you can view the list of accounts and map them to specific rows in the report as needed.

The filter option is the most flexible way to build a fixed row structure, because:

- You can use any valid filter criteria statement to define the data in each row, including compound statements using AND or OR, and referencing any table (not just the specified dimension table).
- You can define filters at the section level, which then combine with all row-level filters in the section.
- You can repeat dimension elements within the row structure—for example, to create multiple sections that show revenue for different regions or lines of business.

However, because the filter option is more flexible, it also requires a more advanced level of knowledge about your data structures. You must take care not to create invalid or conflicting filters, and make sure that your filters result in the data that you want to display in the report.

In contrast, the dimension mapping option is the easiest to set up, because:

- You are presented with a full list of all items in the specified dimension, which you can search and filter as needed.
- To assign an item to a row in the report, you simply select the item and then click the arrow button to move it over to the row. Each row can be assigned as many items in the dimension as needed.
- It is very easy to see exactly which dimension items will display on each row, and to see which items have not yet been assigned to rows.

However, the dimension mapping option is less flexible. Rows can only display data from the specified row dimension, and each item in the dimension can only be assigned to a single row.

#### Row structure properties

The following required properties at the top of the right-hand pane apply to the entire row structure.

Row Editor	Show Hidden Items
My Report Revenue	Row Structure
Revenue Line 1	Row Structure Name (required) MyStructure2
Revenue Line 2 Revenue Line 3	Dimension Table (required) ACCT     ACCT
Revenue Total	🖻 Section Properties
Expenses Expenses Line 1	SECTION HEADER PROPERTIES  Show Section Header

Example Row Structure properties area

Item	Description
Row Structure Name	The name of the row structure. The name identifies the row structure so that it can be selected when creating or editing a web report.

ltem	Description
Dimension Table	The primary dimension table to be used on the data rows. You can select any reference table in your system.
	This selection is used as follows:
	<ul> <li>By default, it determines the table available to the Filter Wizard when defining filters for sections and data rows. For example, if the dimension table is Acct, then you can use the Filter Wizard to build filters based on Acct.</li> </ul>
	<b>NOTE:</b> When using filters to define the data in sections and rows, the dimension table is simply a default table. If you want to define a filter using a different dimension, then you can manually enter a filter criteria statement using that dimension.
	• If Use Dimension Mapping is enabled, then it determines the dimension table for the row mappings. For example, if the dimension table is Acct, then you can map one or more accounts to each data row. In this case, data rows can only use the dimension table.
Use Dimension Mapping	Specifies whether the data in data rows is defined by using filters or by using dimension mapping. By default, this is disabled, so data is defined using filters. If instead you want to use dimension mapping for the rows, click the toggle switch to enable this option. The toggle switch shows as green when enabled and as gray when disabled.
	If Use Dimension Mapping is enabled, the row structure editor updates as follows:
	<ul> <li>A new tab named Dimension Mapping becomes available next to the Row Editor tab. You can use this tab to define dimension mappings for the rows. Typically, you should define the sections and rows in the structure first, then go to the Dimension Mapping tab to assign mappings to each row.</li> <li>The Filter fields in the Section Properties and the Row Properties become hidden, because they do not apply when using dimension mapping. If a filter is defined for a section or a row before dimension mapping is enabled, the</li> </ul>
	filter is retained in the properties (assuming it was saved) but it will be ignored in reports.
	For more information on the differences between using filters or dimension mapping to define data rows, see Using dimension mapping versus row filters in a fixed row structure.

# Adding, removing, and reordering sections

Using the **Row Editor** tab, you can build your row structure by adding, removing, or reordering sections. Each row structure starts with a top-level root section that includes an optional header and an optional grand total.

Row Editor	Click to add sections
Root Section	+
Grand Total	
Root section header and total row	

Row editor with starting root section

To add new sections to the row structure, select the section header row—the **Root Section** row—and then click the plus sign and select **Add New Section**.

+
<ul> <li>Add Data Row</li> </ul>
Add New Section

Option to add a new section

The new section is added within the root section. You can continue to add as many sections as needed at this level.

Row Editor	
Root Section	
Section 1	+ 🛍
New Data Row	1
New Data Row	2
New Data Row	3
Section Total	
Section 2	
New Data Row	1
New Data Row	2
New Data Row	3
Section Total	
Grand Total	

Row editor with two newly added sections

To add subsections within a section, select the section header row for any section, and then click the plus sign and select **Add New Section**. The new subsection is added to the current section. You can nest as many section levels as you need by adding subsections to sections.

Row Editor	
Root Section	
Section 1	
New Data Row	
New Data Row 2	!
New Data Row 3	
Sub Section 1	+ 🛍
New Data Ro	w 1
New Data Ro	w 2
New Data Ro	w 3
Section Total	
Section Total	
Section 2	

Row editor with newly added subsection

Newly added sections use default text and styling, which can be configured for each section. Each newly added section consists of the following by default:

- A header row to display optional header text for the section. If you do not want a header row to display for a particular section (including the root section), you can hide it by disabling Show Section Header when configuring the section properties.
- Three **data rows** to display queried data in the section. You can add or remove data rows as needed.
- A **total row** to display the totaled data for the section. If you do not want a total row for this section (including the root section), you can hide it by disabling **Show Section Total Row** when configuring the section properties.

Once you have added sections, you can make further section changes as follows:

• **To reorder sections**: Select the header row of a section and then drag and drop it to a new location within the same level of the structure. For example, if you have three sections at the same level, you can drag and drop these three sections to change their order. But you cannot drag and drop one of these three sections to a lower level or a higher level.

• **To delete a section**: Select the header row of the section and then click the delete icon (trash can). The section and all of its subsections are deleted. Note that the root section is required and cannot be deleted.

**IMPORTANT:** Make sure you no longer need the section before clicking the delete icon. The section will be deleted immediately with no confirmation prompt. If you deleted a section by accident, then you can exit the row structure editor without saving, but you will also lose any other unsaved changes that you have made during the current session.

#### Section properties

To configure the properties for a section, select the section header and then complete the **Section Properties** in the right-hand pane.

Row Editor	Dimension Mapping		Show Hidden I	Items
My Report		🖭 Row Structure		
Revenue	<b>+</b> ti	ROW STRUCTURE PROPERTIES		
Revenue Line 1		Row Structure Name (required)	MyStructure	
Revenue Line 2		Dimension Table (required)	ACCT	Ŧ
Revenue Line 3		Use Dimension Mapping		
Revenue Total		Section Properties	3	
Expenses		SECTION HEADER PROPERTIES	,	
Expenses Line 1		Show Section Header		
Expenses Line 2		Header Text	Revenue	
Expenses Line 3		Header Category	Default	•
Expenses Total				
Grand Total		SECTION TOTAL PROPERTIES		
		Total Row Placement	Below	¥
		Total Row Text	Revenue Total	
		Total Row Category	SubTotal3	٠
		SECTION PROPERTIES		
		Indent Child Rows		

Example Section Properties area

Section Header Properties

ltem	Description
Show Section Header	Specifies whether the section header row is visible when the row structure is used in a report. By default, this option is enabled, so the section header row is visible. If you do not want this section to have a header row, disable this option. The toggle switch shows as green when enabled and as gray when disabled.
	If this option is disabled, then the remaining section header properties become hidden because they do not apply. Note that you may want to define header text before disabling the option, to make it easier to identify the section when working within the row structure editor.
	<b>NOTE:</b> If you hide the section header, then you will no longer be able to select the header row in the editor for purposes of adding rows or subsections, configuring the section, reordering the section, or removing the section. If you need to work with the section header row, you can enable the option <b>Show</b> <b>Hidden Items</b> , located at the top right of the editor. This will cause all hidden items to show in the row structure, so that they can be selected and configured.
Header Text	The text to display on the section header row. By default, this is set to "Root Section" for the root section header and "Section" for all other newly added sections. The header text should be edited to reflect the data shown in this section.
Header Category	The style to use on the section header row. The style determines display attributes such as font size and font weight. Select one of the following:
	<ul> <li>Header1 through Header6: These styles apply specific formatting to the header row. Although Header1 is designed to be used as the top-level section header, followed by Header2, and so on, you can assign these styles to any section header row as needed.</li> </ul>
	• <b>Default</b> : Axiom automatically applies the appropriate header style depending on the section's placement in the row structure hierarchy. The header row for the root section uses Header1, sections in the next level use Header2, and so on.
	By default, the header category is set to Header1 for the root section header, and Default for all newly added sections.

# Section Total Properties

ltem	Description
Show Section Total Row	Specifies whether the section total row is visible when the row structure is used in a report. By default, this option is enabled, so the section total row is visible. If you do not want this section to have a total row, disable this option. The toggle switch shows as green when enabled and as gray when disabled.
	If this option is disabled, then the remaining section total properties become hidden because they do not apply.
Total Row Placement	The location of the total row in the section, either <b>Below</b> the data rows or <b>Above</b> the data rows. The total row is located below the data rows by default.
Total Row Text	The text to display on the section total row. By default, this is set to "Grand Total" for the root section total and "Section Total" for all other newly added sections.
Total Row Category	The style to use on the section total row. The style determines display attributes such as font size, font weight, shading, and borders. Select one of the following: • Grand Total or Total: These styles are intended to be used for "final" total
	rows. Both styles use shading and top and bottom borders. The bottom border of the Grand Total is a double border.
	<ul> <li>SubTotal1 through SubTotal4: These styles are intended to be used for subtotal rows. These options provide varying combinations of bold and regular text, shading or no shading, and border or no border.</li> </ul>
	By default, the total row category is set to <b>Grand Total</b> for the root section total row, and <b>Subtotal3</b> for all newly added sections.

# Section Properties

Item	Description
Indent Child Rows	Specifies whether the rows in this section are aligned with the section header row or indented. By default, this is enabled, so the rows are indented. If instead you want the rows to be aligned with the section header row, disable this option. The toggle switch shows as green when enabled and as gray when disabled.

ltem	Description
Parent Total Row Behavior	Specifies how the data in this section is treated when computing the total row of the parent section. Select one of the following:
	<ul> <li>Add: The data in this section is added when computing the parent total. This is the default behavior.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Subtract: The data in this section is subtracted when computing the parent total.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Ignored: The data in this section is ignored when computing the parent total. You might do this if the rows in this section contain supporting detail that should not impact the overall totals.</li> </ul>
	Although this option displays on the root section, it does not apply because the root section does not have a parent section.
	For example, imagine that you have a parent section with two subsections. Subsection A totals 5000, and Subsection B totals 1000.
	<ul> <li>If both subsections are set to add, then the total of the parent section is 6000.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If Subsection A is set to add but Subsection B is set to subtract, then the total of the parent section is 4000.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If Subsection A is set to add but Subsection B is set to ignore, then the total of the parent section is 5000.</li> </ul>
Section Data Filter	Optional. A data filter to apply to all of the data rows in this section, including any subsections. This is intended to be used when all rows in the section need to be filtered by a particular dimension or grouping, so that you do not need to repeat that dimension grouping on each individual data row. Only applies when <b>Use Dimension Mapping</b> is disabled.
	Enter the filter criteria statement to apply to the data rows in this section. Section data filters use normal filter syntax for Axiom. Although you can use the Filter Wizard to create the filter criteria statement, it is limited to creating filters based on the specified dimension table for the row structure. In many cases the section data filter needs to use a different dimension, so you must manually create the filter criteria statement.
	For example, imagine that you want to show revenue accounts in the rows of your report, but you want to split the data into two sections reflecting two different sales regions. You can create two sections and define section filters for each, such as Dept.Region='East' and Dept.Region='West'. All of the data rows in those sections will be filtered by the specified region in addition to the specific account filters listed on each row.

# Adding, removing, and reordering data rows

Using the **Row Editor** area, you can add data rows to a section, remove unneeded rows, and reorder rows. Each data row represents a record of data that you want to query from the database and display within the report.

To add new data rows to a section:

• Select the section header row, then click the plus sign and select Add Data Row.

Row Editor	
My Report	
Revenue	+ @
Revenue Line 1	- Add Data Row
Revenue Line 2	Add New Section
Revenue Line 3	
Revenue Total	

Option to add a new data row

The new row is added to the bottom of the section. You can continue to add as many new rows to the section as needed.

Row Editor	
My Report	
Revenue	
Revenue Line 1	
Revenue Line 2	
Revenue Line 3	
New Data Row	<b>û</b>
Revenue Total	

Section with a newly added data row

Once you have added data rows, you can make further row changes as follows:

- **To reorder rows**: Select the data row that you want to move, and then drag and drop it to a new location within the same section. For example, if you want a newly added row to be at the top of the section instead of the bottom, then you can drag and drop it to that location. But you cannot drag and drop the row to a different section, not even to subsections of the current section.
- **To delete a row**: Select the data row that you want to delete and then click the delete icon (trash can). The row is deleted.

**IMPORTANT:** Make sure you no longer need the row before clicking the delete icon. The row will be deleted immediately with no confirmation prompt. If you deleted a row by accident, then you can exit the row structure editor without saving, but you will also lose any other unsaved changes that you have made during the current session.

Only data rows can be individually added, deleted, and reordered. Section header rows and section total rows are not considered to be data rows and are managed as part of the section. Note the following:

- The delete icon on section header rows does not delete the header row; it deletes the entire section. If you do not want a particular section to have a header row, you can configure the section to hide the header row.
- Section total rows do not have delete icons. If you do not want a particular section to have a total row, you can configure the section to hide the total row.
- Section header rows are always located at the top of the section. When you drag and drop a section header row you are moving the entire section, not just the header row. It is not possible to move just the header row.
- Section total rows can be located at either the top or bottom of the section, but not by dragging and dropping. When you configure the section, you can specify the location of the total row.

#### Row properties

To configure the properties for a data row, select the row and then complete the **Row Properties** in the right-hand pane.

Row Editor Dimension Mapping			Show Hidden Item
My Report	į	Row Structure	
Revenue	RO	W STRUCTURE PROPERTIES	
Revenue Line 1	Ro	w Structure Name (required)	MyStructure
Revenue Line 2	Dir	mension Table (required)	ACCT
Revenue Line 3		Use Dimension Mapping	
Revenue Total		Data Row Properti	20
Expenses		Data Now Property	
Expenses Line 1	Ro	w Text	Revenue Line 1
Expenses Line 2			

Example Row Properties area

ltem	Description
Row Text	The text to display on the data row. By default, this is set to "New Data Row". The row text should be edited to reflect the data shown on this row.
	For example, if this row is going to display data for the Travel account, the row text should be something like "Travel" or "Account 5000 - Travel".
Data Filter	A filter criteria statement to define the data to query into this row. Only applies when <b>Use Dimension Mapping</b> is disabled. If dimension mapping is enabled, then use the Dimension Mapping tab to map the data for this row.
	Row filters use normal filter syntax for Axiom. You can type the filter, or you can use the Filter Wizard to create a filter based on the specified Dimension Table for the row structure.
	For example, if the data filter is Acct.Category='Revenue', then this row will display data for all revenue accounts when this row structure is used in a report. The specific data returned will depend on the data columns used in the report, and any other filters applied to the report.
	Each row's data filter is independent from any other row, and does not need to use the same grouping level or even the same dimension as other rows. For example, one row can be Acct.Acct=4000, while another row is Acct.Category='Marketing', and a third row is Fcst.Acct=670. However, keep in mind the following:
	<ul> <li>If you use the Filter Wizard to make the filter, it is limited to the table selected as the Dimension Table for the row structure. If you want to use a different table for a particular row, you must manually write the filter.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Although there are no restrictions on the individual row filters, all of the filters used must be compatible with the eventual primary table selected for the report, when the fixed row structure is used in a report.</li> </ul>

If the row uses a data filter, then the row's data filter will be combined with any upstream section data filters (using AND). For example, imagine the row structure has sections and rows configured as follows:

Parent Section Filter	Dept.Company='Company A'
Current Section Filter	Dept.Region='US West'
Row Filter	Acct.Acct=4000

#### Then the data for this row is determined as follows:

Dept.Company='Company A' AND Dept.Region='US West' AND Acct.Acct=4000

# Using the Dimension Mapping editor

Using the Dimension Mapping editor, you can assign dimension items to specific rows of a fixed row structure. When the row structure is used in a web report, the rows will display data for the assigned dimension items.

For example, if the row dimension is Acct, you can assign one or more accounts to each row in the row structure. If a row is assigned Acct 4000, then that row will display data for Acct 4000, for each of the columns used in the report.

### Dimension Mapping editor overview

The Dimension Mapping editor is only accessible when creating or editing a row structure. If Use **Dimension Mapping** is enabled for the row structure, then a **Dimension Mapping** tab displays next to the **Row Editor** tab. You can click this tab to open the Dimension Mapping editor and assign dimension items to each row.

AXIOM Intelligence Center		Д	¢	CA	H
				☆	?
				Sav	e
Row Editor Dimension Mapping			) Show Hic	dden Ite	ms
My Report	🔄 Row Structure				
Revenue + ti	ROW STRUCTURE PROPERTIES				
Revenue Line 1	Row Structure Name (required)	MyStructure2			
Revenue Line 2	Dimension Table (required)	ACCT		~	
Revenue Line 3	Use Dimension Mapping				
Revenue Total					
Expenses	Section Propertie	S			
Expenses Line 1	Section Header Properties				
Expenses Line 2	Header Text	Revenue			
Expenses Line 3					
Expenses Total	Header Category	Default		~	Į,

Dimension Mapping tab available in row structure when Use Dimension Mapping is enabled

XIOM Intelliger	nce Center		
			රු ( Save
Row Editor	Dimension Mapping	Selected Row: Revenue Line 1	Dimension Table as specified in Row
My Report Revenue Revenue Line		Select All   Clear All Current Mappings Type to Search 4000 Revenue	Editor tab Select All   Clear All Show Mapped Dimension Items 1 ACCT 96 Type to Search 0 Default
Revenue Line Revenue Line Expenses Expenses Lir	23	Dimension items mapped to selected data row	1000 Cash 1100 Short Term Investment 1300 Accounts Receivable 1400 Notes Receivable 1600 Inventory
stru	~	0	Copy Capital     Copy Capital

Example Dimension Mapping editor

- The left side of the Dimension Mapping editor displays a simplified view of the row structure defined on the **Row Editor** tab. You can select a data row in the row structure in order to map dimension items to that row.
  - Each data row must be assigned at least one dimension item when using dimension mapping. It is not possible to mix use of data filters and dimension mappings.
  - The number to the left of the row label shows how many dimension items have been assigned to that row.
- The two columns on the right side of the Dimension Mapping editor are used to map dimension items.
  - The **Current Mappings** column in the middle of the page shows the dimension items mapped to the currently selected data row.
  - The dimension column on the right side of the page shows the remaining unmapped dimension items. The dimension used for the mappings is determined by the specified **Dimension Table** in the **Row Editor** tab. In this example, the dimension table is **Acct** and the column shows the list of accounts defined in that table.
  - You can use the arrow buttons between the columns to move dimension items from the dimension column to the Current Mappings column and vice versa.

Each dimension item can only be assigned to a single row in the row structure. Once a dimension item is moved to the Current Mappings column, it is removed from the list of unmapped dimension items and cannot be assigned to another row.
**NOTE:** When building a fixed row structure with large tables (such as the EDS Encounter table) dimension mapping is disabled, as it can cause performance issues. Instead, you can use the filter wizard to define that row in a report. See Specifying the row dimension for a web report for more information.

#### Assigning dimension items to data rows

Each data row in the row structure must be assigned at least one dimension item. When the row structure is used in a report, the dimension mappings determine what data displays in each row.

To assign one or more dimension items to a data row:

- In the row structure on the left side of the page, select the data row that you want to map. If any
  dimension items are already mapped to this row, those dimension items display in the Current
  Mappings column.
- 2. In the dimension column on the right side of the page, select the dimension item or items that you want to map to the data row.
  - Click a dimension item once to select it. If you select a dimension item by accident, click it again to de-select it.
  - Note that using the Shift key or the CTRL key to select multiple dimension items at once does *not* work here. You must individually click on each dimension item that you want to assign.

You can search and filter the dimension list to help find the desired dimension items.

3. Once all of the dimension items that you want to assign are highlighted, click the left arrow to move the selected dimension items to the **Current Mappings** column.

If you want to remove a mapped dimension item from a data row, you can select the item in the Current Mappings column and then click the right arrow to move it back to the dimension column.

In the following example, two accounts have been mapped to the Expenses Line 1 data row. When this row structure is used in a report, this row will display summed data for the Software Expense and Computer Expense accounts. (In a real report, the label text for this data row would likely be defined as "Software and Computer Expenses" or something similar.)

Row Editor	Dimension Mapping				
MyStructure		Selected Row: Expenses Line 1			
My Report		Select All   Clear All		Select All   Clear All	Show Mapped Dimension Items
Revenue		Current Mappings	2	✓ ACCT	96
Revenue Line 1	1	Type to Search		Type to Search	
Revenue Line 2	0	5200 Software Expense 5400 Computer Expense	<b>^</b>	0 Default 1000 Cash	Î
Revenue Line 3	0			1100 Short Term Investment	
Expenses				1300 Accounts Receivable 1400 Notes Receivable	
Expenses Line 1	2			1600 Inventory	
Expenses Line 2	2 0			1700         Other Inventory           1800         Employee Receivable	
Expenses Line 3	3 0			1900 Prepaid Expenses	
				2000 Other Current Assets	
				2100 Laboratory and Equipment	
				2200 Accumulated Depreciation 2300 Long Term Note Receivable	
				2400 Investment in Affiliates	

Example data row with mapped dimension items

The two accounts that are mapped to this data row no longer display in the dimension column and cannot be mapped to any other row. You can optionally enable **Show Mapped Dimension Items** to see all items in the dimension column, but mapped items will display as grayed out and cannot be selected.

#### Searching and filtering the dimension column

You can search and filter the dimension column to more easily find the dimension items that you want to map.

- You can type into the search box at the top of the column to find items by dimension value. The search matches any dimension value that contains the search text. Currently, the description text is not included in the search.
- You can select a grouping column so that the dimension column is filtered to only show values for a particular grouping. For example, you may have a grouping column of Category, which you can use to show accounts within a particular category—such as Revenue, Capital, or Marketing.

If you use **Select All** when the list is filtered by a search or by a grouping value, then only the currently visible items are selected. This can be a convenient way to find, select, and map multiple dimension items at a time.

To filter the dimension column by a grouping value:

1. Click the down arrow icon in the column header, and then click Choose Grouping Column.

Select All   Clear All	Show Mapped Dimension Items
~ ACCT	99
Choose Grouping Column	

2. In the **Choose a Grouping Column** dialog, select the grouping column that you want to use, and then click **OK**.

The dimension column becomes filtered by the first value in the selected grouping column. This value displays in the column header.

3. To filter the dimension column by a different value in the grouping column, click the down arrow icon in the column header, and select the desired value.

In the following example, "Balance Sheet" was the automatically-selected value from the grouping column, and we are now going to select "Marketing" instead.

Select All   Clear All	Show Ma	apped Dimensio	n Items
✓ Category : Balance	e Sheet		21
Choose Grouping Colur	nn		
Clear Grouping Column			
✓ Balance Sheet			<b>^</b>
Capital			
COGS			
Marketing			
Other Expenses			
Other Income/Expense			
Overhead			
Payroll			•

The dimension column is now filtered to only show accounts that belong to the Marketing category.

Select All	Clear All	Show Mapped Dimension Items
~ C	ategory : Marketing	3
Туре	e to Search	
5700	Advertising	<u>۸</u>
5800	Marketing	
5900	Sales Commissions	

If you want to clear the grouping column filter, click the down arrow icon in the column header, and select **Clear Grouping Column**.

# Using the Filter Wizard in the Fixed Row Structure editor

The Filter Wizard is available in the Fixed Row Structure editor to assist you in building a valid filter criteria statement.

A Filter V	Vizard	×
Define cr	teria for the filter, based on table GL2018	
Search	n Q × DEPT = France ↓ France ↓ India ↓ Ltaly ↓ Singapore ↓ UK	
•	☐ Country ✓ US Central ✓ US East ✓ US West ✓	
Preview	DEPT.Region IN ('US West', 'US East', 'US Central')	¢
Filter		\$
	OK Cancel	]

Example Filter Wizard

The tables available in the wizard depend on the table specified as the dimension table for the fixed row structure.

To create a filter:

1. In the left-hand side of the dialog, select the table column on which you want to base the filter.

For example, if you want to create a filter such as DEPT.DEPT>=5000, then you must select the DEPT column from the DEPT table.

To find the desired table and column, you can filter the list by typing into the Search box. The filter matches based on table and column names.

Once you select a table column, the values in that column display in the right-hand side of the dialog.

**TIP:** Alternatively, you can use the folder icon to the right of the **Preview** box to load a previously saved filter from the Filters Library. If you do this, your selected filter is placed in the Preview box, overwriting any current content in the preview. Skip to step 4.

- 2. In the right-hand side of the dialog, select the value(s) on which you want to base the filter. You can type into the filter box above the list of values to filter the list.
- 3. In the space between the two selection boxes, select the operator to use for the filter criteria statement, such as equals, not equals, greater than, or less than. By default, the filter statement uses equals (=).

Note the following about filter operators:

- Greater than / less than options are only available if the column data type holds numbers or dates.
- If multiple items are selected, then IN and NOT IN syntax is automatically used for equals and not equals respectively.
- If the column is a string column and the value contains an apostrophe (such as O'Connor), the wizard automatically converts this value to double apostrophes so that it is valid for use in the filter (O''Connor). Apostrophes in string values must be escaped this way so that they are not interpreted as the closing apostrophe for the filter criteria statement.
- The LIKE operator is supported, but is not available for selection in the Filter Wizard. You must manually edit the filter criteria statement if you want to use it. Only advanced users with knowledge of valid SQL LIKE syntax should do this.
- 4. Review the filter criteria statement in the **Preview** box to ensure that it is as intended. If you need to make changes, you can manually edit the statement, or you can start again with a new statement. If you want to clear the statement, click the **X** icon to the right of the Preview box.

For more information on valid syntax, see Filter criteria syntax.

- 5. If no filter is currently present in the **Filter** box, click **Apply** to move the filter down to the Filter box. If a filter is currently present in the Filter box, you can do one of the following:
  - Click **Replace** to overwrite the current filter with the preview filter.
  - Click AND or OR to add the preview filter to the current filter. This creates a compound criteria statement.

You can repeat the filter creation process as many times as necessary to create the desired statement. You can also manually modify the filter in the Filter box as needed, such as to add parentheses to group statements.

6. When the filter in the Filter box is complete, click **OK**.

**TIP:** If you want to save the filter you have created for future use, click the save icon to the right of the Filter box. You can select a folder location in the Filters Library (or My Documents if applicable), and specify a name for the filter. This option is only available if you have read/write access to at least one location where filters can be stored.

# Web report sharing, export, and distribution

The information in web reports can be distributed throughout the organization using a variety of features:

- You can export a web report as a PDF, Excel, or delimited file, and save it locally or to the Axiom repository.
- You can share a web report via email to other users, by sending a link to the live file in the system, or by attaching a PDF or Excel file.
- You can process web reports iteratively over a dimension, and then automatically save and/or email the report to designated recipients.

# Exporting a PDF copy of a web report

You can export a web report as a PDF file, and save the file locally or to the Axiom repository. The export can be performed while viewing the report, or from the Reports Library in the Intelligence Center.

- When exporting the report from the Intelligence Center, it is exported using default settings. If the report requires user input to return data, you should instead open the report and export from the report viewer.
- When exporting the report from the report viewer, the export honors the current report state such as sorting, filtering, and drilling.

Any user who can view the report can export to PDF and save it to a local folder location. In order to save a PDF copy to the Axiom repository, you must have read/write access to at least one folder in the Reports Library.

To export a web report as a PDF file:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the report in the folder tree, or search to find it.
- 2. Do one of the following:
  - Hover your cursor over the Name column to make the three-dots icon visible. Click the icon then select Export > PDF from the menu.

Name	T	Modified on
Acct Analysis		9/16/2021 11:09 A
🗃 Budget Analysis	<ul><li>Info</li><li>Zedit</li></ul>	3/2/2021 12:27 P
Budget to Actuals Comparison	Share	7/2/2021 7:36 A
Corporate Dashboard	🛨 Export 🕨	Delimited Pl
Quarterly Performance	🗋 Copy	Excel

Click the report name to open the report. In the top right corner of the report, click Export
 > PDF.

Edit	Export	Share
Delimi	ted	
Excel		
PDF		

- 3. In the **Export Report** dialog, enter a file name into the **File name** field. By default, the file name is the same as the web report file name.
- 4. Select the export destination from the **Export to** drop-down:
  - My computer: Save the PDF to your computer.
  - Axiom repository: Save the PDF to a folder in the Axiom Reports Library, or to your My Documents folder.

#### NOTES:

- If you save the PDF to a folder in the Reports Library, any user with at least read-only access to that folder will be able to view the PDF. You should be sure that it is acceptable for users with permission to the target folder to view the data in the PDF.
- If you do not have read/write access to any folders in the Axiom repository, then the **Export to** option is not available and does not display in the dialog. The PDF will be automatically saved to your computer.
- If you save the PDF to your computer, keep in mind that Axiom does not enforce any security on the exported file.
- 5. If you are saving to the Axiom repository, select an **Output folder**:
  - Click the folder icon 🗁 to the right of the field.
  - In the **Choose output folder** dialog, select a folder in the Reports Library. The dialog only shows folders where you have read/write access to that folder or a child folder.

**NOTE:** If you have access to the My Documents folder, then you can also save reports to that location for your personal use.

• Click OK to choose the folder and return to the Export to PDF dialog.

The path to your selected folder now displays in the **Output folder** field.

6. In the **Configuration Settings** section, select the following:

Item	Description
Pages	If you are exporting from the report viewer and the report has paged data, select one of the following:
	<ul> <li>Current Page: The export will contain the current page of data only.</li> <li>For example, if you are currently viewing page 2 of the data in the report, the export will contain that data only.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>All Pages: The export will contain all pages of data, up to 10 pages maximum.</li> </ul>
	A "page" refers to a page of data as displayed in the report, not PDF pages. Report pages can be configured to show 25 (default), 50, or 100 rows. For example, if you select to export the current page and the page size is 100, the PDF will contain those 100 rows which may span several PDF pages.
	NOTES:
	<ul> <li>If you are exporting from the Intelligence Center, this option does not display and the PDF will contain all data pages (up to the maximum).</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If the report uses a fixed row structure, data is not paged and this option does not apply. The PDF will contain the full contents of the report.</li> </ul>
Layout	Select the page size for the PDF. You can choose from the following standard page sizes: <b>A3</b> , <b>A4</b> , <b>A5</b> , <b>Legal</b> , <b>Letter</b> , or <b>Tabloid</b> . Letter is the default size.
Orientation	Select the orientation for the PDF, either <b>Portrait</b> or <b>Landscape</b> . Portrait is the default orientation.
Margin	Specifies the PDF page margins. Select one of the following:
	None: No margin
	Narrow: 0.5 inch margins all around
	Normal: 1 inch margins all around (default)
Header Footer	Specify optional header and footer text. The variables {page_number} and {total_pages} can be used in the header or footer.
	You can select from several predefined header and footer options using variables, or you can type text into the Header or Footer box.
	<b>NOTE:</b> If the margin is set to None, then the Header, Footer, and Alignment options are not available because there is no room to display a header or footer.
Alignment	Specify the alignment of the header and footer text, if defined: Left, Center (default), or Right.

- 7. Click Export to create the PDF.
  - If you are saving to the Axiom repository, and you used a file name that already exists in the target folder, you are prompted to choose whether or not to overwrite the existing file. If you choose not to overwrite, you are returned to the Export to PDF dialog so that you can use a different name and/or output folder.
  - If you are saving to your computer, the exact behavior is determined by your browser settings. The default behavior for most browsers is to save the file to the **Downloads** folder on your computer.
  - In either case, a notification message displays at the top of the page to indicate whether the PDF creation succeeded or failed.

#### Export behavior

When you create the PDF, the web report contents are handled as follows:

- If the grid in the web report has paged data, the PDF will contain either all rows shown on the current page, or all rows in the report up to 10 pages of data. The number of rows in a page of data depends on the paging selection in the report (25, 50, or 100).
  - Column headers are present on the first PDF page only; headers do not repeat on PDF pages.
  - If the report has a total row, that row is always included in the PDF and always displays the full total, even if the PDF only contains a partial set of data.
  - If exporting from the Intelligence Center, the PDF contains all data pages up to the maximum, using the default of 25 rows per page.
- If you have sorted, filtered, or drilled the data displayed in the report, these changes are reflected in the PDF. The exception is if you have reordered columns—columns display in their original order.

**NOTE:** Drill results can only be saved as a PDF if the report was created in the Report Builder. Web reports created from template display drill results slightly differently, and these results cannot be saved to PDF.

• If the report uses report parameters, those parameter selections are not reflected in the export. Exception: If the report uses a dynamic column tied to a Column List report parameter, the default value for that parameter will be used for the export.

**NOTE:** For reports created from template, refresh variable selections are applied to the export.

• If the report contains a column with links, the column displays the link text without an active hyperlink.

# Exporting grid data in a web report to Excel

You can export grid data in a web report to a spreadsheet, so that you can further examine the data using spreadsheet features. You can save the spreadsheet locally, or save it to the Axiom repository.

The export can be performed while viewing the report, or from the Reports Library in the Intelligence Center.

- When exporting the report from the Intelligence Center, it is exported using default settings. If the report requires user input to return data, you should instead open the report and export from the report viewer.
- When exporting the report from the report viewer, the export honors the current report state such as sorting, filtering, and drilling.

Any user who can view the report can save the spreadsheet export locally. In order to save the spreadsheet export to the Axiom repository, you must have read/write access to at least one folder in the Reports Library.

To export grid data to an Excel spreadsheet:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the report in the folder tree, or search to find it.
- 2. Do one of the following:
  - Hover your cursor over the Name column to make the three-dots icon visible. Click the icon then select Export > Excel from the menu.

Name	T	Modi
Acct Analysis		9/16/2021 1
Budget Analysis	(i) Info	3/2/2021 1
Budget to Actuals Comparison	<ul><li>Edit</li><li>Share</li></ul>	7/2/2021
Corporate Dashboard	🛨 Export 🕨	Delimited
Quarterly Performance	🗋 Copy	Excel

Click the report name to open the report. In the top right corner of the report, click Export > Excel.

Edit	Export	Share
Delimi	ted	
Excel		
PDF		

- 3. In the **Export to Excel** dialog, enter a file name into the **File name** field. By default, the file name is the same as the web report file name.
- 4. Select the export destination from the **Export to** drop-down:
  - My computer: Save the spreadsheet to your computer.
  - Axiom repository: Save the spreadsheet to a folder in the Axiom Reports Library, or to your My Documents folder.

#### NOTES:

- If you save the spreadsheet to a folder in the Reports Library, then any user with at least read-only access to that folder will be able to view the spreadsheet. You should be sure that it is acceptable for users with permission to the target folder to view the data in the spreadsheet.
- If you do not have read/write access to any folders in the Axiom repository, then the **Export to** option is not available and does not display in the dialog. The spreadsheet will be automatically saved to your computer.
- If you save the spreadsheet to your computer, keep in mind that Axiom does not enforce any security on the exported file.
- 5. If you are saving to the Axiom repository, select an Output folder:
  - Click the folder icon 
    → to the right of the field.
  - In the **Choose output folder** dialog, select a folder in the Reports Library. The dialog only shows folders where you have read/write access to that folder or a child folder.

**NOTE:** If you have access to the My Documents folder, then you can also save reports to that location for your personal use.

• Click OK to choose the folder and return to the Export to Excel dialog.

The path to your selected folder now displays in the Output folder field.

6. If the current report is enabled for directed drilling, you can optionally choose to Export all drill levels. If this option is enabled, then the report data is "flattened" using all drill levels. For example, if the report is currently showing rows by Acct, and the report has configured drilling levels of Region and Dept, then the exported report contains data rows by unique combination of Acct/Region/Dept.

#### NOTES:

- If this option is enabled, the export ignores any sorting, filtering, or drilling in the report. The directed drilling columns are added to the report as row dimensions, and all data is exported at this level.
- This option is not available if the report uses a fixed row structure, or if the report is built from template.
- 7. Click **Export** to create the spreadsheet.
  - If you are saving to the Axiom repository, and you used a file name that already exists in the target folder, you are prompted to choose whether or not to overwrite the existing file. If you choose not to overwrite, you are returned to the Export to Excel dialog so that you can use a different name and/or output folder.
  - If you are saving to your computer, the exact behavior is determined by your browser settings. The default behavior for most browsers is to save the file to the **Downloads** folder on your computer.
  - In either case, a notification message displays at the top of the page to indicate whether the spreadsheet creation succeeded or failed.

### Export behavior

When the grid data is exported, the behavior is as follows:

- If the data is paged in the report, the export contains all pages of data.
- By default, the basic number format applied to the column is preserved in the export. The exception is negative numbers, which will always be shown using a minus sign regardless of the configured format. Other formats such as background colors and borders are not applied to the exported data.
- Date and DateTime columns are exported as follows:
  - Columns configured to display the full date part are exported using the default date or date-time format, regardless of the format configured to display in the report.
  - Columns configured to display other date parts display the numeric value of the date part only. For example, if the column is configured to display the Quarter part as Q1 format, the value is exported as only the number (1 for Q1).

- If you have sorted, filtered, or drilled the data displayed in the report, these changes are reflected in the export. The following exceptions apply:
  - ° Reordered columns are ignored. Columns are exported in their original order.
  - Drill results can only be exported to Excel if the report was created in the Report Builder.
     Web reports created from template display drill results slightly differently, and these results cannot be exported.
  - If Export all drill levels is enabled, the export ignores any sorting, filtering, or drilling in the report. The directed drilling columns are added to the report as row dimensions, and all data is exported at this level.
- If the report uses report parameters, those parameter selections are not reflected in the export. Exception: If the report uses a dynamic column tied to a Column List report parameter, the default value for that parameter will be used for the export.

**NOTE:** For reports created from template, refresh variable selections are applied to the export.

- Column group headers are omitted from the export. Additionally, if a column has a 2-row header, only the first row of that header is exported.
- If the report contains a column with links, the link configuration is ignored, and the regular column value is exported (as if the column were not enabled to show links).
- Export to Excel is capped at 150,000 rows. If a report contains over 150,000 rows, only partial data is exported, and the total row is omitted.

# Exporting grid data in a web report to a delimited file

You can export grid data in a web report to a delimited file such as comma-separated (CSV). You can save the delimited file locally, or save it to the Axiom repository.

The export can be performed while viewing the report, or from the Reports Library in the Intelligence Center.

- When exporting the report from the Intelligence Center, it is exported using default settings. If the report requires user input to return data, you should instead open the report and export from the report viewer.
- When exporting the report from the report viewer, the export honors the current report state such as sorting, filtering, and drilling.

Any user who can view the report can save the delimited file locally. In order to save the delimited file to the Axiom repository, you must have read/write access to at least one folder in the Reports Library.

To export grid data to a delimited file:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the report in the folder tree, or search to find it.
- 2. Do one of the following:
  - Hover your cursor over the Name column to make the three-dots icon visible. Click the icon then select Export > Excel from the menu.

Name	T	Mod
Acct Analysis	•••	9/16/2021
🖹 Budget Analysis	<ol> <li>Info</li> </ol>	3/2/2021
Budget to Actuals Comparison	<ul><li>Edit</li><li>Share</li></ul>	7/2/202
Corporate Dashboard	🛨 Export 🕨	Delimited
Quarterly Performance	🗈 Copy	☑ Excel

Click the report name to open the report. In the top right corner of the report, click Export > Excel.

- 3. In the **Export Report** dialog, enter a file name into the **File name** box. By default, the file name is the same as the web report file name.
- 4. For **Export to**, select the export destination:
  - My computer: Save the delimited file to your computer.
  - Axiom repository: Save the delimited file to a folder in the Axiom Reports Library, or to your My Documents folder.

#### NOTES:

- If you save the delimited file to a folder in the Reports Library, then any user with at least read-only access to that folder will be able to view the file. You should be sure that it is acceptable for users with permission to the target folder to view the data in the file.
- If you do not have read/write access to any folders in the Axiom repository, then the **Export to** option is not available and does not display in the dialog. The file will be automatically saved to your computer.
- If you save the file to your computer, keep in mind that Axiom does not enforce any security on the exported file.
- 5. If you are saving to the Axiom repository, select an Output folder:

  - In the **Choose output folder** dialog, select a folder in the Reports Library. The dialog only shows folders where you have read/write access to that folder or a child folder.

**NOTE:** If you have access to the My Documents folder, then you can also save reports to that location for your personal use.

• Click OK to choose the folder and return to the Export to Excel dialog.

The path to your selected folder now displays in the Output folder field.

6. In the Configuration options section, select the desired Delimiter. You can select any of the following: Comma (default), Space, Period, Pipe, Tab, Semi-Colon, Colon.

If the delimiter is a comma, the file format for the exported file is CSV. For any other delimiter, the file format is TXT.

7. If the current report is enabled for directed drilling, you can optionally choose to Export all drill levels. If this option is enabled, then the report data is "flattened" using all drill levels. For example, if the report is currently showing rows by Acct, and the report has configured drilling levels of Region and Dept, then the exported report contains data rows by unique combination of Acct/Region/Dept.

#### NOTES:

- If this option is enabled, the export ignores any sorting, filtering, or drilling in the report. The directed drilling columns are added to the report as row dimensions, and all data is exported at this level.
- This option is not available if the report uses a fixed row structure, or if the report is built from template.

- 8. Click **Export** to create the delimited file.
  - If you are saving to the Axiom repository, and you used a file name that already exists in the target folder, you are prompted to choose whether or not to overwrite the existing file. If you choose not to overwrite, you are returned to the Export Report dialog so that you can use a different name and/or output folder.
  - If you are saving to your computer, the exact behavior is determined by your browser settings. The default behavior for most browsers is to save the file to the **Downloads** folder on your computer.
  - In either case, a notification message displays at the top of the page to indicate whether the file creation succeeded or failed.

#### Export behavior

When the grid data is exported, the behavior is as follows:

- If the data is paged in the report, the export contains all pages of data.
- If the report uses row dimensions, then the first row of data in the file contains the column headers. Group headers are omitted from the export. Additionally, if a column has a 2-row header, only the first row of that header is exported. The total row is excluded from the export.
- If the report uses a fixed row structure, all rows are included in the delimited file, including header rows and subtotal rows.
- The raw data is exported to the delimited file. No formatting is applied. For example, this means number formats are not applied, date formats are not applied, and the Show Description option is not applied. The Description will only display if you click the **Show description** toggle in the **Formatting Properties** area of your report's column configuration settings.
- If a data value in the export contains the delimiter, that value is escaped in double quotation marks. For example, if the delimiter is a space character, then values with spaces are wrapped in double quotation marks (such as "Finance Department").
- If the report contains a column with links, the link configuration is ignored, and the regular column value is exported (as if the column were not enabled to show links).

- If you have sorted, filtered, or drilled the data displayed in the report, these changes are reflected in the export. The following exceptions apply:
  - ° Reordered columns are ignored. Columns are exported in their original order.
  - Drill results can only be exported to file if the report was created in the Report Builder.
     Web reports created from template display drill results slightly differently, and these results cannot be exported.
  - If Export all drill levels is enabled, the export ignores any sorting, filtering, or drilling in the report. The directed drilling columns are added to the report as row dimensions, and all data is exported at this level.
- If the report uses report parameters, those parameter selections are not reflected in the export. Exception: If the report uses a dynamic column tied to a Column List report parameter, the default value for that parameter will be used for the export.

**NOTE:** For reports created from template, refresh variable selections are applied to the export.

## Sharing a web report via email

You can share a web report with other Axiom users via email. The report can be shared as a link to the live report, or as a PDF or Excel attachment. Sharing can be done while viewing the report, or from the Reports Library in the Intelligence Center.

- When sharing the report from the Intelligence Center as a PDF or Excel attachment, the attachment is generated using default settings. If the report requires user input to return data, you should instead open the report and share from the report viewer.
- When sharing the report from the report viewer as a PDF or Excel attachment, the attachment honors the current report state such as sorting, filtering, and drilling. Exception: report parameter selections are not honored unless the report is built from template.
- When sharing the report as a link, the email recipient can click the link to log in to Axiom and view the report within the application. The recipient must have at least read-only security permission to the report in order to view it. When using the link, the report is opened in its default state, and the user can explore the report as needed.

Any user who can view the report can share it. The report can be shared with any user in Axiom, or any email address that the Axiom system can send email to.

**NOTE:** When sharing a web report as a PDF or Excel attachment, keep in mind that Axiom does not enforce any security on these attachments. Any user who receives the email can view the attachment.

To share a web report via email:

- 1. In the Intelligence Center, locate the report in the folder tree, or search to find it.
- 2. Do one of the following:
  - Hover your cursor over the Name column to make the three-dots icon visible. Click the icon and select Share from the menu, then select either Excel, Link, or PDF.

Name	T	М	
Acct Analysis		9/16/20:	
🗃 Budget Analysis	(i) Info	3/2/20:	
Budget to Actuals Comparison	/ Edit	20	
	< Share	Excel	
Corporate Dashboard	🛨 Export 🕨	eə Link 02	
	[ Сору	PDF	
Quarterly Performance	💼 Delete	0:	

• Click the report name to open the report. In the top right corner of the report, click **Share**, then select either **Excel**, **Link**, or **PDF**.



- 3. If you selected to share as either Excel or PDF, then complete the settings in the Share Report dialog, and then click Share. The settings are the same as when exporting to Excel or PDF, except that you do not specify a location to save the exported file—the file will be attached to the sharing email. For example:
  - For PDF, you can specify the file name, layout, orientation, margin size, and header/footer content.
  - For Excel, you can specify the file name and whether to export all drilling levels.

#### NOTES:

- The Share Report dialog for Excel only displays if you are sharing from within the report viewer, and only if the report is configured for directed drilling. Otherwise, the dialog does not display and the file name of the Excel attachment will always be the report file name.
- The PDF or Excel attachment is generated using the same behavior as when exporting the file to PDF or Excel. For more information, see Exporting grid data in a web report to Excel or Exporting a PDF copy of a web report.
- If you selected to share as a link, this dialog does not display and you are taken directly to the E-mail dialog.
- In the E-Mail dialog, select the recipients of the email. You can type email addresses into the To, CC, and BCC boxes, or you can click the plus icon next to the recipient box to look up email addresses for Axiom users:
  - In the **Select Users** dialog, select the check boxes next to the users that you want to share the report with.
  - You can search on the user first or last name to find users.
  - Once you have selected one or more users, click **OK**. The recipient box is populated with the email addresses for the selected users. If the box already contained one or more email addresses, the newly selected addresses will be added to the existing list.

If you are manually typing email addresses, separate multiple addresses with semicolons.

E-1110	ail		×
To:	jdo	e@company.com	+
Cc:			+
Bcc:			+
Subje	ect:	Sharing Expense Analysis	
A EX	pens	se Analysis.pdf	
		se Analysis.pdf I is a copy of the expense analysis that we talked about.	

Example E-mail dialog

- 5. In the E-Mail dialog, complete the Subject and body text as needed.
  - By default, the subject is set to "Sharing FileName".
  - If you are sharing a link, the link is pre-populated into the body text.
- 6. Click Share to share the report and send the email.
  - If you are sharing the report as a PDF or Excel file, the attachment is generated at this point. If the report is large, there may be a delay while the attachment is generated.
  - A notification message displays at the top of the page to indicate whether the email and its attachment (if applicable) was generated successfully. Once the email is generated, it will sent by the Axiom server using the standard System.SMTPMessageDelivery job.

# Production reporting for web reports

Using production reporting features with web reports, you can generate and deliver report "snapshots" to various audiences as needed.

- You can perform multipass processing on a web report over a specified dimension, such as by department, region, or entity. The report is iteratively refreshed—one "pass" for each value of the dimension—and during each pass a filter is automatically applied to limit the data to the current dimension value.
- The output of each pass is a filtered PDF or Excel "snapshot" of the report. This static snapshot is then saved to a target folder location—either a local folder in your network or the Axiom repository—and/or emailed to a specified recipient. Folder locations and email recipients can be determined dynamically so that the location and recipient changes as needed for each pass.
- Multiple PDF or Excel snapshots can be optionally collected into larger "report books" and then dynamically saved and/or emailed as needed. For example, you might process three different web reports by entity, and then collect the three resulting entity snapshots into a single file per entity.

To perform multipass processing on a web report, use the Scheduler task **Web Report Processing**. This task will process a target report by a specified dimension, and then save and/or email the output files as configured in the task.

To collect output files into report books, use the File Collect option of File Processing. To do this, you must create a spreadsheet report, enable it for file processing, and then configure file collect options. Once it is configured, file collect processing can be run manually in the Desktop Client, or can be run using the Scheduler task **File Processing**.

**IMPORTANT:** In phase one of production reporting for web reports, processing is only supported for web reports created from product-delivered templates. Ad hoc web reports created in the Report Builder cannot be processed yet. Support for ad hoc report processing may be added in a future release.

## Setting up web report processing

You can perform production reporting for web reports using multipass processing. The report can be processed multiple times over a dimension, generating a filtered PDF or Excel copy of the report for each value of the dimension. The report copies can be saved to a designated location and/or emailed to designated recipients.

To perform multipass processing on a web report, use the Scheduler task **Web Report Processing**. When you set up this task, you configure the following:

• The web report to process. You can process any web report created from a product-delivered template.

- The output format of the processing. Each pass will generate a filtered PDF or Excel output file. The name of the file can be set dynamically using processing variables and job variables.
- The delivery option for the processing. Each output file can be saved to a folder location, emailed to a recipient, or both.
  - If the output is saved, you specify the location of the target folder (local or Axiom repository) and the folder path. The folder path can be set dynamically using processing variables and job variables.
  - If the output is emailed, you specify the recipients of the email, and the email subject and body text. The recipients can be manually entered into the task settings (and can optionally use job variables), or you can specify a table column to dynamically look up the recipients. Recipients can be email addresses, or you can list user and role names to look up email addresses from Axiom security. The email subject and body text can be set dynamically using processing variables and job variables.
- The dimension to process. You can specify any dimension that will be compatible against the data queried in the target web report. The web report will be processed once for each value in the dimension. If desired, you can define a filter to limit the dimension values to process.

## Configuring a web report processing task

In order to create a Scheduler job with a Web Report Processing task, you must be an administrator or a user with the **Scheduled Jobs User** permission. You must also have read/write access to at least one folder in the Scheduler Jobs Library to save the job. Scheduler jobs can only be created in the Desktop Client.

To create a Scheduler job with a web report processing task:

1. On the Axiom tab, in the Administration group, click Manage > Scheduler.

**NOTE:** In systems with installed products, this feature may be located on the **Admin** tab. In the **System Management** group, click **Scheduler**.

2. In the Scheduler dialog, on the Job tab, click New.

A Axiom	A Axiom Scheduler - Scheduled Jobs				
Job S	ervice				
New	Open Sav	e Close	Run Once		
	Jol	b			
🕼 Schedu	uled Jobs				
ID		Job		User	Status
4575512	4575512 System.ProcessNotification		System	Pending	
4575500	4575500 System.SystemDataPurge		System	Pending	
4575502	System.In	dexMainten	ance	System	Pending

3. Select the Tasks section of the job, then on the Job tab, click Add > Web Report Processing.

Axiom Scheduler - New Job					
Job Service					
New Open Save Close	Run Once Add Move Move Remove Clear Up Down Selected All				
dol	Active Directory Import				
🕼 Scheduled Jobs 📋 New Job	ob 🔲 Collect Worksheets				
	Copy On Demand Plan Files				
General Variables	Create Plan Files				
Scheduling Rules	Echo Task				
Event Handlers Notification	Execute Command Adapter				
Tasks	Execute SQL Command				
Results	Export ETL Package				
	File Processing				
	Import ETL Package				
	Process Document List				
	Process Plan Files				
	Process Template List				
	Purge System Data				
	Raise Event				
	Rebuild Database Indexes				
	Run Scheduler Job				
	SMTP Message Delivery				
	Start Process				
	Update Database Statistics				
	Update Indexes and Constraints				
	Web Report Processing				

- 4. Select the Web Report to Process. This is the report that will be processed by the task.
  - Click the **Browse** button to open the Axiom Explorer dialog.
  - Navigate to the web report that you want to process, then select the report and then click **Open**.

The selected report is listed in the Web Report to Process box.

**IMPORTANT:** Remember, only web reports that are created from a product-delivered template can be processed. The Axiom Explorer dialog is filtered to only show reports that were created from template.

A Axi	A Axiom Scheduler - New Job										
Job	Service										
			1			1		×	<u>∢</u>		
New	Open	Save	Close	Run Once	Add	Move Up	Move Down	Remove Selected	Clear All		
		Job					Tasks				
🔊 Sch	eduled Joł	os 🗋	New Jo	b							
Ger	neral			> Task	Control						
	Variables Scheduling Rules			✓ Task	Details						
Event Handlers Notification		Web R	eport to P	rocess:	My Rep	oort.axwc		Browse			
<ul> <li>Tasks Web Report Processing Results</li> </ul>		⊘ A	dvanced C	Options							

Example task with report selected for processing

5. Complete the general processing properties that determine the processing type and the output:

Item	Description
Processing	Select one of the following to determine the output format of each pass:
Туре	<ul> <li>Export to Excel (default): The contents of the report are exported to a spreadsheet (XLSX) file. The output uses the same behavior as when you export to spreadsheet while viewing the web report.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Export to PDF: The report is saved as a PDF file. The output uses the same behavior as when you save to PDF while viewing the web report.</li> </ul>
Save or Email Files	Select one of the following to determine the delivery method for the output:
	<ul> <li>Save Files (default): The output files are saved to the specified output folder.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Email Files: The output files are emailed to the specified recipients. The output files are not saved anywhere on the file system.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Save and Email Files: The output files are both saved and emailed.</li> </ul>

ltem	Description
File Generation	Select one of the following to determine whether the output is saved as a single file or multiple files:
	<ul> <li>Multiple Output files (default): The results of each pass are saved as individual output files. For example, if the multipass settings result in 10 passes, then 10 output files are created (one file for each pass).</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Single Output File: The results of each pass are collected into a single output file. For example, if the multipass settings result in 10 passes, then the results of all 10 passes are placed in a single output file.</li> </ul>
	If the output type is Excel, then each pass is a separate sheet in the Excel file. If the output type is PDF, then the PDF for each pass is combined into one large PDF file.
File Name	Specify how the output file (or files) should be named. You can do the following:
	<ul> <li>You can use processing variables and/or Scheduler job variables to generate dynamic file names.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>You can type a "hard-coded" file name.</li> </ul>
	If the task will generate multiple output files, then the file name (or the output folder path) must use a processing variable so that the output of each pass is unique. If the task will generate a single output file, then variables are not required.
	To use a processing variable, you can type the variable or you can click the pencil icon 🥒 to open a text editor. From the Insert Variable list, select the variable that you want to use.
	For example, you could set the file name to Income Statement [Current_Value]. If the report is being processed by region to multiple output files, this will generate file names such as Income Statement West, Income Statement East, and so on (where "East" and "West" are region names).
	<b>NOTE:</b> Processing variables and Scheduler variables use different syntax. Processing variables are enclosed in square brackets. Scheduler job variables are enclosed in curly brackets.

ltem	Description
Sheet Name	Specify how the sheet for each pass should be named. This property only applies when the processing type is <b>Export to Excel</b> . You can do the following:
	<ul> <li>You can use processing variables and/or Scheduler job variables to generate dynamic sheet names.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>You can type a "hard-coded" sheet name.</li> </ul>
	If the task will collect all of the output into a single spreadsheet file, then the sheet name must use a processing variable so that the output of each pass is unique. If the task will generate multiple output files, then variables are not required.
	To use a processing variable, you can type the variable or you can click the pencil icon 🥒 to open a text editor. From the Insert Variable list, select the variable that you want to use.
	For example, you could set the sheet name to [Current_Value]. If the report is being processed by region, this will generate sheet names such as West, East, and so on (where "East" and "West" are region names).
	<b>NOTE:</b> Processing variables and Scheduler variables use different syntax. Processing variables are enclosed in square brackets. Scheduler job variables are enclosed in curly brackets.

Scheduled Jobs	bb	
General Variables Scheduling Rules Event Handlers Notification Tasks Web Report Processing Results	<ul> <li>Task Control</li> <li>Task Details</li> <li>Web Report to Process</li> <li>Advanced Option</li> <li>Processing Type:</li> <li>Save or Email Files:</li> <li>File Generation:</li> <li>File Name:</li> </ul>	

Example task with general processing properties configured

6. Depending on the selected processing type (PDF or Excel), complete the properties specific to that processing type:

## Export to PDF Settings

ltem	Description
PDF Orientation	Select the orientation for the PDF, either <b>Portrait</b> or <b>Landscape</b> . Portrait is the default orientation.
Page Size	Select the page size for the PDF. You can choose from the following standard page sizes: <b>A3, A4, A5, Legal, Letter</b> , or <b>Tabloid</b> . Letter is the default size.

## Export to Excel Settings

Item	Description
Include Column Headers	Specifies whether column headers are included in the file output. By default this is set to <b>On</b> , which means column header text is included in the first row of the spreadsheet. Column grouping headers and multi-row headers are not included.
	If this option is set to <b>Off</b> , then column headers are omitted from the file output and the data starts in the first row of the spreadsheet.
Include total row	Specifies whether the total row is included in the file output. By default this is set to <b>On</b> , which means that the total row is included in the spreadsheet.
	If this option is set to <b>Off</b> , then the total row is omitted from the file output.
	<b>NOTE:</b> This option only applies when the web report being processed is a dynamic row report with the total row enabled. If the web report being processed uses a fixed row structure, then the total and subtotal rows defined in the fixed row structure are always included in the spreadsheet.

Scheduled Jobs 🗋 New Jo	do	
General	> Task Control	
Variables Scheduling Rules	✓ Task Details	
Event Handlers	Web Report to Proces	s: My Report.axwc Browse
<ul> <li>Tasks Web Report Processing Results</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Advanced Optior</li> </ul>	15
	Processing Type:	Export to PDF
	Save or Email Files:	Save and Email Files
	File Generation:	Multiple Output Files
	File Name:	[CURRENT_VALUE]
	✓ Export to PDF Set	ttings
	PDF Orientation:	Portrait
	Page Size:	Letter

Example task with PDF-specific settings

7. If the processing is set to Save Files or Save and Email Files, complete the Output File Settings:

ltem	Description
Output To	Select one of the following:
	<ul> <li>Local File System (default): The output location is outside of Axiom, to a location on your local network share. The specific path is detailed in the Output Folder setting. Access to output files is not controlled by Axiom.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Axiom Repository: The output location is the Axiom file system, within the Reports Library. The specific path is detailed in the Output Folder setting. Access to output files is controlled by security access to the designated folder within Axiom.</li> </ul>

ltem	Description
Output Folder	Specify the folder location for the file output. You can type a folder path, or you can click the folder icon to browse to the folder location. The browse dialog will display either your local file system or the Axiom file system, depending on what you selected for <b>Output To</b> .
	The output folder can be made dynamic as follows:
	<ul> <li>If File Generation is set to Multiple Output Files, then processing variables can be used in the output folder path. For example, you can include [Current_Value] in the output folder path, and this will be replaced with the current multipass value. Processing variables are not valid in the output folder path if the task is configured to generate a single output file.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Scheduler job variables can be used in the output folder path.</li> </ul>
	<b>NOTE:</b> Processing variables and Scheduler variables use different syntax. Processing variables are enclosed in square brackets. Scheduler job variables are enclosed in curly brackets.
	Local file system The output folder location must be entered as a UNC path, and must be accessible by the Scheduler service user account (for on-premise systems) or the Axiom Cloud Integration Service (for cloud systems).
	The ability to save files to the specified location and access them after saving is controlled by local network security.
	<ul> <li>Axiom repository</li> <li>The specified location in the Axiom file system must be within the Reports Library, and the location must use the full path (meaning: \Axiom\Reports Library\). The ability to save files to the specified location and to create new folders (if necessary) depends on the Axiom security permissions for the user processing the file. Users can only create new folders if they have read/write permissions to the parent folder, and they can only create new files if they have read/write permissions to the target folder.</li> </ul>
	Once the files are created within the Axiom file system, access to those files is dependent on the user's permissions to the output folder. Typically you should create the output folder in advance (or if you want to create output folders on-the-fly, create a parent folder to hold the output folders), and then set permissions for that folder as appropriate in Axiom security, so that the appropriate users will be able to access the files after they are created.

Item	Description
Remote Data Connection	This option only applies when the file output is being saved to your local file system, and only for Axiom Cloud systems that are using remote data connections.
	Select the name of the remote data connection to use for the file processing operation. The designated remote data connection will be used to access the local file system and save output file(s) to the designated location.
	A remote data connection is required to save files locally from an Axiom Cloud system. For more information, see the section on remote data connections in the <i>Scheduler Guide</i> .
Purge Setting	This option only applies when the file output is being saved to the Axiom Repository.
	If you want the file output to be automatically deleted after a specified period of time, then click the pencil icon 🥓 to open the Choose Date dialog.
	<ul> <li>No purge date (default): File output is not automatically deleted.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Static purge date: Select a specific date, after which the output will be deleted.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Relative purge date: Specify a number of days to keep the output after it has been generated. The output will be deleted after the specified number of days have passed.</li> </ul>

Scheduled Jobs	ob		
General Variables Scheduling Rules	> Task Control		
	✓ Task Details		
Event Handlers	Web Report to Proces	s: My Report.axwc Browse	
Notification Tasks Web Report Processing Results	Advanced Options		
	Processing Type:	Export to PDF	
	Save or Email Files:	Save and Email Files	
	File Generation:	Multiple Output Files	
	File Name:	[CURRENT_VALUE]	
	Export to PDF Set	ttings	
	✓ Output File Settings		
	Output To:	xiom Repository	
	Output Folder: 🛝	Axiom\Reports Library\File Processing	
	Purge Setting: De	lete after 7 days	

Example task saving output to the Axiom Repository

8. If the processing is set to Email Files or Save and Email Files, complete the Email Settings:

ltem	Description
Recipient column	Optional. Specify a table column that holds the desired email recipients for each pass. This option only applies if <b>File Generation</b> is set to <b>Multiple Output Files</b> , so that each pass will be sent a separate email.
	You can type the name of a table column, or click the column button it to select a column from the multipass table or a lookup table. (You must select a multipass column first before you can use the column button to select a column.) For example, if the multipass column is Dept.VP, the recipient column might be Dept.VP.Email.
	The specified column can contain any of the following: email addresses, user login names, and/or role names. The column can contain multiple values separated by a semicolon. The recipients listed in the column will be used as the To address for the email (in addition to any recipients listed directly in the To field). If the column contains a user login name, that user's email address as defined in security will be used. If the column contains a role name, the email will be sent to all users in the role.
	To verify that the recipient column will resolve as you expect for each pass, you can click the <b>Preview Multipass List</b> button in the <b>Multipass</b> <b>Data Settings</b> section. The specified recipient column displays in this preview so that you can see the recipient column values associated with the multipass column values.
	<b>NOTE:</b> The recipient column must have a one-to-one relationship with the values in the specified multipass column.
То	Specify the To recipient(s) for the email. This is required if a recipient column is not specified. If a recipient column is specified, the recipients listed here will be added to the recipients listed in the column for each pass.
	You can type one or more email addresses, user login names, and/or role names. Separate multiple recipients with semicolons. If a user login name is listed, that user's email address as defined in security will be used. If a role name is listed, the email will be sent to all users in the role.
	<b>NOTE:</b> If <b>File Generation</b> is set to <b>Multiple Output Files</b> , the recipients in the To field will receive a separate email for each pass. The only way to dynamically send the emails to different recipients per pass is to use the <b>Recipient Column</b> option.
СС	Optional. Specify the CC recipient(s) for the email. This field follows the same rules as the To field.
Item	Description
--------------	---
BCC	Optional. Specify the BCC recipient(s) for the email. This field follows the same rules as the To field.
From	Select one of the following to specify the From address for the email:
	<ul> <li>Current User: The email will be sent from the user who executes the Scheduler job.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>System User: The email will be sent from the designated From user for Scheduler. This is the same value returned by the {Scheduler.FromEmailAddress} job variable.</li> </ul>
Subject Line	Enter the subject line for the email. Processing variables can be used in the subject line when File Generation is set to Multiple Output Files.
	To use a processing variable, you can type the variable or you can click the pencil icon 🥒 to open a text editor. From the Insert Variable list, select the variable that you want to use.
	For example, you could set the subject line to Monthly report for [Current_Value] in order to include the current pass value in the subject line.
Body Text	Enter the body text for the email. Processing variables can be used in the body text when File Generation is set to Multiple Output Files.
	To use a processing variable, you can type the variable or you can click the pencil icon 🥒 to open a text editor. From the <b>Insert Variable</b> list, select the variable that you want to use.

Scheduler job variables can be used in any of the email settings except the From setting.

Scheduled Jobs	ob					
General	> Task Control					
Variables Scheduling Rules	✓ Task Details					
Event Handlers Notification	Web Report to Proces	s: My Report.axwc Browse				
<ul> <li>✓ Tasks</li> <li>Web Report Processing Results</li> </ul>	Advanced Option	is				
	Processing Type:	Export to PDF				
	Save or Email Files:	Save and Email Files				
	File Generation:	Multiple Output Files				
	File Name:	[CURRENT_VALUE]				
	Export to PDF Set	tings				
	> Output File Setting	igs				
	✓ Email Settings					
	Recipient Column:	Dept.VP.Email				
	To:					
	Cc:	Finance				
	Bcc:					
	From:	Current User				
	Subject Line:	Monthly Report for [CURRENT_VALUE]				
	Body Text:	Attached is the montly report for [CURRENT_VALUE]. Please contact Jane Doe in Finance with any questions.				

Example task looking up email addresses from a recipient column

9. Complete the multipass settings for processing:

Item	Description					
Multipass Column	Specify the column to use for multipass processing. You can type a Table.Column name, or click the column icon 🔝 to select the column from a dialog. You can select any column on a data or reference table, though typically processing is performed by a dimension such as Dept.Dept, or a grouping such as Dept.Region.					
	The report will be processed once for each unique value in the specified column (except for any values excluded by the Source Filter). A filter is applied to the data query in the report so that the data is limited to the current pass value. For example, if you are processing by Dept.Dept, then the report will be processed once for each department, and the report data will be limited to only the data for that department.					
	Keep in mind the difference between processing by a data table column such as GL2023.Dept, versus a dimension table column such as Dept.Dept. When processing by GL2023.Dept, the report will be processed by each department with data in the GL2023 table. When processing by Dept.Dept, the report will be processed by each department in the Dept table.					
	To verify the list of values for processing, click the <b>Preview Multipass List</b> button to view the list of items. The first 100 values are shown, in the order they will be processed. If the task configuration includes a <b>Recipient</b> <b>Column</b> (in the email settings) or a <b>Sort By</b> column, these columns are also shown in the preview.					

ltem	Description					
Current Pass Header	Optional. Define a header to display in the report output file. This option only applies if the processing type is <b>Export to PDF</b> .					
	The current pass header should use processing variables to display information about the current pass. To use a processing variable, you can type the variable or you can click the pencil icon 🖋 to open a text editor. From the Insert Variable list, select the variable that you want to use.					
	For example, you can define a header such as:					
	Processed by [MULTIPASS_COLUMN] [CURRENT_VALUE]					
	When processing by Dept.Dept, this would resolve such as Processed by Dept 22000					
	By default, if the current pass header is left blank, then the PDF output will not include a header to indicate the current pass information. However, it is possible that the template used to create the report may have been designed with a dynamic header that will display this information.					
Sort By	Optional. Specify one or more sort columns for the list of multipass values. You can type a Table.Column name, or click the column icon 🔝 to select the column from a dialog. You can also optionally specify Asc or Desc after the column name (ascending order is used if not specified). For example: Dept.Dept Desc. Separate multiple values with semicolons.					
	By default, the values are sorted by the multipass column in ascending order. The Sort By field only needs to be used if you want the values to be sorted in descending order instead, or if you want the values sorted by a different column in the same table.					
	The processing order is only relevant when File Generation is set to Single Output File, since it determines the order of each individual pass within the single file. When outputting to Multiple Output Files, the order is still used during processing but it has no useful impact on the outcome.					
Source Filter	Optional. Specify a filter to limit the multipass list of items. You can type a filter, or you can click the filter icon $\overline{V}$ to use the Filter Wizard.					
	When the multipass list of values is generated, any value that does not meet the source filter will be excluded from processing.					
	By default, all values in the specified multipass column are processed if the source filter is left blank.					

Scheduler job variables can be used in any of the multipass settings.

🕼 Scheduled Jobs 🗋 New Jo	bb						
General	> Task Control						
Variables Scheduling Rules	✓ Task Details						
Event Handlers Notification	Web Report to Process:	My Report.axwc Browse					
<ul> <li>Tasks</li> <li>Web Report Processing Results</li> </ul>	Advanced Options						
	Processing Type:	Export to PDF					
	Save or Email Files:	Save and Email Files					
	File Generation:	Multiple Output Files					
	File Name:	[CURRENT_VALUE]					
	Export to PDF Setti	ings					
	<ul> <li>Output File Settings</li> </ul>						
	Email Settings						
	✓ MultiPass Data Set	tings					
	Multipass Column:	Dept.VP					
	Current Pass Header:	Processed by [MULTIPASS_COLUMN] [CURRENT_VALUE]					
	Sort By:						
	Source Filter:						

- 10. Complete the remaining task and job settings as desired. For more information, see the Scheduler documentation. Note the following:
  - Generally speaking, the **Advanced Options** displayed at the top of the Web Report Processing task should only be modified as advised by Axiom Support.
  - If you want to schedule the job for execution at a later date and/or time, including setting up recurring execution, use the **Scheduling Rules** section of the job.
  - If you want to use Scheduler job variables in any task settings, these variables should be defined in the Variables section of the job.
  - It is recommended to review the **Notification** settings for the job and adjust them as needed. By default, Scheduler jobs are configured to send an email to the user who executed the job when the job completes, regardless of the job status.
- 11. On the Job tab, click Save to save the job.
- 12. In the Axiom Explorer dialog, select a folder location in the Scheduler Jobs Library and define a name for the job, then click **Save**.

If the job settings included an active scheduling rule, this rule is evaluated when the job is saved and the next scheduled execution is added to the Scheduler job queue.

## Executing web report processing

Once you have set up a Scheduler job with a Web Report Processing task, you can execute the web report processing by executing the Scheduler job. Scheduler jobs can be executed on demand by using the **Run Once** feature within Scheduler, or you can schedule the job for future execution by defining and saving a scheduling rule in the job. Scheduler jobs can also be executed on demand using RunEvent, such as to kick off the Scheduler job from a custom task pane, Axiom form, or spreadsheet Axiom report.

When web report processing is executed, the following occurs:

- The list of multipass values to process is obtained using the Multipass Column limited by the Source Filter, sorted in the default or specified sort order.
- The specified report is processed once for each value in the multipass list.
  - ° The report data query is filtered by the current pass value and the report data is refreshed.
  - A PDF or Excel copy of the report is generated, depending on the specified Processing Type.
- If the File Generation is Multiple Output Files, then the output file for each pass is saved and/or emailed according to the task configuration.
- If the File Generation is Single Output File, then the result of each pass is saved in temporary storage and then merged into a single file once all passes are complete. This single file is then saved and/or emailed according to the task configuration.

Each pass of multipass processing can succeed or fail independently without affecting the other passes. For example, imagine the multipass list has 10 items. Pass 1 fails because the specified recipient column does not contain a valid email address, user name, or role for the pass 1 value. This pass-level failure does not stop passes 2-10 from being processed. The job status will report partial success in this case.

A Scheduler job can contain multiple Web Report Processing tasks, followed by a File Processing task to collect the various output files into "report books", and then save and/or deliver the collected books. For more information, see Setting up file collect with web report processing.

#### Using processing variables

The following processing variables can be used in various settings within the Web Report Processing task, in order to dynamically change the setting using information for the current pass.

Item	Description
[CURRENT_VALUE]	This variable returns the current multipass processing value. For example, if you are processing by Dept.Dept, and the current pass is for department 20000, the variable will be replaced by the value "20000" for this pass.
	This variable is typically used in settings such the file name, sheet name (when generating Excel output), and folder path.
[CURRENT_PASSNUMBER]	This variable returns the current pass number. For example, if the current pass is number 20 of 35 passes, the variable will be replaced by the value "20" for this pass.
[MULTIPASS_COLUMN]	This variable returns the name of the multipass column. For example, if you are processing by Dept.Dept, the variable will be replaced by the value "Dept" for all passes.
	This variable could be used whenever you want to reference the name of the dimension processed. For example, instead of just referencing the current value in the file name, you might want to reference the column name and the value. A variable construction like [MULTIPASS_COLUMN] [CURRENT_VALUE] would resolve to "Dept 20000" when processing by Dept.Dept and the current pass is for department 20000.

Processing variables can only be used in certain settings, and sometimes only when the output is multiple files (versus a single file). See the documentation for each individual setting to see if processing variables are supported in that setting.

**NOTE:** Processing variables and Scheduler variables use different syntax. Processing variables are enclosed in square brackets. Scheduler job variables are enclosed in curly brackets.

#### Using Scheduler job variables in task settings

Scheduler job variables can be used in any Web Report Processing task setting that you can directly type into, such as the file name, sheet name, folder path, and various email settings. To use a Scheduler job variable, you first define the variable on the **Variables** tab of the job, then you enter the variable in the desired setting using curly brackets. For example, if the variable name as defined on the Variables tab is columnname, then enter {columnname} in the task setting. When the job is executed, the variable in curly brackets will be replaced by the current value of the variable.

Scheduler job variables are useful when you want a task setting to change dynamically based on a variable value that gets passed to the Scheduler job. Various processes in Axiom can trigger a Scheduler job for execution and pass variable values to the job. Additionally, previous tasks in the job can set a variable value that is then passed to subsequent tasks in the job.

**NOTE:** Processing variables and Scheduler variables use different syntax. Processing variables are enclosed in square brackets. Scheduler job variables are enclosed in curly brackets.

#### Using Scheduler job variables to pass refresh variable values

If the web report uses refresh variables, Scheduler job variables can be used to pass variables to these variables. For example, in some cases the report may require certain refresh variables to be set before data can be queried. In this case, the Scheduler job must pass values for these required refresh variables. The refresh variables will be used to refresh data for each pass, in addition to the multipass filter for the current pass.

In order to pass a Scheduler job variable value to the report as a refresh variable value, special syntax is used for the job variable:

ReportVariable.VariableID

Where ReportVariable is a dedicated keyword that tells processing to apply the variable as a report parameter, and VariableID is the name of the specific report parameter.

For example, the report may contain a refresh variable that specifies the grouping level (row dimension) of the report. This refresh variable takes values such as Dept, WorldRegion, Country, and so on.

Refresh Variables	Ŧ
Choose Grouping Column	
Dept	~
Dept	<u>^</u>
Description	
WorldRegion	
Country	
Region	
Currency	
VP	-

Example refresh variable

In this example, the ID of this refresh variable is groupingColumnVar. Therefore to pass a value to this refresh variable, a Scheduler job variable named ReportVariable.groupingColumnVar can be used. This variable must be assigned a value that exactly corresponds to a value that can be selected for the refresh variable within the Refresh Variables panel.

🕼 Scheduled Jobs 🚺 New J	ob	
General Variables Scheduling Rules Event Handlers Notification Tasks Web Report Processing Results	Job values Variable Name ReportVariable.groupingColumnVar	Default Value Region

When this report is processed, the value for this refresh variable will be set to Region.

#### NOTES:

- The processing variable [Current\_Value] can be used as the variable value, if it will resolve to a valid value for the refresh variable. In this case, the value of the variable will change dynamically for each pass.
- Because the variable IDs are not exposed on the report, this feature is primarily useful for product developers to deliver a pre-configured Scheduler job with a product.

# Setting up file collect with web report processing

You can combine web report processing with the File Collect feature to create and deliver "report books". For example, you may have three different reports that you want to process by region, then you want to collect the output into region-specific report books to deliver to each regional manager.

This process works as follows:

- You set up multiple Web Report Processing tasks in Scheduler to process the web reports and save the output to a designated location. The output can be PDF or Excel.
- You set up File Collect in a separate spreadsheet utility to collect the output from the Web Report Processing tasks. This configuration specifies:
  - The type of files to collect, PDF or Excel.
  - ° The source folder(s) from which to gather the files to collect.
  - ° The file filter to specify the files to collect.
  - The file name of the output file, and the file type if applicable—PDF files can only be collected as PDF, but Excel files can be collected as either PDF or Excel.
  - The delivery method of the output file—save only, email only, or save and email—as well as the output folder and email settings (as applicable).
  - ° Optional common files to include in each output file, such as a cover page.
  - Optional multipass column to perform the file collect operation iteratively over a dimension

• You set up a File Processing task in Scheduler and configure it to run the File Collect report utility. Typically all of the tasks would be in a single Scheduler job, so that the Web Report Processing tasks are run first, then the File Processing task runs afterward to perform the final collect operation.

File Collect is an option of File Processing. It can be used to collect any PDF or Excel files, regardless of how they are generated. For more information on how to configure file collect, see the File Collect documentation.

The following example shows a Scheduler job with three Web Report Processing tasks and one File Processing task. The three Web Report Processing tasks are used to process three different web reports by region and then save the output files to a designated folder in the Axiom repository.

A Axiom Scheduler - Web Report Collect Example ? X									
Job Service									
New Open Save Close Run Job	Id Move Move Remove Clear								
Scheduled Jobs 🗋 Web Report Collect Exa	Scheduled Jobs 🗋 Web Report Collect Example								
General	Task Control								
Variables	Task Details								
Scheduling Rules Event Handlers W	Veb Report to Process: Report1.axwc Browse								
Notification Tasks Web Report Processing - Report 1 Web Report Processing - Report 2	Advanced Options								
Web Report Processing - Report 3 File Processing - File collect	Processing Type: Export to PDF	~							
Results	Save or Email Files: Save Files	~							
	File Generation: Multiple Output Files								
	File Name: [CURRENT_VALUE]_Report1								
	Export to PDF Settings     Output File Settings								
	<ul> <li>MultiPass Data Settings</li> </ul>								
	Multipass Column: DEPT.Region								
	Current Pass Header: Processed by [MULTIPASS_COLUMN] [CURRENT_VALUE]	1							
	Sort By:								
	Source Filter:	7							
	Preview	Multipass List							

Example Scheduler job with multiple Web Report Processing tasks

The File Processing task is used to run the File Collect report utility once all of the Web Report Processing tasks are completed. Note that the File Processing task simply points to the spreadsheet report that contains the File Collect configuration; the settings are not defined within the Scheduler job.

A Axiom Scheduler - Web Report Collect Example ? X							
Job Service							
	Add Move Move Remove Clear Up Down Selected All Tasks						
Scheduled Jobs	Example						
General	> Task Control						
Scheduling Rules Event Handlers Notification Tasks Web Report Processing - Report 1 Web Report Processing - Report 2 Web Report Processing - Report 3	Processing type. The conect	Override Override					
Sheets to Process:  FileCollect							
	MultiPass Settings						
	> MultiPass Data Settings						
	MultiPass Filter Settings     Preview MultiPass	tipass List					
Batch Variables:							
	This document does not specify any Batch Variables						

Example Scheduler job with File Processing task to run the File Collect operation

The following screenshot shows an example of how the File Collect settings could be configured within the spreadsheet report. The File Collect operation will be performed using multipass processing by region. The file filter will collect all files in the source folder location based on the current pass region name, then save and email the output file. The email address and file name settings use a formula with a GetCurrentValue function in order to dynamically set the email address and file name for each pass.

<	Axiom Assistant	A H	lome	test_drill	PDF File Collect Multip	ass Screenshot $\times$				
	File Processing Settings	T38 1 2 3	3	• B	с	DE		F	G	н
Explore	Processing Type: File Collect ~		1	FILE COLLEC	T CONFIGURATION					
Exp	Sheets to Process: FileCollect		8	Package name	(Optional)		Common Files		Report Book	
	Sheets to Process: PlieCollect		9	Active	(optional)		Common r nes		On	
SS			10	Source File Typ	e (Excel or PDF)				PDF	
Proce	MultiPass Settings Show Advanced View	-	14							
9	Source Column: DEPT.Region	· ·	13	Email Settings						
t	Preview Multipass List		14	Email to list Email CC list				added at the beginning	jdoe@mycompa	ny.com
sista			15 16	Email from				clude common files in ' is set to 'On'.	noreply@mycon	
Ass	Actions		16	Subject text			раскаде	'is set to 'On'.	Monthly Report	
heet	Refresh file lists in selected column(s)		1/	Body text						regional monthly report book
Sh			18	,					for June.	regional montally report book
ŧ	Refresh all file lists		19	Message priorit	y				Normal	
ista	Add additional package columns		20	Attach file to er					On	
Ass	Add new source folder section	II L ·	21	Attach each file	separately (don't combine	them into one)			Off	<-
nrce	_		22							
Data Source Assistant	Add new file collect sheet	· ·	23	Source Folder S						
Data	Process file		24	File source (Axi			Axiom Reposito		Axiom Repositor	
	Process file multipass		26	Source folder p	ath			Library\File Processir	g \Axiom\Reports	Library\File Processing
ons	Process file multipass		27	File filter list			*cover*			
cati			28	(Multipass only	) Filter template (e.g. {Dept	:.Dept}_*.xlsx)			*{Dept.Region}*	pdf<
otifi			30	Source folder p	ath					
z			31	File filter list						
Bu		IL	32	(Multipass only	) Filter template (e.g. {Dept	Dept}_*.xlsx)				
essi			33 34							
Proc		Γ.	34	Output File Set	(local file or Axiom)				Axiom Reposito	~
File Processing Notifications			36		e setting (Axiom files only)	- can be a static pur	ge date or number	of days	Axioin Repositor	y
-			37	Output folder p			- -		\Axiom\Reports	Library\Monthly Reports
			38	Remote Data Co	onnection Name					
			39		e (no extension)				Region_West_N	IonthlyReportPackage
			40	Output file type					.pdf	
		IГТ	41	Save or email g	enerated files				Save File and S	end Email
			42							
		Т.	43	File List Setting			-		-	
		-	44	Auto-generate i Continue On Er			On		On On	
			45		n files in package		On		On	
			40	include commo	in mes in puckage					
			48				File List		File List	
			49							
			50				\Axiom\Reports	Library\File Processir		Library\File Processing
			51				cover.pdf		West_Report1.pd	
			52						West_Report2.pd	
			53						West_Report3.pd	lf
			54						L	

Example File Collect configuration to collect the PDF output into a PDF report book

Α

# Reference

# Filter criteria syntax

Several areas of Axiom use criteria statements to define a set of data. The syntax for these criteria statement is as follows:

Table.Column='Value'

- *Table* is the name of the database table.
- *Column* is the name of the column in the database table.
- Value is the value in the column.

If the column is String, Date, or DateTime, the value must be placed in single quotation marks as shown above. If the column is Numeric, Integer (all types), Identity, or Boolean, then the quotation marks are omitted.

For example:

- To filter data by regions, the filter criteria statement might be: DEPT.Region='North'. This would limit data to only those departments that are assigned to region North in the Region column.
- To filter data by a single department, the filter criteria statement might be: DEPT.Dept=100. This would limit data to only department 100.

If the table portion of the syntax is omitted, then the table is assumed based on the current context. For example, if the filter is used in an Axiom query, then the primary table for the Axiom query is assumed. If the current context supports *column-only syntax*, and the specified column is a validated key column, then the lookup table is assumed.

#### Operators

The criteria statement operator can be one of the following: =, >,<,<>,<=,>=. For example: ACCT.Acct>1000

SQL IN, LIKE, and BETWEEN syntax can also be used. For example:

```
DEPT.Region IN ('North','South')
```

#### Compound criteria statements

You can use AND and OR to combine multiple criteria statements. If you are creating long compound criteria statements with multiple ANDs or ORs, you can use parentheses to group statements and eliminate ambiguity. For example:

```
(DEPT.Region='North' OR DEPT.Region='South') AND (ACCT.Acct=100 OR ACCT.Acct=200)
```

#### NOTES:

- When filtering on multiple values in the same column, you must use OR to join the statements, not AND. In the example above, if the statement was instead
   DEPT.Region='North' AND DEPT.Region='South', that statement would return no
   data because no single department belongs to both the North and South regions. When you
   use OR, the statement will return departments that belong to either the North or the South
   regions.
- Alternatively, you can use the SQL IN syntax to create a compound statement for values in the same column. For example, the statement DEPT.Region='North' OR
   DEPT.Region='South' can also be written as DEPT.Region IN ('North', 'South').
   The Filter Wizard uses IN syntax by default.

Using criteria statements in functions

If you are using a criteria statement in a function, such as GetData, you must place the entire criteria statement in double quotation marks. For example:

=GetData("Bud1", "DEPT.Region='North'", "GL1")

You can also place the criteria statement in a cell and then use a cell reference in the function. In this case, you do not need to use double quotation marks in the function, unless you are concatenating text and cell reference contents within the function.

Referencing blank values in filters

If a string column contains a blank value (an empty string), you may want to create a filter that includes or excludes records with these blank values. This empty string is indicated with empty quotation marks in the filter. For example: ACCT.CMAssign='' or ACCT.CMAssign<'''

If you use the Filter Wizard to construct the filter, it will automatically use the appropriate syntax.

If the blank value is actually a null instead of an empty string, the filter should use the syntax IS NULL or IS NOT NULL. String columns should not allow null values, but Date and DateTime columns often allow null values. For example: Project.StartDate IS NULL or Project.StartDate IS NOT NULL

#### Referencing values with apostrophes in filters

If a string column contains a value with an apostrophe (such as O'Connor), then that apostrophe must be escaped with another apostrophe so that it is not read as the closing apostrophe for the filter criteria statement. For example:

#### Dept.VP='O'Connor'

Invalid. This construction does not work because Axiom reads it as Dept.VP='O' and then does not know what to do with the rest of the text.

#### Dept.VP='0''Connor'

Valid. The extra apostrophe tells Axiom that the apostrophe is part of the string value and is not the closing apostrophe.

**NOTE:** This syntax must use two apostrophe characters in sequence and *not* a double quotation mark. If you create the filter using the Filter Wizard, Axiom will construct the appropriate syntax for you.

## Referencing Date or DateTime values in filters

If your locale uses a date format where the first value is the day, filters using that date or date-time value will not process correctly. Instead, the date or date-time value must be in standard format. Standard format is YYY-MM-DDTHH: MM: SS for DateTime and YYY-MM-DD for Date.

If you use the Filter Wizard to construct the filter, it will automatically convert the date or date-time value to the appropriate syntax.

# Validating filters

When you are entering a filter criteria statement into an Axiom dialog, you can validate the filter to ensure that it uses correct syntax.

Filter validation I is available in the various dialogs throughout the system, such as:

- Security Management
- Open Table in Spreadsheet
- GetData Function Wizard
- Copy Table Data

The validation feature only validates the filter syntax; it does not validate the logic of the filter or ensure that it will return the desired data. For example, it would detect if you misspelled a column name and allow you to correct it.

If the syntax is correct, the message "Filter is valid" appears in the dialog.

If the syntax has errors, the message "Filter is invalid" appears in the dialog. You can click this link to bring up a **Filter Error** message box that contains more information about the error. In the **Filter Error** message box, click **Show Details** to see the specific error message.

# Index

# А

ad hoc report writer 47

# С

calculated columns 65 column groups 73 column list report parameter 94 column value report parameter 105 compound criteria 261

# D

data context 52 date parts web reports 143 Dimension Mapping editor 211 directed drilling 135

# Е

emailing web reports 232 exporting data to a file from web reports 225, 228

## F

filter criteria syntax 261 Filter Wizard 216 web reports 170 fixed reports 188 fixed row structures 188 creating 188 deleting 188 dimension mapping 211 editing 188, 196 web reports, using in 61

# G

global filters 181 I Intelligence Center 2 actions 2 filtering 6 folders, managing 15 overview 6 reports creating 2 deleting 9 managing 9 opening 2 searching 6

# 0

operators 261

## Ρ

PDF web reports 220 plan file processes reporting web reports 161 primary table web reports 52

# R

Report Builder 47 report parameters 88 column list 94 column value 105 managing 90 row dimension 56 row editor 196

#### S

sharing web reports 232

#### W

Web Report Processing 236 web reports 18 calculated columns 65 column groups 73 column properties 123 creating from template 42 new reports 32 data columns 65 data context 52 data filters 82 database properties 78 date parts 143 dates, displaying 143 deleting 27 delimited file, exporting to 228 drilling 20 configuring 135 editing 27 Excel, exporting to 225 file collect 257 filtering column-level 123 column group-level 73 filter wizard 170 global filters 181 report-level 82 fixed row structures 188 using 61 global filters 181 grid properties 114 hyperlinks, showing in columns 151 opening 18 PDF, saving to 220 plan files, linking to 151 primary table 52 process columns, including 161 production reporting 236 Report Builder 47 report parameters 88 column list 94 managing 90 **Report parameters** column value 105 report properties 78, 82 row dimension 56 sharing via email 232 titles 78 viewing data 20